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NOTICE TO BIDDERS

Sealed bids for Janitorial Services for Municipal Buildings ("Contract”) will be received by the City of
Gahanna, Ohio ("Owner") until the closing date and time of 11:00 am, focal time, on Friday, November
15, 2019 at the office of the Director of Public Service and Engineering, 200 South Hamilton Road,
Gahanna, Chio 43230 or through the Owner’s electronic bidding system and will be publicly opened and
read immediately thereafter. Bids received after this time will not be accepted.

The Owner utilizes an online electronic bidding system through BidExpress as one option for bid
submission for projects and contracts that are subject to competitive bidding. Bidders new to the Owner's
electronic bidding system must first register on the BidExpress website (www.bidexpress.com) to create an
InfoTech Digital ID which is used to digitally sign bids. Registration is free. It can take up to five (5)
business days to process a Digital ID and it is highly recommended that a Digital ID be enabled 48 hours
in advance of submitting an electronic bid. Bidders must plan accordingly. For additional guidance
regarding the Owner’s electronic bidding system, bidders must contact BidExpress directly.

The work, in accordance with the Contract Documents and any addenda thereto, incdludes the furnishing
of all [abor, materials and appurtenances required for the janitorial services at five (5) municipal buildings
comptising approximately 50,764 square feet (appraximately 30,380 square feet is carpeting and 20,384
square feet is hard surface flooring). A mandatory pre-bid meeting will be held on Friday, November
8, 2019 at 10:00 am, focal time, for all bidders. The mandatory pre-bid meeting will consist of a guided
tour of the facilities by the Facilities Maintenance Coordinator. Bidders are to meet in the lobby of the
City of Gahanna City Hall, 200 South Hamilton Road, Gahanna, Ohio 43230, It is the responsibility of each
bidder to be familiar with the Supplemental Specifications of the Contract and bring their own copy with
them. No other pre-bid meetings or tours will be given. Bidders that attended the pre-bid meeting on
September 19, 2019 when the Contract was bid for the first time are not required to attend again and are
exempt from this requirement. Bids from any bidder absent at the mandatory pre-bid meeting heid on
either September 19, 2019 or November 8, 2019 will not be accepted.

A complete set of the Contract Documents is available for examination at the office of the Director of
Public Service and Engineering, 200 South Hamilten Road, Gahanna, Ohic 43230 during its normal
business hours. Copies may be obtained through the Owner's electronic bidding system or be purchased
directly from the Owner for a non-refundable fee of $25.00, payable to Owner,

All bids must be accompanied by a Bid Guaranty and Contract Bond for the full amount of the bid as
prescribed by Ohio Revised Code and described in the Information and Requirements for Bidders. If State
of Federal Labor Standards Provisions and State Wage Decisions are applicable to this Contract it wilt be a
part of the Contract Documents.

No bidder may withdraw its bid for a period of sixty (60} days after the actual bid closing date and time.
The Owner reserves the right to waive any informalities or irregularities, reject any, part of any or all bids,
conduct such investigation as necessary o determine the lowest and best bidder for the Contract and not
to award the Contract.

Subject to the right of the Owner to reject any, part of any or all bids and not to award the Contract, the
Owner will award the Contract to the bidder submitting the lowest and best bid. Direct questions about
the Contract to the City of Gahanna Department of Public Service and Engineering at 341-342-4005 or
through the Owner's electronic bidding system.
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Grant Crawford, Interim Director of Public Service and Engineeting

Advertise: October 24, 2019 and October 31, 2019
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INFORMATION AND REQUIREMENTS FOR BIDDERS

Each bidder shall be responsible for submitting its bid in accordance with the instructions in this
Information and Requirements for Bidders before the bid opening in the Notice to Bidders.

ELECTRONIC BIDDING SYSTEM. The Owner utilizes an online electronic bidding system through
BidExpress as one option of bid submission for projects and contracts that are subject to competitive
bidding. Bidders new to the Owner’s electronic bidding system must first register on the BidExpress
website {www.bidexpress.com) to create an InfoTech Digital ID which is used to digitally sign bids,
Registration is free. It can take up to five business days to process a Digital ID and it is highly
recommended that a Digital ID be enabled 48 hours in advance of submitting an electronic bid. Bidders
must plan accordingly. For additional guidance regarding the Owner's electronic bidding system, bidders
must contact BidExpress directly.

BIDDER’S PLEDGE AND AGREEMENT. Each bidder acknowledges that this is a public Contract involving
public funds and that the Owner expects and requires that each successful bidder adhere to the highest
ethical and performance standards. Each bidder by submitting a bid pledges and agrees that (a) it will act
at all times with absolute integrity and truthfulness in its dealings with the Owner, (b} it will use its best
efforts to cooperate with the Owner and at all times will act with professionalism and dignity in its
dealings with the Owner, (¢} it will assign only competent supervisors and workers to the Contract, each of
whom is fully qualified to perform the tasks that are assigned to him or her, and (d) it has read,
understands and will comply with the terms of the Contract Documents.

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. The Contract Documents consist of the following documents: Notice to
Bidders, Information and Requirements for Bidders, Supplemental Specifications, Prevailing Wage Rates (if
applicable), Contractor's Qualification Statement, Subcontractors List, Corporate Affidavit, Contractor's
Personal Property Tax Affidavit, Noncollusion Affidavit, Escrow Waiver, Bid Certification, Bid Guaranty and
Contract Bond (including Power of Attorney, Surety Financial Statement and Certificate of Compliance for
Ohio}, Bid Form, Clarifications (if issued), Addenda (if issued), Notice of Award, Notice of Award to Surety
and Surety's Agent, Owner-Contractor Agreement, Certificate of Insurance and State of Ohio Bureau of
Worker's Compensation Insurance Certificate.

A complete set of the Contract Documents is available for examination at the office of the Director of
Public Service and Engineering, 200 South Hamilton Road, Gahanna, Ohio 43230 during its normal
business hours. Copies may be obtained through the Owner’s electronic bidding system or be purchased
directly from the Owner for a non-refundable fee of $25.00, payable to Owner. Bidders shall use a
complete set of the Contract Documents in preparing bids.

The Owner does not assume any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of
an incomplete set of Contract Documents. The Owner, in making the Contract Documents available on
the above terms, does so only for the purpose of obtaining bids on the Contract and does not confer a
license or grant for any other use.

EXAMINATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. Each bidder shall have a competent person carefully and
diligently review each part of the Contract Documents and immediately bring to the attention of the
Owner any conflicts, inconsistencies, errors or omissions therein, In interpreting the Contract Documents,
words describing materials that have a well-known technical or trade meaning, unless otherwise
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specifically defined in the Contract Documents, shall be construed in accordance with the well-known
meaning recognized by the trade.

By submitting its bid, each bidder represents and agrees, based upon its careful and diligent review of the
Contract Documents, that it is not aware of any conflicts, inconsistencies, errors or omissions in the
Contract Documents for which it has not notified the Owner in writing or through the Owner’s electronic
bidding system at least five (5) business days prior to the bid opening. If there are any such conflicts,
inconsistencies, errors or omissions in the Contract Documents, the bidder (a) will provide the labor,
equipment or materials of the better quality or greater quantity of work and/or (b) will comply with the
more stringent requirements. The bidder will not be entitled to any additional compensation for any
conflicts, inconsistencies, errors or omissions that would have been discovered by such careful and
difigent review, unless it has given prior written notice to the Qwner. Furthermore, the bidder shalf not, at
any time after the execution of the Contract, be compensated for a claim alleging insufficient data,
incomplete Contract Documents or incorrectly assumed conditions regarding the nature or character of
the work, if no request was made by the bidder prior to the bid opening.

Each bidder shall have a competent person carefully and diligently inspect and examine the entire site for
the Contract and the surrounding area, including all parts of the site applicable to the work for which it is
submitting its bid, including location, condition and layout of the site, and carefully correlate the results of
the inspection with the requirements of the Contract Documents. The bidder agrees that its bid shall
include all costs attributable to site and surrounding area conditions that would have been discovered by
such careful and diligent inspection and examination of the site and the surrounding area, and the bidder
shall not be entitled to any change order, additional compensation or additional time on account of such
conditions that could not have been discovered by such an investigation,

Each bidder will be deemed to have actual knowledge of all information provided or discussed at any pre-
bid meeting.

ADDENDA. The Owner reserves the right to issue addenda changing, altering or supplementing the
Contract Documents prior to the time set for receiving bids. Addenda may be issued to darify bidders'
questions and/or to change, alter or supplement the Contract Documents. Any explanation,
interpretation, correction or madification of the Contract Documents will be issued in writing for paper
bids and through the Owner's electronic bidding system for electronic bids in the form of an addendum,
which shall be the only means considered binding; explanations, interpretations, etc., made by any other
means shall not be legally hinding. All addenda shall become a part of the Contract Documents.

If a bidder contemplating submitting a bid for the proposed Contract is in doubt as to the true meaning
of any part of the Cantract Documents, it may submit a written request for an interpretation thereof to the
Owner either directly or through the Owner's electronic bidding system. Bidders shall submit written
guestions to the Owner in sufficient time in advance of the bid opening to allow sufficient time for the
Owner to respond. The Owner shall in its sole discretion determine whether or not an addendum will be
issued.

All addenda will be issued, except as hereafter provided, and emailed (unless a different delivery method
is requested) for paper bids and delivered through the Owner's electronic bidding system for electronic
bids to all bidding plan holders, at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the published time for the bid
opening, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays. If any addendum is issued within such
seventy-two (72) hour period, then the time for opening of bids shall be extended one (1) week with no
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further advertising of bids required unless otherwise noted in the addendum. The Owner will not be
responsible for any other explanation: or interpretation of the Contract Documents.

Bidders are responsible for acknowledging issued addenda in time to incorporate them into their bid.
Bidders should contact the Owner prior to the bid opening set forth in the Notice to Bidders to verify the
number of addenda issued. If a bidder fails to submit all addenda for paper hids or fails ta confirm all
addenda through the Owner's electronic bidding system far electronic bids, the bid of such bidder will be
deemed to be responsive only if (a) The bid received clearly indicates that the bidder received the
addendum, such as where the addendum added another bid item to be bid upon and the bidder
submitted a bid on that item; or (b) The Addendum involves only a matter of form or is one which has
either no effect or has merely a trivial or negligible effect on price, quantity, quality or delivery of the item
bid upon.

PREPARATION OF BIDS. The following bid documents must be completed and submitted at the time of
the bid opening: Contractor's Qualification Statement, Subcontractors List, Corporate Affidavit,
Contractor’s Personal Property Tax Affidavit, Noncoltusion Affidavit, Escrow Waiver, Bid Guaranty and
Contract Bond (including Power of Attorney, Surety Financial Statement and Certificate of Compliance for
Ohio), Bidder Certification, Bid Form, Clarifications (if issued) and Addenda {if issued). Any change in the
warding or omission of specified accompanying documents may cause the bid to be rejected.

Where unit prices are requested in the Bid Form for the Contract on which the bidder submits a bid, the
bidder should quote a unit price. Unless otherwise expressly provided in the bid documents, such unit
prices shall include all [abor, materials and appurtenances required for the timely and proper installation
of the item or completion of services for which the unit prices are requested. The unit prices quoted in
the bid shall be the basis for any Change Orders entered into under the Owner-Contractor Agreement,
unless the Owner determines that the use of such unit prices will cause substantial inequity to either the
Contractor or the Owner.

The bidder shall take precautions to fill in all blank spaces, in ink, typewritten or electronically, in words
and/or figures. The wording on the Bid Form shall be used without change, alteration or addition, Unit
prices shall govern in the case of a discrepancy. Mathematical errors will be subject to correction, If there
is an inconsistency or conflict in the bid amount, the lowest amount shall control, whether expressed in
numbers or words.

If State Labor Standards Provisions and State Wage Decisions are applicable to the Contract as defined in
Section 4115.03 of the Ohio Revised Code, the bidder awarded the Contract and alf of its subcontractors,
regardless of tier, will strictly comply with its obligation to pay a rate of wages on the Contract not less
than the rate of wages fixed for the Contract under Section 4115.04 of the Ohio Revised Code.
Additionally, the bidder awarded the Contract and all of its subcontractors, regardless of tier, will comply
with all other provisions of Chapter 4115 of the Ohio Revised Code. Where Federal prevailing wage rates
apply the bidder awarded the Contract and all of its subcontractors, regardiess of tier, will strictly comply
with its obligation to pay a rate of wages on the Contract not less than the rate of wages fixed for the
Contract under the applicable federal law.

ALTERNATES. The Owner may request bids on alternates, If the Owner requests bids on alternates, the
bidder should include the cost of the alternates requested on its Bid Form. At the time of awarding the
contract, the Owner will select or reject alternates as it determines is in its best interest. A bidder's failure
to include on its Bid Farm the cost of an alternate selected by the Owner and applicable to the bidder's
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work shall render the bid non-responsive and be grounds for the rejection of the bid. Otherwise, the failure
to include the cost of an alternate will not be deemed material.

The bidder understands that the Owner may include alternates, which may include deduct alternates as
well as add alternates, to give it flexibility to the Contract with the funds available. The bidder further
understands and acknowledges that use of add and deduct alternates is a long held customary practice in
the industry in the State of Ohio. The bidder also acknowledges that the Owner will not make a decision
about the alternates on which to base the award of the Contract until the bids are received and the Owner
can compare its available funds with the base bids and the cost or savings from selecting different
alternates. The bidder understands that the award to the bidder submitting the lowest and best bid will
be based on the lowest base bid plus selected alternates, and may resultin an award to a bidder other
than the bidder that submitted the lowest base bid,

If, during the progress of the work, the Owner desires to reinstate any alternate not included in the
Contract, the Owner reserves the right to reinstate the alternate at the price bid by the Contractor
provided that such action is taken in sufficient time so as not to delay the progress of the work or cause
the Contractor additional expense.

BONDS AND GUARANTEES. The bidder shall furnish a Bid Guaranty as prescribed by Ohio Revised
Code, in the form of a bond in the name of or payable to the order of the Owner for the full amount of
the bid, and submit the Bid Guaranty and Contract Bond farm inchided in the Contract Documents. The
full amount of the bid shall be the total of all sums bid, including all add alternates with no deduction for
any deduct alternates. AIA Bid Bond forms are not acceptable. Alternate bid guaranty forms are not
acceptable.

The amount on the Bid Guaranty and Contract Bond form may be left blank indicating it is for the full
amount of the bid. If an amount is inserted, it must equal the total of the base bid and all add alternates
included. If an amount is inserted, the faiture to state an amount equal to or greater than the total of the
base bid and all add alternates that are accepted shall make the bid non-responsive. In addition, failure
to include scope of work in the correct space on the Bid Guaranty and Contract Bond form may make the
bid non-responsive.

The bond must be issued by a surety company ("Surety”} autharized by the Ohio Department of Insurance
to transact business in the State of Ohio and acceptable to the Owner. The bond must be issued by a
Surety capable of demonstrating a record of competent underwriting, efficient management, adequate
reserves and sound investments. These criteria will be deemed to be met if the Surety currently has an
AM Best Campany Policyhalders Rating of "A-" or better and has or exceeds the Best Financial Size
Category of Class V. Other Sureties may be acceptable to the Owner, in its sofe discretion.

Alf bonds shall be signed by an authorized agent of an acceptable Surety and by the bidder, The name,
address, telephone number and fax number of the Surety and the Surety's Agent should be typed or
printed on each bond. Surety bonds shall be supporied by credentials showing the Power of Attorney of
the agent, a certificate showing the legal right of the Surety to do business in the State of Qhic and a
financial statement of the Surety. Failure to include the Bid Guaranty in such form may make the bid non-
responsive.

SUBMITTAL AND OPENING OF BIDS. Sealed bids for the Contract will be received by the Owner until
the bid opening set forth in the Notice to Bidders at the office of the Director of Public Service and
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Engineering, 200 South Hamilton Road, Gahanna, Ohio 43230 or through the Owner's electronic bidding
system and will be publicly opened and read immediately thereafter, Bids received after this time will not
be accepted.

If a bidder is submitting a paper bid, the bid must be enclosed and delivered in a sealed opaque envelope
addressed to the Director of Public Service and Engineering, 200 South Hamilton Road, Gahanna, Ohio
43230 with the bidder’s name, bidder's address and title of the Contract plainly printed in the upper left
hand cornet. If a bidder is using a third party (e.g. Federal Express) to deliver its bid, the sealed opaque
envelope, with the previously defined notation pravisions, containing the bid must be enclosed in the
third party’s packing envelope plainly marked with the notation ‘Bid Enclosed — Daliver Immaediately’
along with the title of the Contract.

If a bidder is submitting an etectronic bid via the Owner’s electronic bidding system, the bid must be
submitted via Bid Express at www.bidexpress.com. Vendors new to the City's elecironic bidding system
will need to register with Bid Express and create an account.

The date and time for the opening of bids shall be extended one (1) week if any addenda is issued within
a seventy-two (72) hour period prior fo the bid opening set for in the Natice to Bidders, excluding
Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, with no further advertising of bids required unless otherwise noted
in the addendum. It is the sole responsibility of the bidder to ensure that their bid is received in the
proper time befare the hid opening.

WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS. A bidder may withdraw its bid at any time for any reason prior to the bid
opening set forth in the Notice to Bidders. The request to withdraw shall be made in writing to and
received by the Owner prior to the bid apening. No bidder may withdraw its bid for a period of sixty (60)
days after the bid opening. All bids shall remain valid and open for acceptance for a period of at least
sixty (60} days after the bid opening; provided, however, that a bidder may withdraw its bid from
consideration after the bid opening when all of the following apply:

(&) The price bid was substantially lower than the other bids,

(b} The reason for the bid being substantially lower was a clerical mistake, rather than a mistake in
judgment, and was due to an unintentional and substantial error in arithmetic or an unintentional
omission of a substantial quantity of work, fabor or material.

{<) The bid was submitted in good faith.

{d) The bidder provides written notice to the Owner within two {2) business days after the bid opening for
which the right to withdraw is claimed,

if a bid is withdrawn under this provision, the Owner may award the Contract to another bidder
determined by the Owner to be the lowest and best bidder or the Owner may reject all bids and advertise
for other bhids. In the event the Owner advertises for other bids, the withdrawing bidder shall pay the
costs incurred in connection with the rebidding by the Owner, including the cost of printing new Contract
Documents, required advertising and printing and mailing notices to prospective bidders, if the Owner
finds that such costs would not have been incurred but for such withdrawal,
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METHOD OF AWARD. All bids shall remain valid and open for acceptance for a period of at least sixty
(60) days after the bid opening, but the Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any bid and return the
Bid Guaranty prior to that date. The Bid Guaranty shall be subject to forfeiture, as provided in the Ohio
Revised Code, if a bid is withdrawn during the period when bids are being held.

The Owner reserves the right to waive any informalities or irregularities, reject any, part of any or all bids,
conduct such investigation as necessary to determine the lowest and best bidder for the Contract and not
to award the Contract. The bidder expressly acknowledges this right of the Owner to reject any, part of
any or all bids or to reject any incomplete or irregutar bid. In addition, the Owner reserves the right to
disqualify bids, before or after opening, upon evidence of collusion with intent to defraud or other illegal
practices on the part of the bidder.

Subject to the right of the Owner to reject any, part of any or all bids and not to award the contract, the
Owner will award the Contract to the bidder submitting the lowest and best bid. The factors the Owner
may consider in determining the lowest and best bid include the factors set forth below. The Owner, in its
sole discretion, may consider and give such weight to these criteria as it deems appropriate.

{a) The bidder's work history. The bidder should have a record of consistent customer satisfaction and of
consistent completion of contracts, including contracts that are comparable to or larger and more
complex than the Owner's Contract. If the bidder's management operates or has operated another
company, the Owner may consider the work history of that company in determining whether the bidder
submitted the lowest and best bic.

The Owner may consider the bidder's prior experience on other contracts with the Ownar, including the
bidder's demaonstrated ability to complete its work on these contracts in accordance with the Contract
Documents and expeditiously, and will also consider its ability to work with the Owner as a willing,
cooperative and successful team member.

The bidder authorizes the Owner and its representatives to contact the owners on cantracts on which the
bidder has worked and authorizes and requests such owners to provide the Qwner with a candid
evaluation of the bidder's performance. By submitting its bid, the bidder agrees that if it or any person,
directly or indirectly, on its behalf or for its benefit brings an action against any of such owners or the
employees of any of them as a result of or related to such candid evaluation, the bidder will indemnify
and hold harmiless such owners and the employees of any of them from any claims whether ar not proven
that are part of or are related to such action and from all legal fees and expenses incurred by any of them
arising out of or related to such legal action. This cbligation is expressly intended for the benefit of such
owners and the employees of each of them.

(b) The bidder's financial ability to complete the Contract successfully and expeditiously without resort to
its Surety,

() The bidder's prior experience with similar work on comparabile or more complex contracts or projects.

(d) The bidder's prior history for the successful and timely completion of contracts, incduding the bidder's
history of filing and having claims filed against it.

{e) The bidder's equipment and facilities.
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(fy The adequacy, in numbers and experience, of the bidder's work force to complete the Contract
successfully.

{g) The bidder's compliance with federal, state and local laws, rufes and regulations, including but not
limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Ohio Prevailing Wage laws and Ohio ethics laws,

{h) The foregoing information with respect to each of the subcontractors and suppliers that the bidder
intends to use on the Contract.

(i) The bidder's participation in a drug-free workplace program acceptable to the Owner, and the bidder’s
record for both resolved and unresolved findings of the Auditor of State for recovery as defined in Section
9.24 of the Chio Revised Code. By submitting its bid, the bidder certifies for reliance of the Owner that it
has no unresclved finding for recovery against it issued by the Auditor of the State of Ohio on or after
January 1, 2001, except as permitted by Section 9.24 (F) of the Ohio Revised Code.

(i) The Owner's prior experience with the bidder's Surety.

(k) The bidder's interest in the Contract as evidenced by its attendance at any pre-bid meetings or
conferences for bidders,

() The bidder's ability to self-perfarm the work on the Contract with the bidder's own forces.

{m) Depending upon the type of the work, other essential factors, as the Owner may determine and as are
included in the Supplemental Specifications.

By submitting its bid, the bidder agrees that the Owner's determination of which bidder is the lowest and
best bidder shall be final and conclusive, and that if the bidder or any person or association on its behalf
challenges such determination in any legal proceeding, the bidder shall indemnify and hold the Owner
and its employees and agents harmless from any claims included in or related to such legal proceeding,
whether or not proven, and from legal fees and expenses incurred by the Owner, its employees or agents
that arise out of or are related to such challenge.

The award of the Contract, when required, will anly be made pursuant to a duly adopted resolution of the
Owner. Failure to award and execute the contract by the City within sixty (60} days after the bid opening
invalidates the entire bid proceedings and all bids submitted, unless the time for awarding and executing
the contract is extended by mutual consent by written agreement between the City or its representatives
and the bidder whase hid the City accepts, and with respect to whom the City subsequently awards and
executes a contract.

EXECUTION OF CONTRACT. Within 10 days after award of the Contract, the successful Bidder shall
execute and deliver to the Owner the Owner-Contractor Agreement, in the form included in the Contract
Bocuments, and all accompanying documents requested, including, but not limited to, a Contract Bond (if
applicabte), Certificate of Insurance and a valid State of Ohio Bureau of Worker's Compensation Insurance
Certificate. The award of the Contract notwithstanding, the successful bidder shall have no property
interest or rights under the Owner-Contractor Agreement until such time as the Owner-Contractor
Agreement is executed by the successful bidder and the Owner.
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STATE SALES AND USE TAXES. The Owner is a political subdivision of the State of Ohio and is exempt
from taxation under the Ohio Sales Tax and Use Tax Laws. Building materials that the successful bidder
purchases for incorporation into the Contract will be exempt from state sales and use taxes if the
successful bidder provides a properly completed Ohio Department of Taxation Construction Contract
Exemption Certificate to the vendors or suppliers when the materials are acquired. The Owner will
execute properly completed certificates on request.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS. By submitting a bid for the Contract, the bidder acknowledges
that it is in compliance with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, but not
limited to, the following:

(a) Equal Employment Opportunity/Nondiscrimination. The bidder agrees that if it is awarded the
Contract that in the hiring of emplayees for performance of work under the Contract or any subcontract,
neither it nor any subcontractor, or any person acting on its behalf or its subcontractor's behalf, by reason
of race, creed, sex, disability as defined in Section 4112.01 of the Chio Revised Code or color, shall
discriminate against any citizen of the state in the employment of labor or workers who are qualified and
available to perform worlc to which the employment relates. The bidder further agrees that neither it nor
any subcontractor, or any person acting on its behalf or its subcontractor’s behalf, in any manner, shall
discriminate against or intimidate any employees hired for the performance of the work under the
Contract on account of race, creed, sex, disability as defined in Section 411201 of the Ohio Revised Code
or color.

{b) Ethics Laws. The bidder represents that it is familiar with all applicable ethics law requirements,

including withoui limitation Sections 102.04 and 3517.13 of the Ohio Revised Cade, and ceriifies that it is
in compliance with such requirements.
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SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS

The Suppiementary Specifications included herein are specifically applicable to this Contract, previous
customs or practices to the contrary notwithstanding. If there are any conflicts, inconsistencies, errars or
omissions between the Supplementat Specifications and other specifications contained within the
Contract Documents, the Contractor (a) will provide the fabor, equipment or materials of the better quality
or greater quantity of work and/or (b} will comply with the more stringent requirements.

DEFINITIONS. Whenever the "Owner” is used or implied in these Supplementary Specifications
("Specifications,”) it shall refer to the City of Gahanna, Ohio (the "City"). Whenever the word “Coundil” is
used or implied in these Specifications, it shall refer to the Council of the City. Whenever the word
“Director” is used or implied in these Specifications, it shall refer to the Director of Public Service and
Engineering of the City, or his or her authorized assistants, acting within the scope of the duties assigned
to them. Whenever the word "Contractor” is used or implied in these Specifications, it shali refer to the
Contractor, Partnership or firm of Contractors or its or their agent or agents, including Subcontractors,
acting on its or their behalf, undertaking the Contract under these Specifications.

CONTRACT TERM. The term of the Contract shall be for three (3) years, commencing January 1, 2020
and ending December 31, 2022 with the provision for two (2) separate renewals of one (1) year each upon
written mutual agreement of both parties.

WORK TO BE COMPLETE. The intent of these Specifications is to provide for the work herein outlined to
be full and complete in every detail for the purposes designated, and the Contractor hereby agrees to
furnish everything necessary for such work, notwithstanding any omissions or errors in the Contract
Documents,

SCOPE OF WORK. The Contractor shall be responsible for the regular janitorial services listed below at
five (5) municipal buildings as detailed in each bid item. The Contractor is required to staff personnel
accordingly in arder to perform all work set forth in the frequency and timeframe designated below, The
Owner reserves the right to modify work based on facility attendance/usage and to change cleaning times
at their discretion.

(a) Nightly Tasks
¢ Empty trash and recyding receptacles and take items to dumpsters/coliection point
o (lean and sanitize trash and recyding receptacles as necessary
Refill paper towel, toilet paper and soap dispensers as necessary
s Disinfect inside and outside of toilets and urinals {including handles and both sides of toilet seats)
« Empty feminine product receptacles, clean and disinfect and then insert new wax liner as necessary
Clean and disinfect all changing tables and restock bed liners
Clean and polish mirrors and glass doors or partitions
Clean and sanitize all horizontal surfaces (desks, tables and countertops)
Clean and sanitize door handles, push bars and handicap buttons
= Vacuum carpeting including corners, edges and beneath furniture and desks
» Spot clean carpeting as necessary
s Vacuum mats
» Dry sweep and then mop tile and non-carpeted floors with soap and water {mop water must be
emptied immediately afterward)
« Ensure alt ights are off (if area not in use)
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(b) Weekly Tasks

» Dry sweep and then mop chair mats with soap and water (mop water must be emptied immediately
afterward)

+ Dry sweep and then mop exercise mats in the workout gym with soap and water (mop water must
be emptied immediately afterward) — only applies to the Police Station

» Scrub and disinfect sinks, backsplashes and drinking fountains

e Scrub and disinfect showers {including floor, walls, partitions, curtains, ledges, etc) — only applies to
City Hall basement and Police Station locker rooms

» Clean and sanitize outside of paper towel, toilet paper and soap dispensers as necessary

» Clean and sanitize outside of lockers — only applies to Police Station locker rooms

¢ Clean and sanitize outside of refrigerators and microwaves

» Clean and sanitize front of vending machines

{c) Monthly Tasks (to be performed during the second week of each month)
e Replace urinal screens as necessary
Clean and sanitize restroom stall partitions
Remaove cob webhs
Dust window blinds, window sills, ledges, office partitions and frames
Spot clean wall papered walls of dirt, smudges and stains
Dust and then dean and sanitize all surfaces of exercise equipment in the workout gym - only
applies to the Police Station

{d} Quartertly Tasks (to be performed during the third week of March, June, September and December)
s Clean and wash baseboards
o Buff resiient tile
¢ Machine scrub ceramic tile

(e) Yearly Tasks (to be performed during the month of July)
« Chemical strip and refinish resilient tile

The Contractor's employees will be working around City staff and the public on various occasions and
thus shall be professional and work discretely without causing disturbances or interrupting events (public
meetings, classes, etc). During such instances, work shall be done in other areas for the duration of the
event and then returned to afterwards. After reasonable attempts, if the event is still ongoing, then that
particular area may be skipped and taken care of during the next scheduled cieaning time.

The Contractor, or authorized representative, shall meet with the Owner once each catendar month to
inspect and review the services provided. The Owner reserves the right to change the meeting frequency
as necessary according to the Owner's needs.

BID ITEM 1: CITY HALL. This municipal building is located at 200 South Hamilton Road and consists of
approximately 32,000 square feet. Specifically, 24,500 square feet is carpeting and 7,500 square feet is
hard surface flooring. All nightly tasks are to be performed five (5) nights a week (Monday — Friday) after
all evening events have concluded. Due to Ohio law regarding Law Enforcement Automated Data
Systems (LEADS) compliance, the Court area within City Hall must be cleaned while City employees are
present. Therefore, the scope of work for this small area (less than 400 square feet) will only be
performed two (2) nights a week (Tuesdays and Fridays) from 4:00 pm - 5:00 pm.
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BID ITEM 2: POLICE STATION. This municipal building is located at 460 Rocky Fork Blvd and consists of
approximately 11,760 square feet. Specifically, 5130 square feet is carpeting and 6,630 square feet is hard
surface flooring. All nightly tasks are to be performed five (5) nights a week (Monday — Friday) after 5:00
pm, local time.

BID ITEM 3: SENIOR CENTER. This municipal building is located at 480 Rocky Fork Bivd and consists of
approximately 4,200 square feet. Specifically, 750 square feet is carpeting and 3,450 square feet is hard
surface flooring. All nightly tasks are to be performed five (5) nights a week (Monday - Friday) after all
evening events have concluded.

BID ITEM 4: OKLAHOMA AVE SERVICE COMPLEX. This municipal building is located at 352 Oklahoma
Ave and consists of approximately 1,484 square feet. Specifically, all 1,484 square feet is hard surface
flooring. All nightly tasks are to be performed five {5) nights a week (Monday — Friday) after 4:00 pm, focal
time,

BID ITEM 5: FLEET GARAGE. This municipal building is located at 780 Science Blvd and consists of
approximately 1,320 square feet. Specifically, all 1,320 square feet is hard surface flooring. All nightly
tasks are to be performed two (2) nights a week {Tuesday and Friday) after 4:00 pm, local time.

MANDATORY PRE-BID MEETING. A mandatory pre-bid meeting will be held on Friday, November 8,
2019 at 10:00 am, local time, for all bidders. The mandatory pre-bid meeting will consist of a guided tour
of the facilities by the Facilities Maintenance Coordinator. Bidders are to meet in the lobby of the City of
Gahanna City Hall, 200 South Hamilton Road, Gahanna, Ohio 43230. k is the responsibility of each bidder
to be familiar with the Supplemental Specifications and bring their own copy with them. No other pre-bid
meetings or tours will be given. Bidders that attended the pre-bid meeting on September 19, 2019 when
this contract was bid for the first time are not required to attend again and are exempt from this
requirement. Bids from any bidder absent at the mandatory pre-bid meeting on either September
19, 2019 or November 8, 2019 will not be accepted.

BID FORM. The unit price within the Bid Form shall be based on a monthly rate. The quantity within the
Bid Form will be set to twelve (12). The unit within the Bid Form will be set to months. Bids shalt include
the cost of all labor, uniforms, personal safety equipment as deemed necessary to protect the health and
welfare of the Contractor's employees and all other expenses required to complete the work set forth in
these Specifications. For purposes of calculating the bid guaranty, the bid total is defined as the total cost
of the services to be provided under the Contract each year.

HOLIDAYS. Services shall be performed as scheduled with the exception of the following holidays: New
Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Memarial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans Day,
Thanksgiving Day, day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and Christmas Day.

SUPPLIES. The Owner will provide the following janitorial supplies: paper towels, toilet paper, trash
receptacle liners (15, 33 and 60 gallon), hand soap, urinal screens, toilet seat covers, toilet seat cover
dispensers, baby changing liners and feminine products receptacle liners. The janitorial supplies will be
stored in a locked utility room located on the first floor of City Hail. it is the Contractor’s responsibility to
keep this area clean, neat and orderly. It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to inform the Department
of Public Service and Engineering when supply levels are becoming low.
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It is the Contractor's responsibility to furnish all other janitorial supplies along with personal safety
supplies inchuded but not limited to gloves, goggles, aprons, respirators, etc as deemed necessary to
protect the health and welfare of the Contractor's employees. Mop heads are required to be replaced on
a regular basis. The Contractor shall cansistently supply a disinfectant cleaner that is suitabte for
potentially infectious material. '

PERSONNEL. The Contractor must provide and maintain in full operation at all times during the term of
the Contract all personnel to perform the work required by the Contract, All personnel must be abie to
perform all work listed in these Specifications. The Contractor must supply a list of employees assigned to
the Contract to the Cwner.

Any employee that will be working physically in any municipal building must undergo a BFBI Webcheck
and FBI Webcheck performed by the Ohio Attorney General’s Office Bureau of Criminal Identification and
Investigation at the Contractor’s expense and at the facility of their choosing. The Contactor must submit
the paperwork for each background check to the Owner for review. The Owner reserves the right for final
determination of an acceptable criminal record or to reject any of the Contractor's personnel that do not
meet the standards of the Owner in these regards.

Uniforms must also be worn at all times with the individual's name and company identification in full view.
The Contractor's personnef are prohibited from letting unauthorized persons into the buildings. Any
personal use of City equipment and property is prohibited. City telephones are only for emergency
purpases. Smoking, consumption of alcohol, drug use or reporting to work while under the influence is
prohibited on City property.

The Contractor is required to notify the Owner of any change in operations relating to the Contract {(new
personnel, wark schedules, etc). A strike shall not relieve the Contractor from any abligations stated in
this Contract. If an employee who is scheduled to work is not available, the Contractor is required to send
another approved employee.

CONTRACTOR ID BADGES AND KEY CARD ACCESS. The Owner shall provide each of the Contractor's
emplayees assigned to the Contract with a contractor ID badge that will grant key card access to alf
necessary areas of each building. If an area is not equipped with key card access, the Owner will supply
the necessary keys. Duplication of badges or keys is strictly prohibited.

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT. The Contractor must provide and maintain in full operation at all times
during the term of the Contract all vehicles and equipment to perform the work required by the Contract.
Each vehicle must have the Contractor's name dearly visible. The Owner reserves the right to inspect the
Contractor's vehicles and equipment at any time during the term of the Contract. The Contractor must
obtain permission from the Owner before stock piling any equipment or material on public property.

LICENSING OF CORPORATIONS. The Contractor shall abide by the statutory requirements of the State
of Ohio relative to Licensing of Corporations organized under the laws of any other state.

LICENSES. The Contractor shall procure at its own expense and maintain in full force and effect during

the life of the Contract, all licenses required by the city, state and federal governments relative to the
performance of the terms and conditions set forth herein,
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PERMITS, LAWS AND REGULATIONS. The Contractor shall keep fully informed of all existing and future
ordinances or resolutions of the Owner, and of all muricipal, state and national laws in any manner
affecting the work herein specified and shall at all times comply with such resciutions or ordinances and
laws. The Contractor shall take out all permits legally required at its own expense, and shall pay all fees
and charges incident to prosecution and completion of the work.

WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE. The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of
the Contract, adeguate workers’ compensation insurance for all its employees employed at the work site.
The Contractar shall require any Subcontractor similarly to provide workers’ compensation insurance to
the latter's employees, unless such employees are covered by the Contractor. In case any dass of
employees engaged in hazardous work under the Contract at the work site is not protected under the
workers’ compensation statute, the Contractor and Subcontractor shall provide suitable insurance for the
protection af its employees not otherwise protected. The Contractor is required to submit a Workers’
Compensation Certificate signed by the Ohio Industrial Commission to the Owner, showing that the
Contractor has paid its industrial insurance premium up award.

LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIRED. The Contractor shall furnish proof to the Qwner of public liability
insurance. The amount of such public liability insurance shall be adequate to provide full coverage for any
one occurrence of not of not less than $1,000,000 for personal injury to any one persan and a total of not
less than $1,000,000 for personal injury to all persons involved. The amount of such property damage
insurance shall be adequate to provide full coverage for any one occurrence of not less than $1,000,000
and a total of not less than $1,000,000 for all occurrences.

Umbrella excess liability insurance to extend existing policies to the required limits shall be accepted. The
City of Gahanna shall also be named as an additional insured. The certificate shall contain a provision that
coverage afforded under the policy will nat be canceled unless at least thirty {30} days prior written notice
has been given to the Owner.

SAFETY REQUIREMENTS. The Contractor shali comply with all current federal laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act during the conduct and performance
of work under the Contract. All federal OSHA standards must be enforced by the Contractor. The
Contractor shall be solely respansible for all federal, state and local safety requirements, together with
exercising precautions at all times for the protection of persons {including employees) and property. It is
also the sole responsibility of the Contractor to initiate, maintain and supervise all safety requirements,
precautions and programs in connection with the Contract.

WORKMANSHIP. All work performed by the Contractor, or any of their agents or employees, in
connection with the Contract shall be done in a competent, professional and courteous manner, The
Director shall inspect any and all work to ensure that all materials used and work performed shall be
strictly in accordance with the Contract Documents, The inspection of the work shall not relieve the
Contractor from any of the obligations under the Contract Documents and defective work shall be made
good. The Contractor shall correct any complaints within twenty-four (24) hours from the time the
complaint was received.

DAMAGE TO PROPERTY. All damage caused by the carrying out the work under the Contrac, to any
public or private property of any nature whatsoever, whether above or under the ground, shall be made
good to the satisfaction of the Owner of the same, at the expense of the Contractor. Any and all damage
must be reported to the Owner immediately.
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HAZARDOUS CONDITIONS. Conditions that may present a safety or building hazard (roof leaks, alarms,
smoke odors, overflows, etc) must be reported immediately in person or by phone to the police dispatch
non-emergency number, 614-342-4240.

CITY INCOME TAX TO BE WITHHELD. The Contractor shall withhold alf city income tax due or payable
under the provisions of Chapter 161 of the Cadified Ordinances of Gahanna (as amended) for wages,
salaries and commission paid to its employees and further agrees that any of its Subcontractors shall be
required to agree to withhold any such city income tax due under said Ordinance for services performed
under the Contract. In order to comply with this section and to avoid delay in receiving payment for work
performed under the Contract, it will be necessary that said Contractor complete and file an Income Tax
Business Registration form, if it is not already registered with the City of Gahanna Department of Finance.

PAYMENT FOR SERVICES. The Owner agrees to pay the Contractor for services rendered and deemed
satisfactory under the Contract once each month, following receipt of an itemized invoice. All invoices
should be sent to: Department of Public Service and Engineering, City of Gahanna, 200 S Hamitton Rd,
Gahanna, OH 43230. Payment for the full amount of the itemized invoice will be withheld if any services
have been deemed unsatisfactory by the Owner until all issues are resolved and all services are deemed
satisfactory by the Owner. Once all services are deemed satisfactory by the Owner, the Owner agrees to
pay the Contractor the amount due within thirty (30) days from the date all services are deemed
satisfactory.

NON-APPROPRIATION CLAUSE. In the event funds for the Contract are not appropriated by the
Council, then the Owner-Contractor Agreement wiil automatically be cancelled without recourse to the
Owner.

AUTHORITY OF DIRECTOR. The Director shall have full power and authority to do any or all of the
following things:

(a) Interpret Specifications, etc. To interpret the meaning of specifications when necessary and to decide
all questions that may arise relative to the fulfillment of the abligations under the Contract Documents.

(b) Judge of Quality. To be the sole judge of the quality and fitness of all material and workmanship; to
supervise all tests; to inspect all work and material; and to condemn any work or material which, in his or
her judgment, does not fully conform to the Specifications.

(c) Power to Condemn. To condemn faulty work or material at any time prior to the acceptance of the
work, notwithstanding that it may have been previously overlooked or may have become damaged after
previous inspection, even though it may have been estimated or paid for. Any condemned work shall be
promptly resolved by the Contractor without payment and any condemned material shall be removed
from the premise by the Contractor and not returned to any part of the work.

(d) Precautions Against Damage. To require additional precautions against damage to the work or any
public or private property. This power shall not, however, relieve the Contractor of any responsibility for

providing proper safe guards, or for any such damage or accident.

(e) Extra Work. To sign and give orders for extra work, pursuant to the Contract Documents.
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{f} Remove Employees. To order the Contractor to remove from the Contract any employee who is
disorderly or disrespectful or who persistently does careless or unsatisfactory work.

() Reject Work. To reject work if any provision of the Contract Documents or Specifications is being
violated.

{h} Assistants. Ta deputize assistants and inspectors to act for him or her in any of his or her powers and
duties and such assistants and inspectors shall exercise all powers of the Director within the fimits of the
specific authority given by him or her 1o each,

{i) Amount and Quality. To determine the amount and quality of the several kinds of work which are to
paid for thereunder, induding extra wori.

(j) Viclation of Contract. To notify the Contractor and/or Owner in writing of any violation of the Contract.

(k) Extension of Time. To determine the proper length of any extension of time provided for under the
Contract Documents.

() Defective Work. On the basis of on-site observations, shall endeavor to guard the Owner against
apparent defects and deficiencies in the work by the Contractor; but does not guaranty the performance
of the Contractor and is not responsible for work means, methods, technigues, sequence or procedures,
time of perfarmance, programs, or for any safety precautions in connection with the work. The Director is
not responsible for the Contractor's failure to execute the work in accordance with the Contract
Documents and shall not be responsible for defects of omissions in the work result of the Contractor's
employees or that of any other person and entities responsible for performing any of the wark result as
cantained in the Contract Documents,

DIRECTOR TO GIVE INSTRUCTIONS. It is mutually agreed that wherever in the Contract Documents the
words "as directed”, "as required”, “permitted”, “approval”, “suitable”, "ordered”, "proper”, “satisfactory” or
words of similar import are used, they shall be understood to refer to the instructions and judgment of

the Director as applied to each pariicular case.

INDEMNIFICATION. To the fullest extent permitted by laws and regulations, and in addition to any other
obligations of the Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold
harmless the Owner and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses and damages, including
but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other prafessionals and all
court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs, arising out of or relating to the performance of the
Contract, but only to the extent caused by any breach of contract, negligent act or omission of the
Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by
any of them to perform any of the work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.

In any and all claims against the Owner or any of its officers, directors, members, partners, employees,
agents, consultants or subcontractors by any employee, or the survivor or personal representative of such
employee, of the Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or
indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the work or anyone for whose acts any of them
may be liable, the indemnification abligation shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the
amount or type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any such
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Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit
acts or other employee benefit acts.

The Contractor shall defend, at their own cost and expense, each and every suit or action brought against
the Owner and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and
subcontractors of each and any of them by reason thereof, until the Contract has been completed.

TERMINATION OF CONTRACT. The Owner, at their sole discretion, may at any time declare the
Contract, or any portion thereof, terminated due to any of the following circumstances:

(a) If the work to be done under the Contract shall be abandoned by the Contractor, or if the Contract
shall be assigned or the work under the Contract sublet by the Contractor, otherwise than herein
specified;

(b} or if before the completion of the work under the Contract, the Contractor shall become financially
unable to meet their current obligations or shall become bankrupt or shall make a general assignment for
the benefit of the creditors or shall have a receiver appointed for them or to take charge of their affairs or
shall have their property levied upor or taken in execution or under attachment;

(c) or if, at any time, the Owner shall be in the opinion that the performance of the Contract is
unnecessarily or unreasonably detayed or that the Contractor is violating any of the conditions or
agreements of this Contract, ar is executing the same bad faith or is not fulfilling the terms thereof, or is
not making progress in the execution of the work as to indicate its completion within the same time
specified in the Contract, or within the time to which the completion of the Contract may have been
extended by the Owner.

If it is determined that the Contract, or any portion thereof, is to be terminated, a written notice will be
served to the Contractor. A copy will also be given to the surety or the authorized agent of the surety,

Upon the service of such notice, the Contractor shall discontinue the work or such part thereof as the
Owner shall designate, whereupon the surety may, at its option, assume this Contract or the portion
thereof on which the Owner has ordered the Contractor to discontinue work and proceed to perform the
same and may, with the written consent of the Owner, sublet the work or portions of same taken over,
provided, however, that the surety shall exercise its option if at all, within two weeks after written notice to
discontinue work has been served upon the Contractor and upaon the surety of its authorized agent. The
surety, in such event, shalf take the Contractor's place in all respects and will be paid by the Owner for afl
work performed by it in accordance with the terms of the Contract and if the surety, under the provisions
hereof, shall assume said entire Contract, all monies remaining due to the Contractor at the time of
Contractor's default, shall thereupon become due and payable to the surety as the work progresses,
subject to all the terms of the Contract.

In the event the Owner has ordered the Contractor to discontinue work on the Contract, the Owner shall
have the absolute right, without liability on the part of the Owner to the Contractor or their surety, to
continue and complete the Contract herein described. The surety and the Contractor shall then be jointly
and severally fiable for all expenditures made by the Owner to complete the said Contract expecting and
providing that the surety shall not be liable for any amount over the obligation of its bond.
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Any and all balances of payments due to the Contractor by the Owner shall be forfeited to the Owner and
the Contractor agrees that they shall lose all right, title, and interest to the said balances, excepting and
providing that the said balances shall be used, after forfeiture, for a set off to the benefit of the Contractor
and the Contractor’s surety on the expenditures of the Owner to complete this Contract.

21 of 36



g

Responses are found on the pages that follow this document.

CONTRACTOR’'S QUALIFICATION STATEMENT

The bidder is requfred to'state the following in full detail as will enabla the Director 6f Public Service and.
Engineering and Council of the City of Gahanna to judge ftsresponsibility; experignce; skill and financial
standing to meet the obligations of the Contract,

ORGANIZATION.
{a) Number of years your arganization has been in business as a-Contractor.

{b) Number of yéars your drganization has been ih business Under its present busiriess narmé. List ahy
other or formernames your arganization has.operated under.

{c) Jf your organization is a corporation, list the fallowing: dite of incorporation; staté of incorparation,
President’s name, Vice President’s name(s), Secretary’s name and Treasurer's name, If not applicable, state
"nat applicable”

{d) If your organization is:a partnership, list the fellowing: date of organization, fypa of partnership (it
applicable)-and name(s) of general partrier(s). If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

() . your orgamzatnon is individually cwned, fist the Foliowing; date of organization and name of owner.
If hot applicable, state "nét: applicable.”

Hif theform of your-organizgtion. s other than those fisted above, describe it and name the principals, ¥
hot applicable, state. "notapplicable.”

LICENSING.
{a) List jurisdictions and*trade categories.in which your grganization is:legally qualified to do'business, and
indicate tegistration or license nuthbers, if applicable.

{b) List jurisdictions.in which yourorganization's partnership of trade name s filed.

EXPER!ENCE.
{a) List the: -categories of work that your arganization: normally performs.with'its own forces:

{3 List all details of any work your organizafien has-failed ta complete, If none, state. "nane.”

{c) List any Clairmis that Your organization of'any of its-officers have initjated, any Claims initjated against
your organization ‘er-any of its officers, any mediation or arbitration proceedings or lawsuits related to any
contract your-organization or any of its officers: have been involved in or is. currently involved in, or any
judgerients or awards cutstanding ‘againist your organization or any of its officérs within'the last fivé (5)
years. Please give detalls for each Claim, including the names and telephone numbers. of the, persons who
are parties, the ampunt of the Clain, thetype of Claim-and, basis for the Claim, and-the outcome. X none,
state“none.”

Nate: As used iri this document "Claim” means a Claim Inifiated undér the Contract Documents for'a
contract.
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(d) List any officer or: principal of your organization that has ever beer an officer or principal of another
otganization when itfajled to corfiplete & contract within tHe [ast five {5) years; Please give details for
each instance, induding the nanies and telephone numbiers of the pérsons who are parttes to thé
contract, and thie reason{s) the contractwas not completed. I none, state “nona.”

(€) List contraits your otganization has in pragress with.an origital contract sim of triorg’than

$100 000.00, giving the name of contract, owner and its telephone number, design professional and its
telephone number IF applicable, coritract amouit, percent complete and stheduled completion date,
State total drmount of work in progress-and ufider ¢ontract. I hotie, state “none:”

{f) Provide the following infarmaticn for éach contract your organization has had during the last five (5)
years, including curfent-¢ontracts, whére thie contract surn'is ﬁfty percent (50%] or more of tha bid
amauntfor this Contract, including add alternates: name of eontract, scope of work, contract sum, name
of owner's representative and owner's telephane puinber.

Note: If there are.mare than ten {10} of these contracts, only provi'da_’ information on the most recent fen
(10) contracts, induding current contracts.

{g) Pravide the following information for each contract your organization has had duriirg the last five (5
years, which your orgariization believes is of comparable or.greater size and complexity than the Owner's
contract: narne of cohtract, scopeof wark, contract s, name of owner's represenitative and owrier's
telephane number.

Note: If there:are moie tha fivé (5] 6f these contracts, only provide informiation on the fhostrecérit five
{5) contracts; including current contracts.

{h) Staté the average arinual amount of eahtracts your'erganization has perfarmed during the'last five (5)
years.

(i) If any of the following membirs.of your organization's managemient, président, chaitrin of the bioard,
or any director, operates or has.aperated another company during the last five (5] years, identify the.
mémber of management and the name of the company: If nane, state “none.”

(i If your organization is operating under a trade name reglstraﬂoﬂ with the. Secretary of State for the
State of-Ohig, ldentafy the entﬂy for which the trade natve.is registered If none, state *rione.”

(kj If'your erganization is a division or wholly-owned subsidiary of another entity or has another
telationship with another entity, identify the entity of which itisa division-or wholly-owned subsidiary or
with which it-has another relationship and also identify the nature of the relationship. If not applicable,
state “not applicable.”

{B) List the education, training and expetiefice Tor dach persdn who will fill a managément ralé onthe
Cantract :ndudmg without limitation the-Contract Executive, Contract Manager and Contract

Superinténdent. For each person listed, irelude with the other Inforration the last thrae cqntrgcfs-an

which the person warked arid thé nemé anid telaphone numbér af the owner,

REFERENCES.
(&) List all trade refererices.
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{by List alt bank references.
() List the name of your surety bonding compary zlong with tha nafme anid address of yoursurety agent.

FINANCING.,

{a) Attach d-financial statement, preferably audited, including yourorganization's latest balarice sheet and
fhcome statement showing the following itéms: carrent assets. (8.g., cash, jaint venture accounts, accounts.
receivable, notes recéivable, accrued income, deposits, matefials tnvgntory and prepatd expenses), net
fixed assets, other assets, current liabilities (e.g., accounts; ‘payable, notes payable, atcruéd expenses,
provision fof income taxes, advances; acétued salaries-and-accrued payroll taxes) and other liabilities (&9.,
capital, capital stock, authorized and outstanding shares par valyes, earned surplus and retained eamings),

(b) List the fidme and address of the firin preparing attached finandal statement, and date thereof,

{c)'State if the attached financial staterrient fer the: ideritical orgarnization is named on page ene: If not,
explain‘the relationship aivd financial responsibifity of the-organization whiose findncial statément is
provided {e.q., parent-subsidiary).

{d) State if the organization whose: fihancial statement is attached will act as guarantor of the Contraci,

CERTIFICATION.

The undéfsigned certifiés for the reliance:of the Ownerthat after diligent investigation, to'the best of the
undersigned's belief, the informat:on provided with this: Cantrac‘tors Qualification Staterment is true,
dccurate and not. 'misleading_

ABM Industry Groups, LLC

Company Natjié; :
7.

Z A/% [T

Signature Date

Brian Planicka, Senior Branch Manager

(nt\ed Name and Title;
&i{»’m‘! l %M{‘—‘ , being duly sworn, deposes and says‘that the information

provided here:@ue and sufficiently complete so as netito be misleading,

Swoérn to and subscribéd In my presence this I' L‘i -day of f \L—} Hnbp LA .20 /5 ,

| ﬁé@WﬂM@L

\!“

Nétaryf fj
S‘ v,

COURTNEY L. BUSH
Nofary Public, St of Oio
My Commaisslon Expires July 25, 2022
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City of Gahanna

Presented by:

ABM

Daniel Bohannon

Senior District Manager
daniel.bohannon@abm.com
(614) 756-1524

November 15, 2019
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November 15, 2019

Jennifer Hamilton

City of Gahanna

200 South Hamilton Road
Gahanna, OH 43230

Dear Jennifer,

We understand that City of Gahanna needs a quality-oriented, cost-effective janitorial services program that
will meet your needs and build value for your facilities. With our level of expertise, ABM will provide you with
reliable, quality service that makes the most of your operating budget.

ABM will meet and exceed your expectations with our dedicated personnel, innovative processes and
technology, and commitment to client satisfaction. Our entire organization stands behind this proposal and all
of the commitments made to City of Gahanna.

If there is any additional information | might provide, please don’t hesitate to call or write. All of us at ABM are
ready to put our solutions to work for you.

Sincerely,

T2

Daniel Bohannon
Senior District Manager
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The bidder is required to state the following in full detail as will enable the Director of Public Service
and Engineering and Council of the City of Gahanna to judge its responsibility, experience, skill and
financial standing to meet the obligation of the Contract.

ORGANIZATION.
(a) Number of years your organization has been in business as a Contractor.

110 years, ABM was founded in San Francisco, CA in 1909.

(b) Number of years your organization has been in business under its present business name. List
any other or former names your organization has operated under.

3 years, ABM Industry Groups, LLC was created in December, 2016 as a subsidiary of ABM Industries
Incorporated.

(c) If your organization is a corporation, list the following: date of incorporation, state of
incorporation, President’s name, Vice President’s name(s), Secretary’s name and Treasurer’s
name. If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

ABM Industry Groups, LLC was incorporated in December 7, 2016.

e Scott Salmirs, President & Chief Executive Officer

e D. Anthony Scaglione, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
e Scott Giacobbe, Executive Vice President & Chief Revenue Officer

e Dean A. Chin, Senior Vice President, Controller & Chief Accounting Officer
o Andrea Newborn, Executive Vice President, General Counsel, & Secretary
¢ Rene Jacobsen, Executive Vice President, Chief Facilities Services Officer
e Mark Hawkinson, Senior Vice President

e Mark Deal, Vice President of Operations

(d) If your organization is a partnership, list the following: date of organization, type of partnership (if
applicable) and name(s) of general partner(s). If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

Not Applicable

(e) If your organization is individually owned, list the following: date of organization and name of
owner. If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

Not Applicable

(f) If the form of your organization is other than those listed above, describe it and name the
principals. If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

Not Applicable




ABM.

Building Value

LICENSING

(a) List jurisdictions and trade categories in which your organization is legally qualified to do
business, and indicate registration or license numbers, if applicable.

ABM Industry Groups, LLC (“ABM") is a national facility service company serving customers through 295
metropolitan areas in 50 states. To the extent required, ABM has valid business licenses in all jurisdictions in
which we do business. These licenses are maintained in the applicable local office as required by law. In the
event a particular license is of concern to this bid, please ask and ABM will provide a copy of the specified
license.

(b) List jurisdictions in which your organization’s partnership or trade name is filed.

Not Applicable

EXPERIENCE

(a) List the categories of work that your organization normally performs with its own forces.

ABM cleans more than two billion square feet of floor space every day. As a century old, financially stable,
facility services contractor, we have the experience necessary to provide cleaning solutions that maximize
your investment. Our national scope and expertise provides wide ranging solutions ideally suited for
commercial, industrial, and institutional facilities. Merging the power of our workforce with innovative
technologies and efficient processes, we bring the future of the janitorial services industry to your business
today.

ABM provides several services to our customers, some examples include:

e General Maintenance e Green Cleaning e Restroom Sanitation

e Carpet Care e Hard Surface Floor Care e Recycling Services

e Blind Cleaning e Clean Room Services e Computer Room

Cleaning

e Diversity Spend e Pharmaceutical Facility o FDA-Regulated
Requirements Cleaning Environmental Cleaning

e Construction Cleanup e Escalator Cleaning e Medical Waste Disposal

e Lighting e Matting Programs e Landscape and Golf

e Industrial Plant Cleaning e Pressure Washing e Upholstery Cleaning

e GMP and GLP Area e Window Cleaning e Airline and Airport

Cleaning Support
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(b) List all details of any work your organization has failed to complete, if none, state “none.”

ABM holds thousands of facility services contracts in most major U.S. cities. Virtually all such contracts allow
the customer to terminate the contract with or without cause, upon 30 days notice. Customer terminations do
occur, and in some cases the termination occurs because we are underbid on price by a competitor. ABM has
also experienced several customers who have filed for bankruptcy, therefore terminating their services
contract. Undoubtedly, there are cases where a client elects to terminate ABM due to dissatisfaction with
service, yet termination on this basis is rare. Because our customers are not required to state reasons for
termination, the company does not keep statistical records of contract terminations.

On very rare occasions, ABM has elected to terminate customer contracts. In almost all cases the reason for
such voluntary terminations is inability to agree on revised pricing following labor or operating cost increases.
This would not apply to a situation where ABM prices have been contractually guaranteed for a period of time.

(c) List any Claims that your organization or any of its officers have initiated, any Claims initiated
against your organization or any of its officers, any mediation or arbitration proceedings or
lawsuits related to any contract your organization or any of its officers have been involved in or is
currently involved in, or any judgements or awards outstanding against your organization or any
of its officers within the last five (5) years. Please give details for each Claim, including the names
and telephone numbers of the persons who are parties, the amount of the Claim, the type of Claim
and basis for the Claim, and the outcome. If none, state “none.”

Note: As used in this document “Claim” means a Claim initiated under the Contract Documents for a
contract.

Claims Against ABM:

ABM and its divisions employ more than 140,000 employees across the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico. As
such, at any given time, ABM is involved in dozens, if not hundreds, of litigation matters. These claims are
handled in the normal course of business by legal and risk management professionals employed by the
company. Even large litigation matters involving millions of dollars would not have any impact on ABM's ability
to provide timely services to City of Gahanna.

Lawsuits Against Others:

In the ordinary course of business, ABM has, on occasion, various claims and lawsuits against third parties,
primarily related to collection of monies owed. The amount of information regarding these matters is
voluminous and, therefore, such information has not been included herein. Information about specific matters
is available upon request.

(d) List any officer or principal of your organization that has ever been an officer or principal of
another organization when it failed to complete a contract within the last five (5) years. Please
give details for each instance, including the names and telephone numbers of the persons who
are parties to the contract, and the reason(s) the contract was not completed. If none, state
“none.”

None
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(e) List contracts your organization has in progress with and original contract sum of more than
$100,000, giving the name of contract, owner and its telephone number, design professional and
its telephone number if applicable, contract amount, percent complete and schedules completion
date. State total amount of work in progress and under contract. If none, state “none.”

ABM holds thousands of facility services contracts in most major U.S. cities. Virtually all such contracts
contain confidentiality clauses that prevent us from providing the information you requested in this manner.
We have provided a list of some of our major customers below for your review.

Experience in Commercial Buildings
ABM keeps properties running all day. From the parking lot to the rooftop, we deliver a full array of offerings
integrated or stand-alone.

Similar Clients
ABM provides services to commercial building managers across the country. Below is a sampling of those

clients:
e LBA e Cousins
e Highwoods e Silverstein Properties
e Brookfield Properties e Tishman Speyer
e Piedmont e  Newmark Knight Frank
e Cushman & Wakefield o CBRE
e Jones Lang LaSalle e RXR
o Kilroy e Commonwealth

Associations LY
ABM is an active, long-term member and participant in the ' DID YOU KNOW? |

Tollewing organizations: o ABM's largest client allows us to

o Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA) service all 3,000+ of their locations.
e Commercial Real Estate Women Network (CREW)

e Corporate Real Estate Network (CoreNet)

e OQur clients include over 50% of the
Fortune 500’s buildings.

o We service over 550 USGBC
e Institute of Real Estate Management (IREM) LEED- Certified and registered sites

e International Facility Management Association (IFMA) /
e US Green Building Council (USGBC) :
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(f) Provide the following information for each contract your organization has had during the last five
(5) years, including current contracts, where the contract sum is fifty percent (50%) or more of the
bid amount for this Contract, including add alternates: name of contract, scope of work, contract
sum, name of owner’s representative and owner’s telephone number.

Note: If there are more than ten (10) of these contracts, only provide information on the most recent
ten (10) contracts, including current contracts.

ABM holds thousands of facility services contracts in most major U.S. cities. Virtually all such contracts
contain confidentiality clauses that prevent us from providing the information you requested in this manner.
We have provided information below related to our Columbus, OH branch office operations:

Branch Office Information:
1817 O'Brien Road
Columbus, OH 43228
Telephone: 614.771.5462
Fax: 614.771.6859

Square Footage Cleaned: 8 million sf

Number of Employees: 350
Number of Clients: 95
Annual Sales: $7 million

(g) Provide the following information for each contract your organization has had during the last five
(5) years which your organization believes is of comparable or greater size and complexity than
the Owner’s contract: name of contract, scope of work, contract sum, name of owner’s
representative and owner’s telephone number.

Note: If there are more than five (5) of these contracts, only provide information on the most recent
five (5) contracts, including current contracts.

Hear first-hand how we build value for our clients. Below is a reference list of clients similar to you for whom
we currently provide services.

Discover Financial Services

Steve R. Boggs

Facilities Coordinator, Ohio Facilities
614-283-1634

steveboggs@discover.com

Services Provided: Janitorial/Facility Engineering
Service Since: 2013

National Veterans Memorial and Museum & Lifeline of Ohio
Alissha Mitchell

Property Manager — NAI Ohio Equities

614-629-5237

amitchell@ohioequities.com

Services Provided: Janitorial

Service Since: 2018
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Ohio Public Employees Retirement System
Jim Figgins

Facilities Services Manager

614-225-0944

ifiggins@opers.or

Services Provided: Janitorial

Service Since: 2013

(h) State the average annual amount of contracts your organization has performed during the last five
(5) years.

Currently we perform services for 95 accounts in the Columbus, OH Branch. The average annual amount of
these contracts is approximately $ 73,684.

(i) If any of the following members of your organization’s management, president, chairman of the
board, or any director, operates or has operated another company during the last five (5) years,
identify the member of management and the name of the company. If none, state “none.”

None

(i) If your organization is operating under a trade name registration with the Secretary of State for the
State of Ohio, identify the entity for which the trade name is registered. If none, state “none.”

None

(k) If your organization is a division or wholly-owned subsidiary of another entity or has another
relationship with another entity, identify the entity of which it is a division or wholly-owned
subsidiary or with which it has another relationship and also identify the nature of the
relationship. If not applicable, state “not applicable.”

ABM Industry Groups, LLC is a single member limited liability company with ABM Industries Incorporated as
the sole member. ABM Industry Groups, LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of ABM Industries Incorporated.
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(I) List the education, training and experience for each person who will fill a management role on the
Contract, including without limitation the Contract Executive, Contract Manager and Contract
Superintendent. For each person listed, include with the other information the last three contracts
on which the person worked and the name and telephone number of the owner.

Phillip Wynn
1817 O’'Brien Road
Columbus, OH 43228

Office (614) 771-5462
phillip.wynn @abm.com
www.abm.com

SKILLS SUMMARY

EMPLOYMENT

ESSENTIAL
FUNCTIONS

Extensive experience in building cleaning service, adjusting the cleaning
according to the different needs of the buildings. Customer service and
relationship building skills, quality control, supervising field managers,
supervisors and crews, and building inspections.

ABM

Columbus, OH

District Manager 2013 — Present
Field Operations Manager 2002 - 2013
Building Manager 1985 — 2002

1. Coordinate service activities for assigned buildings. Ensure that
services are performed as contracted.

2. Control supplies, equipment, and personnel necessary to meet
customer specifications. Schedule personnel for daily and periodic
work.

3. Conduct quality of service inspections at assigned buildings.

4. Interact with customer contacts daily to obtain feedback on services
and special needs. Troubleshoot potential problems and concerns.
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REFERENCES

(a) List all trade references.

Tennant Sales and Service Company
P. 0. Box 71414

Chicago, IL 60694-1414

Telephone: 800-553-8033

Fax: 763-513-2142

Supplyworks

P. O. Box 418636

Boston, MA 02241-8636
Telephone: 800-268-7273
Fax: 866-338-6309

MAP Inc.

P.O. Box 98477

Chicago, IL 60693
Telephone: 847-699-7000

(b) List all bank references.

Account # 1499505328
ACH/EFT Routing # 122000030
Domestic Wire # 026009593
ABM Industries Inc

Bank of America Merrill Lynch
300 Broadhollow Road

Melville, NY 11747

Contact — John Shaefer

Title: Commercial Support Specialist
Telephone: 631-547-7813

Fax: 212-909-8571

Email: john.shaefer@baml.com
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(c) List the name of your surety bonding company along with the name and address of your surety
agent.

Primary Bonding Company:

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America
225 Lennon Lane, Suite #200

Walnut Creek, California 94598

Phone: 925-945-4122

Fax: 925-945-4423

Surety Underwriter:
David Allsop
Attorney-in-Fact: Simone Gerhard

FINANCING

(a) Attach a financial statement, preferably audited, including your organization’s latest balance sheet
and income statement showing the following items: current assets, (e.g. cash, joint venture
accounts, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accrued income, deposits, materials inventory
and prepaid expenses), net fixed assets, other assets, current liabilities (e.g. accounts payable,
notes payable, accrued expenses, provision for income taxes, advances, accrued salaries and
accrued payroll taxes) and other liabilities (e.g., capital, capital stock, authorized and outstanding
shares per values, earned surplus and retained earnings).

Attached at the end of this document

(b) List the name and address of the firm preparing attached financial statement, and date thereof.

ABM Industries Incorporated

One Liberty Plaza, 7" Floor

New York, NY 10006

Fiscal Year Ending October 31, 2018

(c) State if the attached financial statement for the identical organization is names on page one. If
not, explain the relationship and financial responsibility of the organization whose financial
statement is provided (e.g., parent-subsidiary).

No, the name on the financial statement is ABM Industries Incorporated. ABM Industry Groups, LLC is a
wholly owned subsidiary of ABM Industries Incorporated.

(d) State if the organization whose financial statement is attached will act as guarantor of the
Contract.

Not applicable. The Contract Bond that is presented as part of this proposal should service as guaranty.

ential and Proprietary } @}
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Dear Shareholders,

When we began fiscal 2018 we had just closed the largest acquisition in our T08-year history, apening a new chapter
for ABM. What followed was a menumental year for our company on several fronts. In addition to adding more than
30,800 new team members from GCA and contiruing our 2020 Vision transformation, we atso faced one of the
toughest labor markets in American histary, while keeping our clients satisfied and team members engaged. fam so
proud of our organlzation’s ability to navigate the challenging macroeconomic environment while executing against
our short-term plans and progressing towards cur leng-term goals.

Throughout the year, we were determined to deliver on our commitments. We concluded the year with record revenues
of more than $6.4 billian, driven by 4% organic growth, Income from continuing operations grew to £1.45 per dituted
share, or $1.89 onanadjusted basis. We also expanded adjusted EBITDA margin and generated mare than $200 million
in operating cash flow from continuing operations.

These results ware due ta several key factors, First, we leveraged our scaie and strength to expand relationships with
many of our large strategic customers. Secand, our ability to establish a sales culture within ABM by attracting key
sates talent helpedus achieve record new saies of $90Gmillion, Third, internal cost mitigation strategies allowed usto
offset scme of the labor pressures that affected the entire market. And finally, our successful integration of GCA was
also fourdational to our 2018 results as we combined our teams and serviced our new, larger client portfolio, achieving
cosi synergies that exceeded our original projections.

We also continued to make progress in transforming our back-office operations. Our Enterprise Shared Services
center is now fully functional and beginning to see the benefits of operational cansistency. This has led to improved
cash flow, which is an important metric and a key indicator of our strong fundamentais. [ fiscal 2018 we paid our 210th
consecutive guarterly cash dividend, even as we ended the yaar with leverage lower than we expected.

Cur performance in fiscal 2018 demonstrates how ABM is a durable and resilient business with a highly diversified
madalthat can succeed in a varlety of different ecanomic cycles, We remain the leader in the industries and rnarkets
wa servaand have grown to becoma the country’s 44th largest employer accerding to Fortune magazine, which means
we have the scale to support our remarkable clients. While the current labor markets may prasent a short-term
headwind, the incredible breadth of aur more than 130,000-person team remains aur greatest long-term tailwind.

Our employees have alsc enabled us to give back te the communities we serve - which is critical to our mission of
Making aDifference, lam proud that ABM and our employees contributed nearly $2 million to charities in 2018 threugh
our ABMCares program as well as other affiliated programs.

2019 marks ABM's110th year in business and an impartant year sn our path to fulfilling our 2020 Visiontransfarmation.
We have initiated the implementation of several technology-based modernization efforts in human resources and
enterprise resource planring that will imprave our operational efficiency, further transform our back-office suppart
systems, and facilitate our goal of being more data driven. Based on these initiatives, we believe 2039 will set the
stage for financiat benefits in 2020 and heyond and position ABM for the next 110 years.

Our 2020 Vision transformation has impacted every area of our company, and we are stronger thanwe have evar been.
As always, we remain committed te creating value for our shareholders, customers, and employeas.

z_

Scott Salmirs
President and Chief Executive Officer

Thank you for your cantinued support.

“*Reconcliiation of Nom-GAAP ta GAAP Rinanclal meastres czn ba found inthe back of this Asruai Report,
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Formn 10-K for ABM Industries Incorporated and s subsidiarles (collectively referred
to as "ABM,” “we,” "us,” "our,” or the "Company”) contains both historical and forward-looking statements, within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1885, that involve risks and uncertainties, We make forward-
jooking statements related to future expectations, estimates, and projections that are uncertain and often contain words
such as “anticipate,” “belleve,” “could,” "estimate,” “expecl,” "forecast” “intend,” “likely,” "may.” "outiook,” "plan,”
"predict,” "should,” “target,” or ofher simitar words or phrases. These sfatements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not imited to, those discussed in Part 1 of this Ferm 10-K
under ltem 1A., “Risk Factors,” and we urge readers to consfder these risks and uncertainties in evaluating our forward-
{ocking statements. We caution readers not fo place undue reliance upon any such forward-tooking statements, which
speak only as of the date made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether
as a rasult of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law,



PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General

ABM Industries Incorporated, which operates through its subsidiaries (collectively referred fo as "ABM,” "we,”
"us,” “our,” or the "Company"), is a leading provider of integrated facility solutions with a mission to make a difference,
svery parson, every day. Our history dates back to 1908, when American Bullding Maintenance Company began as
a window washing company in 8an Francisco with one employese. In 1985, we were incorporated in Delaware under
the name American Building Maintenance Industries, Inc., as the successorto the business originally founded in 1908,
In 1884, we changed our name to ABM Industries Incorporated. Over the past ten years, we have grown into a multi-
segment facility solutions company, increasing our revenue from $3 billion to $6 billion, particularly through new service
offerings and strategic acquisitions,
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The gcquisition of OneSource in 2007 bolstered ABM as a leader in the janitorial market, while the Line Group
acquisition In 2010 established ABM as a “facility solutions” company with new service offetings, Including fighting,
mechanical, and slectrical “technical solutions.” With demand Increasing for industry-specific service providers, in 2012
we purchased Alr Servand established ourfirstindustry group, “aviation,” In recent years, wehave strateglcally acquired
companies in the United Kingdom, particularly with the GBM and Westway acquisitions, which expanded our janitariat
and technlcal solutlons businesses overseas. In 2017, we compieted the acquisition of GCA Services Group ("GCA"),
a provider of integrated facility services to educational institutions and commercial facilities, for approximately $1.3
biflion, e largest acqulsition in ABM history. As a result of this acquisition, we are now a leading facility solutions
provider in the education market. In recent years, we also evaluated all of cur service offerings and sold cur Security
and Government Services businesses, which did not align with ABM's long-term Industry-group focus.

As a result of these strategic changes, we have strengthened our ability to offer Janitorial, facliitles engineering,
parking, and specialized mechanical and electrical technlcal solutions, on a standatone basis or In combination,
positioning ourselves as afeading integrated facilities management company. Unless otherwise indicated, all references
{o years are to our fiscal year, which ends on October 31,

24434 Vislon

In September 20415, we announced a comprehensive transformation inftative (*2029 Vigion™) ntended to drive
long-term, profitable grawth through an industry-based go-to-market approach. In connection with our 2020 Vision,
we have achieved savings through the realignment of our organization by industry group, divested businesses that
were nat at the core of our strategy, centralized key functional aress, strengthened our sales capabiities, inltfated
investments in service delivery tools and processes, improved our employee engagement pregrams, and added to
our position as a leading integrated service provider through the acquisition of GCA. We continue focusing on several
key Initiatives acress our organization to sustain our 2020 Vislon strategy and profitably deliver leading Indusiry-based
facilify solutions. For additional information on our 2028 Vislon, see ltem 7., "Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Contract Types

Ve generate revenues under severat types of contracts, as explained below. Generafly, the type of contract
js determined by the nature of the services. Although many of our service agreements are cancelable on short notice,
wa have historically had a high rate of client retention and expect to continue maintaining long-tenm relationships with
our clients,

CONrat TyYPe ] oo e e DeSCIREON D
These arangements are confracts in which the client agrees to pay a fixed fee every month
Monthiy Fixed- |over a specified contract term. A variation of a fixed-price arrangement is a square-foot

Price arrangermen, under which monthly billings are based on the actual square footage serviced.
Janltorial contracts are commonly structured as fixed-price arrangements.

These arangements are contracts in which the clients reimbtirse us for the agreed-tpon amount
Cost-Plus of wages and benefifs, payroll taxes, insurance charges, and other expenses associated with

the contracted work, plus a profit margin. Facifilies engineering, janitorial, and catering setvices
are commonly struciured as costplus amangements.

Tagwerk generally consists of supplemental services requested by cllents cutside of the standard
Tag Services |service specification. This contract type is commonly used in janiterial services and includes
cleanup after tenant moves, construction cleanup, flood cleanup, and snow removal.
Transactlon- | These are agreements in which the clients are billed for each transaction performed on amonthiy
Price basls {e.g., wheelchair passengers served or planes tleaned).
Hourly These arrangements are confracts in which the client is billed a set hourly rate for each labor
hour provided. Cerfaln Awtation contracts are structured as hourly arrangements.
Management |Under these parking arrangements, we manage a parking facility for a management fee and
Reimbursement |pass through the revenue and expenses assaclated with the facility to the owner.
Under these parking arrangements, we generally pay to the properly owner a fixed amount of
Leased Location [rent plus a percentage of revenues derived fram monthiy and fransient parkers, We retain all
revenues and we are responsible for most operating expenses incurred,

Underthese parking arrangements, we are paid a fixed or hourly fae to provide parking services,
Allowancs | any we are responsible for certain operating expenses, as specified In the contract.

Energy Savings
Caontracts and
Fixed-Prica
Repair and
Refurbishment

Eranchise Ve franchise ceriain engineering services through individual and area franchises under the Linc
Service and TRGG brands, which are part of ABM Technical Solutions.

Under these arrangements, we agree to develop, deslgn, engineer, and construct a project and
guarantee that the project will satisfy agreed-upon performance standards,

Segment and Geographic Financiat Information

Effective November 1, 2017, we reorganized our reportable segments to reflect the integration of GCA inte
our industry group model, Our reportable segments consist of Business & Industry {"B&i"), Aviation, Technology &
Manufacturing (“T&M"), Education, Technlcal Solutions, and Healthcare. Dur principal eperations are in the United
States, and in 2018 our U.S. operations generated approximately 93% of our revenues, For segment and geographlc
financial information, see Note 18, *Segment and Geographic Information,” in the Notes to Consclidated Financial
Statements,




REPORTABLE SEGMENTS'AND DESCRIPTIONS: i &

B&Il, our largest reportable segment, encompasses janitorial, facilities
enginesring, and parking services for commarclal real estate properties and
sports and entertainment venues, B&l also provides vehicle maintenance
and other services o rental car ‘Jrovlders {"Vehicle Services Contracts™), We
typically provide services In thls segment pursuant to monthly fixed-price
avangements ant cost-plus arangements that are oblained through &
compatitive bid process as wel as through tag senvices.

Aviation suppoerts airiines and airports with services ranging from parking and
janitorial to passenger assistance, catering logistics, alr cabin maintenance,
and transportation, We typically provide services to clients in this segment
under master services agreements. These agreements are ypically re-bid
upon renewal and are generally structured as fixed-price arrangements,
Rarklng reimbursemant contracts, fransaction-price amangements, and

ourly arrangements. Two clients accounted for approximately 31% of
revenues for this segment in 2048.

T&M combines our legacy Industral & Manufacturing business, which was
previously included in our B&] segment, with our Eigacy High Tech industry
group, which was previously reported as part of our legacy Emerging
Industrias Group. T&M provides janitorial, faciiities engtneenn%, and parking
services, We fypicafly provide these services pursuant to monthly fixed-price
and cost-plus arangemenis that are obtained through a competitive bid
process,

Education delivars janitorial, custodial, Iandscaping and grounds, facilities
engineering, and parking services for public school districts, private schools,
colleges, and universities. These services are typically provided pursuant 1o
monthiy fixed-price and cost-plus arrangements that are obtained through
either a competitive bid process or re-bid upan renewal, This business was
praviously reported as part of our legacy Emerging Indusirles Group.

Technical Sclutions speciafizes in mechanlcal and electrical services. These
services can alao be leveraged for cross-selling across alf of our industry
groups, both domestically and intemationally. Contracts for this sagment are
structured as cost-plus amangements, fixed-price amangements, energy
savings cenfracts, and franchise arangements.

Heaithcare offers janiterial, facilities management, clinical engineering, food
and mutrition, laundry and linen, parking and guest services, and patient
transportation services at traditional hospitals and non-acte faciiities. We
typically provide these services, which are obtained tirough o competitive
bid process, pursuant to monthly fixed-price and cost-plus arrangements, 4%
well as parking reimbursement confracts. This business was previously
reported as part of our legacy Emerging Industries Group,

Service Marks, Tradamarks, and Trade Names

We hold various service marks, irademarks, and trade names, such as “ABM,” “ABM Building Value,” "ABM
Greencars,” "MPower," “Linc Service,” "OmniServ,” and “TEGG,” which we deem important to our marketing activities,
1o our business, and, in some cases, to the franchising activities conducted by our Technical Solufions segment.

Dependence on Signiflcant Client
No client accaunted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues during 2018, 2017, or 20186,
Competition

We belleve that each aspect of aur business is highly compelitive and that such competition is based primarily
on price, quality of service, efficiency enhancements, adapting to changing workplace conditlons, and ability to anticipate
and respond to industry changes. Amalority of aurrevenue s derived from projects requiring competitive bids; however,
an invitation to bid is often conditioned upon prior experience, industry expertlse, and financiat strength. The low cost
of eniry in the facllily services business resulis in a very competitive market. We mainly compete with regional and
local owner-operated companies that may have more acute vision into local markets and significantly lower labor and
overhead costs, providing them with competitive advantages In those regards, We also compete indirectly with
companles that can perform for themselves one or more of the services we provide.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing activities include digital engagement and direct inferacfions with prospeciive and
sxisting clients, pricing, proposal management, and customer relationship management by dedicated business
development teams, operations personnel, and managemend, These activities are executed by branch and reglonal
sales, marketing, and operations teams assigned to our Industry groups and are supported by centralized sales support
teams, Inside sales teams, corporate marketing personnel, and our Center of Excellence teams, These sales and
marksting tearms perform lead acquisition, lead nurturing, and lead managemant as welf as training in sales tools and
proposal systems, ali governed by standard operating procedures.

Regulatory Envircnment and Envirenmentat Compllance

Our operations are subject to various federal, state, and/or local laws regulating the discharge of materials
into the environment or otiwerwise refating to the protection of the environment, such as discharge into soll, water, and
alr, and the generation, handiing, storage, transportation, and disposal of waste and hazardous substances, Fromtime
to time we are involved in environmental matters at certain of our locations or in connection with our operations,
Historically, the cost of complying with environmental laws or resolving environmental issues relating fo locations or
operations in the United States or abroad has not had a material adverse effect on our financlal position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Employees

As of Cctober 31, 2018, we employed approximately 140,000 persons, of which approximately 48,000, or
34%, were subject to various local collective bargalning agreements.

Available Information

We are required to fils Annual Reports on Form 10K, Quaderly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and other Information with the Securitles and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The public may read and
copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
D.C. 20548 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Raom may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-3330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Intemet sie at www.sec_gov that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC,

Qur Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reperis on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form B-K, proxy
statements, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 are also avallable free of charge on our internet site at www.abm.com as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are electronically filed with ar fumished to the SEC. We provide references to our website
for your convenience, but our website does not constitute, and should not be viewed as, a part of this Annual Report,
and our website is not incorporated into this or any of our other filings with the SEC.




Executive Officers of Registrant

Executive Officers on Decembper 21, 2018

Name Age Frlnclpa! Dccupations and Busiﬂess Explrience

D. Anthony Scaglione 48 Execufive Vice Prasident and Chief Financial Officer of ABM since April 2015;
Senfer Vies President, Treasurer, and Head of Margers and Acquisiiiens of ABM
from January 2012 23 Aprit 201 5 Vice Presldent and ‘Treasurer of ABM from
June 2009 to January 2012 Chelrman of the Board of the Assoclation for
Financial Professionais {AFP the R{ rofessional society that represents finance
exeouuvee across the glohe from overnber 2614 to chber 2018.

Andraa R, Newbom 55 Exscutive Vica Presidant, General Cuunsel and Ca nrete Saecratary of ABM
since July 2817, Executive Vice President and General Counsel for ‘TraveiClick,
ine. from July 2044 to June 201 7; Senicr Vice Presidant, General Counsel, and
g gg‘r;etary of The Reader's Digesmsswaﬂon, Ing. from March 2007 to February

Andrew D. Block 50 Exacutiva Vice Prasident and Chief Human Resourcas Officer of ABM sinca
June 2018; Senlor Vice President, Talent and Organizational Performance
B hisf HR Oﬁcer) of Buffzlo Wild V\ﬂngs fne. from April 2010 fo June 2018;

jrector of Human Reseurces of C.H, Rabinson Worldwida, nc, from December
2002 to April 2010,

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS.

We may not realize the full extent of growth opportunities or potential synergies anticipated from the acqulsition
of GCA.

The benefits that we expected to result from the acquisition of GCAwill depend, In part, on our abllity to realize
the full extent of the anticlpated growth opporiunities and {0 maintain synergles from the acquisition. Our success in
realizing these growth opportunities and synergies, and the timing of this realization, depends on a number of factors.
There is a significant degree of difflculty and management distraction Inherent In the process ofintegrating an acquisition
as sizable as GCA. Whife we have completed a significant portion of the integration, the ongoing process of integrating
operations could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of our business, including the GCA
legacy business, In addition, time and distraction relating to the Integration of GCA could detract from our ability to
achleve the benefits anticipated with respect to aur 2020 Vislon. There can be no assurance that we will complete
the GCA integration successfully ar in a cost efficient manner, and the failure to do so could have a material adversa
effect on our business, financlal condition, or resuits of cperations.

Even if we are able to complete the GCA integration successfully, this integration may not result In the full
realization of the growth opportunities and synergies we anticipated and curently expect from this integratior, and we
cannot guarantee these benefis will be achleved within anticipated timeframes or at all. In addition, the overafl
integration may resudt in unanticipated problems, expenses, fabilities, competitive responses, luss of client and other
relationships, or loss of key employees, any of which may adversely affect our resulls of operations and may cause
our stock price to decline.

We incurred a substantial amount of debt to complete the acquisition of GCA. To service our debt, we will
require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our controf,
We also depend on the profitability of our subsidiaries to satisfy our cash needs. If we cannot generate the
reguired cash, wo may niot be able fo make the necessary payments required fo service our Indebtedness or
we may be requirad to suspand certain discretionary payments, including our dividend.

In connection with the acquisition of GCA, we refinanced and replaced our existing credit facility with a new
syndicated secured credit facility (the "Cradit Facility”) consisting of a $900 million revolving line of credit and an $800
milllon amortizing term loan with a five-year term. Although we have paid down portions of this indebtedness, our future
ability to make payments on our debt, furd our other liquidity needs, and make planned capital expenditures will depend
on our abllity to generate cash. Our abllity {o generate cash, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial,
competitive, and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot guarantee fhat our business will generate
sufficient cash flow from our operations or that future borrowings will be avallable to us in an amount sufficient to enable
us to make payments on our debt, fund other liquidity needs, make planned capital expenditures, or continue our
dividend.

The degree to which we are currently leveraged could have important consequences for shareftolders. For
example, it could: require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to the payment of debt
service, reducing the avallability of our cash flow to fund working capital, share repurchases, capital expenditures,
acuisitions, and other general corporate purposes; imit our avallability to obtain additlonal financing in the future to
enable us to react to changes In our business; and place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to businesses
In our Industry that have less dept,

Additionally, increased borrowings increase curinterest expense, which could negatively impact our profifability.
Because current interest rates on our credit facility are variable, an increase in prevailing rates would increase owr
Interest costs, Further, our credit facility contains both financial covenants and other covenants that imit our ability to
engage in speciic transactions, Any failure to comply with covenants in the credit facility could result in an event of
default that, if not cured or waived, would have a material adverse effect on us.

Changes fo our businesses, operating structure, financial reporting structure, or personnef relating to the
implementation of our 2020 Vision strategic transformation initlative, togsther with process and tachnofogy
initiatives following the acquisition of GCA, may not have the dasirad effects on our financial condition and
resuits of oparations.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, we announced our 2020 Vislon, which is intended to differentlate ABM in
the marketplace, accelerate revenue growth for certain industry groups, and improve our margin profile. VWhile we
have made progress In implementing this initiative, we may not be able to fully execute on this strategy to the extent
expected within the anticipated timeframe ag a result of numerous factors, such as client resistance to an integrated
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approach, Inability to deliver requested end-to-end services, and difficulty penefrating cerlain markets, Moreover,
githough we may be able to jeverage scale to manage costs more efficlently and effectively, the realignment of our
business operations may nof provide us with the anticipated competitive advantage or revenue growih,

In connection with our 2020 Vision and following the acquisition of GCA, we are making significant investments
in information technalogy, but there can be no assurance these investments witt have the desired results in improving
the delivery of our senvices. in addition, planned changes to our business systems and processes may not create the
operational efficiencies or cost benefils that we expect and could result in unanticlpated consequences, including
substantial disruption to our back-office operations and service delivery.

In addition, the planned move of GCA's back-office functions to the ABM enterprise service center may create
risks retating to the processing of fransactions and recording of financial information. During the transition period, we
could experience 4 lapse in the operation of intemal controls due to tumover, lack of legacy knowledge, or inappropriate
{raining, which could resul in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses,

Qur success depends on our ability to gain profitable business despite compeljtive pressyres and on our
ability to preserve feng-term client relationships.

We believe that each aspect of our business is highly competitive and that such competition is based primarily
on price, qualily of service, and abifily 1o anticipate and respond to industry changes. A majority of our revenue is
derived from projects requiring competitive bids. The low cost of entry in the facllity services business results in a very
competitive market, We malnly compete with regicnal and Jocal owner-operated companies that may have more acute
vision into loced markete and significantly lower labor and overhead costs, providing them with a competitive advantage
in those regards. Ve also compete indirectly with companies that can perform for themselves one or more of the
services we provide. Additionally, many of our confracts provide that our clients pay certain costs at specified rates,
such as Insurance, healihcare cosis, salary and salary-related expenses, petroleum, and ofher costs. We may
experience higher operating costs related to changes in laws and regulations regarding employee benefits, minimum
wage, and other entitiements promulgated by federal, state, or iocal governments or as a resuff of increased local
wages necessary to attract employees due to changes in the unemployment rate. If actual costs exceed the rates
specified in the contracts, cur profitability may be negatively Impacted. Further, if we are unable to respond adequately
to changing technology, we may lose existing clients and fail to win fufure business opporiunities. These strong
competitive pressures could inhibit our success in bidding for profitable business and our apility to increase prices as
casts rise, thereby reducing margins.

We primarily provide senvices pursuant fo agreements that are cancelable by either parfy upon 30-90 days'
notice, As we generally Incur higher iniflal costs on new contracts until the labor management and facilities operations
normalize, our business associated with long-temm client relatienships I generally more profitable than short-term
ciient relatfonships, if we lose a significant number of long-term cllents, our profitability could be negatively impacted,
even if we gain equivalent revenuas from new clients.

We depend to a large extent on our relationships with clients and our reputation for quality integrated faciiity
solutions, Maintaining our existing client relationships, Including retaining GCA clients as we compfete the rebranding
of the GCA entities, is an important factor cantributing to our business success, Among other things, adversa publicity
stemming from an accident or other incident invalving owr faciiity operations or empioyees related to injury, lliness,
death, or allaged criminat activity could harm our reputation, result it the cancefiation of condracts or inability fo retain
clients, and expase us to significant Hability.

Qur Business syccess depends o our ability 1o attract and retain qualiffed persennel and senior management.

Our future performance depends on the continuing services and contributions of our senior management and
on our continued ablfity fo aftract and refaln qualifled personnel, Any unplanned tumover in senior management ar
Inabifily to atiract and retain qualified personne] could have a negative effect on our results of operations. We employ
approximately 140,000 persons, and our operations depend on the services of a large and diverse workforce. We must
attract, train, and retain a large and growing number of qualified employees while controlling refated labor costs. Our
ability to control labor and benefit costs Is subject to mimerous internal and extemal factors, including changes in the
unemployment rate, changes In Immigration policy, regulatory changes, prevailing wage rates, and competition we
face from other compantes for quaiified employses, There is no assurance that we will be able to attract or retain
quatified employees in the future, which eould have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Our use of subcentractors or joint venture partners fo perform work under customer contracts exposes us
to liability and financial risk.

We depend on sukcontractors or other parties, such as joint venture partners, to perfonm work In situations in
which we are not abie to self-perform the work involved, Such arrangements may invoive subcontracts or joint venture
relationships where we do not have direct control cver the performing party. A failure, for whatever reason, by one or
more of our subcontractors or joint venture partners to perform, or the alleged negligent performance of, the agreed-
upon services may expose us te liabiity. Although we have in place controls and programs to monior the work of our
subcontractors and aur joint venture partners, there can be no assurance that these controls or programs will have
the desired effect, and we may Incur significant liabliity as a resulf of the actions or Inactions of one or more of our
subconiracters or joint venture pariners.

Our international business involves risks different from those we face in the United States that could have an
effect on our results of operations and financlal condition.

Wa have business operations in jurisdictions outside of the United States, most significantly in the United
Kingdom {"U.K."). Our International operations are subject to risks that are different from those we face In the United
States and subject us to complex and frequently changing laws and regulations, including differing laber laws and
regulations relating {o the protection of certaln information that we colfect and maintain about our employees, clients,
and other third parties. Among these laws is the U.K. Modem Slavery Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and the European
Union General Data Protection Regufation {the “GDPR"), which teok effect in May 2018, The failure to comply with
these laws or regulations couwld subject us fo significant litigation, monetary damages, regulatory enforcement actions,
or fines in one or more jurisdictions, More generally, the economic, political, monetary, and operational impacts of
Brexit, Including unanticipated impacts to the U.K. real estate market and general economic conditions in the United
Kingdom, could negatively impact our U.K. business, including reducing our margins.

In addition, when we parficipate in joint venfures that operate outside of the United States where we are not
a controfling party, we may have fimited control over the joint venture. Any impraper actions by our joint vanture
employees, partners, or agents, incheding but not liméed fo fallure to comply with the 115, Foreign Comupt Practices
Act, the UK, Bribery Act, andfor laws refating to human trafficking, could result in ¢ivil or criminal investigations,
monetary and non-monetary penalies, or other consequences, any of which could have an adverse effect on ouwr
firancial position as well as on our reputation and ability to conduct business.

Additionally, the operating results of our non-U.$, subsidiaries are transiated into U, S, doflars, and those resuits
are affected by movements in foreign currencles relative to the LS. dollar. There can be no assurance that the foregoing
factors wil not have a material adverse effect on our intemational operations or on our consvlidated financial condition
and results of operations.

Unfavorabie developments In our class and representative actions and other lawsuits alleging various claims
could cause us to incur substantial liabilities,

Our business involves employing tens of thousands of employees, many of whom work at our clients’ facilittes,
We Incur risks relating to our employment of these workers, including but not fimited fo: claims of misconduct or
negligence on the part of our employees; claims refated to the employment of unlicensed personnel; and claims by
our employees of discrimination, harassmend, violations of wage and hour requirements, or violations of other federal,
state, or local laws. We also incur risks and clalms rejated to the imposition on our employees of policies or praclices
of our clients that may be different from our own. Some or all of these claims may lead fo liigation, including class
action litigation, and these matters may cause us to incur negative publicity with respect to alleged claims. Additionally,
there are risks to all employers in some states, such as Califomia, resulting from new and unanticlpated judiciat
interpretations of existing laws and the application of those new Interpretations against employers on a retroactive
basis. it Is not possible to predict the outcome of these lawsuits or any other proceeding, and our insurance may not
cover all claims that may be asserled against us. These lawsuils and other proceedings may consume substantial
amounts of ouwr financlal ahd managerial resources. An unfavorable outcome with respect to these lawsuits and any
future lawsuits could, individually or in the aggregate, cause us to ingur substantial liabilitles that could have a material
adverse effect upon our business, reputation, financial condition, or results of operations.



We insure our insurable risks through a combination of insurance and self-insurance, and we retain a
substantial portion of the risk associated with expected losses under these programs, which exposes us to
volatifity associated with those risks, including the possibility that changes In estimates of ulfimate insurance
Iesses could result in material charges agalnst our earnings.

We use a combination ofinsured and seff-insurance programs {o cover workers' compensation, general fiability,
automobile lability, property damage, and other insurable risks, We are responsible for claims both witiin and in excess
of our retained fimits under our insurance policies, and while we endeavor fo purchase insurance coverage that is
appropriate to our assessment of rlsk, we are unable to predict with certainty the frequency, nature, or magnitude of
clams for direct or consequential damages. If our insurance coverage proves to be inadequate or unavaitable, our
business may be negatively impacted.

The determination of required insurance reserves Is dapendent upon significant actuarial Judgments. We use
the results of actuarial studies to estimate insurance rates and insurance reserves for fulure periods and 1o adjust
reserves, if appropriate, for prior years. Actual experience refated £o our Insurance reserves can cause us to change
our estimates for reserves and any such changes may materially impact results, causing significant volatiity in our
operating results. We have previously experienced material negative trends In our actuarial estimates and may continue
to experience these and other material negative trends in future periods.

Sheutd we be unable to renew our excess, umbrella, or other commercial insurance policies at competitive
rates, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, as would the incurrence of catastrophic uninsured
claims or the inabllity or refusal of our Insurance carriers to pay otherwise insured claims, Furiher, to the extent that
we self-insure our losses, deterjoration in our less canfrol and/or our continuing claim management efforts could
increase the overali cost of claims within our retained limits, A material change in our insurance costs due fo changes
in the frequency of claims, the severity of the claims, the costs of excess/umbrelia premiums, or reguiatory changes
could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, resuits of operations, or cash flows.

In 2015, we formed a wholly-owned captive insurance company, IFM Assurance Company (“IFM™), which we
belleve has provided us with increased flexibilify in the end-to-end management of cur insurance program. There can
be no assurance that IFM will continue to bring about the intended benefits or the desired flexibility in the management
of our insurance programs, because we may experience unanticipated events that will reduce or sliminate expected
benefits, including anticipated savings related to coverage provided by IFM to our subsidiaries.

Our risk managemeant and safety programs may not have the intended effect of reducing our liabiiity for
personal Injury or property foss.

We atternpt to mitigate risks relating to persenal injury or property loss through the Implementation of company-
wide safety and loss contro] efforis designed to decrease the Incldence of accidents or events that might increase our
liabitity. It is expected that any such decreasa would also have the effect of reducing our insurance costs for our casualty
programs. However, incidents involving personal injury or properfy loss aften are caused by muliple factors, a significant
number of which are beyond our control. Therefore, there can be no assurance that our risk management and safety
programs wilt have the deslred effect of contrefling costs and fiability exposure,

Impairment of goodwill and long-fived assets could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.

We evaluate goadwill for impalrment annuafly, in the fourth quarter, or more often if impairment indicators exist,
We also review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in dreumstances Indicate that the carrying
amount of stich assets may not be recoverabla, if the fair value of one of our reporting units is less than its camying
value, or if as a result of a recoverability test we conclude that the projected undiscounted cash flows are less than
the carying amount, we would record an impairment charge related to goodwili or long-lived assets, respectively. The
assumptions used to determine impairment require significant jJudgment and the amount of the impairment could have
a material adverse effect on our reported financial results for the period In which the charge Is taken.

Changoes in general economic conditions, including changes in energy prices, government regulations, and
changlng consumer preferences, could reduce fhe demand for facility services and, as a result, reduce our
eamings and adversely affect our fimancial condition.

Incertain geographic areas and service fines, our most profitable revenues are related o supplemental services
requested by cilents cutside of the standard service specification (“tag worl™). This contract typs is commeonty used in
Janitoria! services and includes cleanup after {enant moves, construction cleanup, fioed cleanup, and snow removal,
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A deciine in occupancy rates could result in a decline in scope of wark, inciuding tag werk, and depressed prices for
our services. Slow domestic and intemational ecanomic growth or other negative changes in global, national, and local
economic conditions could have a negative impact on our business, Specifically, adverse aconomic conditions may
result in clients cutling back on discretionary spending. Additionaliy, since a significant portion of our aviation services
and parking revenues are tied to the pumber of aifline passengers, hotel guests, and sports arena attendees, resulls
for these businesses could be adversely affected by curtaifment of business, personal fravel, or discretionary spending,
The use of ride sharing services and car sharing services may also lead to a decline in parking demand at alrports
and In urban areas.

Energy efficiency projects are designed to reduce a client’s overall consumption of commodities such as
electricity and natural gas. As such, downward fluctuations in commodity prices may reduce client demand for our
services. We also depend, in part, on federal and state legisiation and poficlas that support enargy efficlency projects,
If current legislation or policies are amended, eliminated, or not extended beyond their current expiration dates, or If
funding for energy incentives is reduced or delayed, it could also adversely affect our abliity {0 obtain new business,
In some Instances, we offer certain of these clients guaranteed energy savings on installed equipment. In the event
those guaranteed savings are not achleved, we may be required to pay liquidated or other damages. All of these factors
could have an adverse effect on our financla position, results of operations, and cash flows.

Qur business may bo materially affected by changes to fiscal and tax policies, Negative or unexpected tax
consequences could adversely affect our results of operations.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 made significant changes to the U.S. Intemal Revenue Code that will go
into effect over several years. Such changes include a reduction in the corporate tax rate as well as limitatlons on
cerlaln corporale deductions and credils that could have & negative impact on our business. In addition, adverse
changes in the underlying profitabiiity and financia! outfook of our operations or changes in fax law could lead to
changes in our valuation allowances against deferred tax assels on our consofidated balance sheets, which could
materially affect our results of operations. Furthermore, we are subject {o tax audits by governmentat authorities,
primarlly in the United States and United Kingdom. If we experience unfavorable results from one or more suceh tax
audits, there could be an adverse effect on our tax rate and therefore on ouwr net income.

We may expurionce breaches of, or disruptions to, aur Information technology systems or those of our third-
party providers or clients, or other compromises of our dafa that could adversely affect our business,

Qur information technology systems and those of our third-party providers or clients could be the target of
cyber attacks, hacking, unauthorized access, computer viruses, maiware, of other intrusions, which could result in
operational disruptions or informatlon misappropriation, such as theft of intellectual property or inappropriate disclosure
of confidential, proprietary, or personal information. We maintain confidential, proprietary, and personal informatton
relafing to our current, former, and prospective employees, clients, and other third parties in our information technology
systems and in systems of third-party providers, We have experienced certain data and security breaches in the past
and could experience future data or security breaches stemming from the Intertional or neghigent acts of our employees
or otiver third parties. Furthermere, while we continue to devete significant resources {o monitoring and updating our
systems and implementing information security measures to protect our systems, there can be no assurance that any
controls and procedures that we have In place will be sufficiond to protect us from fudure security breaches. As cyber
threats are continually evolving, our conirols and procedures may become inadequate and we may be required to
devote additional resources to modifying or enhancing our systems In the future, We may also be required to expend
resotress to remediate cyber-related incidents or to enhance and sirengthen our cyber security.

Any such disruptions to ouwr information technology systems, breaches or compromises of data, andfor
misappropriation of Information could result in Iost sales, negative publicity, litigation, violation of privacy and other
laws, or business delays that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

A significant number of our employees are coverad by collective bargaining agreements that coujd expose
us to pofential liabllities In relationship to our participation in muitiemployer pension pians, requirements to
make contributions fo other benefit plans, and the potential for sirikes, work slowdowns or similar activities,
and union-organizing drives,

We participate in various multiemployer pension pians that provide defined pension benefils to employees
coverad by collective bargaining agreements. Because of the nature of mulliemployer pension plans, there are rigks
associated with participation in these plans that differ from single-employer pfans. Assets contributed by an employer
to a mulliempioyer pension plan are not segregated into a separate account and are not restricted fo provide benefits
onlyto employees of that contributing employer. In the event another participating employer in a multiemployer pensien
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plan ne fanger contributes to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be berne by the remaining participating
employers, including us. In the event of the fermination of a multiemployer pension plan or a complete or partial
withdrawal from a multiemployer pension pfan, under applicable law we couwld Incur material withdrawal abifities. We
further discuss our participation in multiemployer pension and postretirement plans In Note 13, “Empioyee Benefit
Plans,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemants, In addition, the terms of collective bargaining agreements
require us to condribute to various fringe benefit plans, including health and welfare, pension, and {raining plans, afl of
which require us to have appropriate systems in place to assure timely and accurate payment of contributions, The
failure to make timely and accurate contriputions as a resulf of a systems fallure could have a negative Impact on our
financiat position.

At October 31, 2018, approximately 34% of our employees were subject to various Jocal collective bargaining
agreements, some of which will expire or become subject to renegotiation during 2019. In addition, at any given time
we may face union organizing activity. When one or more of our major collective bargalning agreements becomes
stbject to reregotiation or when we face union organizing drives, we and the union may disagree on important issues
that could lead to a strike, work slowdown, or other job actions at one or more of our locations, In a market where we
are unionized but compelitors are not unionized, we could lose cfients to such competitors, A strike, work slowdown,
or other job action could disrupt our services, resulting in reduced revenues or contract cancellations. Moreover,
negotiating a first time coflective bargaining agreerment or renegotiating an existing agreemsnt could result in a
sulzstantial increase In fabor and benefifs expenses that we may ke unable fo pass through to clients.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controf over financial reporiing In the future, our ablilty fo
produce accurate and timely financial statemernts could bo negatively impacted, which could harm our
operating resulis and investor perceptions of our Company and as a resulf may have a material adverse effact
on the value of our common stock.

Pursuant fo Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and related rules, our management is required to
report on, and ourindependent registered public accounting firm Is required to atlest to, the effectiveness of our Intermal
control over financlal reporting, The rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess our
intemal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing, and possible
remediation, We have acquired entities that had no publicly traded debt or equity and therefore were not required to
conform to the nides and regulations of the SEC, especially as i relates to intemal contro] structure, When we acquire
such entities, they may not have in place all the necessary controls as required by the Public Company Accounting
OCwversight Board, Integrating acquired entities into our intemal control over financial reporting has required and will
continue to require significant time and resources from our management and other personnel and increases our
compliance costs. We are required to include our assessment of the effectiveness of the internal controls overfinancial
reperting of entltles we acquire In our overalt assessment. We plan to complete the evaluation and integration of internal
contrels over financial reporting and report our assessment within the required time frame.

In addition, with the Increasing frequency of cyberrelated frauds perpetrated to obtin inappropriate payments,
we need to ensure our intemnal controfs refated to authorizing the fransfer of funds and changing our vendor master
tiles are adequate. Fallure to maintain an effective intemnal control enviranment could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to accurately report our financial results, the market's perception of our business, and our stock price.

Our business may be negatively impacted by adverse weather conditions,

Weather conditions suich as snhow storms, heavy flooding, hurricanes, and fluctuations in temperatures can
negatively impact portions of our business, Within our Technical Solutions segment, cooler than normal temperatures
inthe summer could reduce the need for servicing of air conditioning units, resulting in reduced revenues and profitabifity,
Within Parking and Aviation sendices, snow can lead to reduced travel activity, as well as Increases In certain costs,
both of which negatively affect gross profit. On the other hand, the absence of snow during the winter could cause us
to experience reduced revenues in our B&I segment, as many of our contracts specify additional payments for snow-
related services,

Catastrophic ovents, disasters, and terrorist atftacks could disrupt our services,

We may encounfer disruptions involving power, communications, transportation or other utilities, or essential
services depended upon by us or by third parties with whom we conduct business. This could include disruptions as
the result of natural disasters, pandemics, weather-refated or similar events (such as fires, hurricanes, blizzards,
earthquakes, and floods), political instability, iabor strilkes, or war (including acts of terrorism or hostilities) that could
impact our markets, if a disruption accurs in one location and persons in that location are unable to communicate with
or fravet to or work from other locations, our ability to service and interact with our ciients and others may suffer, and

12

we may not be able to successifully implement contingency plans that depend on communications or travel. These
events may increase the volatifity of financial resulls due to unforeseen costs with partial or no comesponding
cormpensation from clients. There also can be no assurance that the disaster recovery and crisis management
procedures we employ will suffice in any particular situation to avoid a significant loss. In addition, to the extent
centralized administrative locations are disabled for a long period of time, key business pracesses, such as accounts
payable, information technology, payroll, and general management operations, could be inferrupted.

Actions of activist investors could disrupt our business,

Public companles have been the target of aclivist Investors. In the event that a third party, such as an activist
investor, proposes to change our governance policies, board of directors, or other aspects of our operations, our review
and consideration of such proposals may create a significant distraction for our management and employees, This
could negatively impact our ability to execute our 2020 Vislon and may require management to expend significani
time and resources responding {o such proposals. Such proposals may also create uncertainties with respect to our
financial position and operations and may adversely affect our abifity 1o attract and retain key employees,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVELD STAFF COMMENTS,
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES,

Our principat executive office is located at One Liberty Plaza, 79 Floor, New York, New York 10008, As part
of our 2028 Vislon, in 2016 we began consolidating our operations fo increase efficlency and effecflveness,

Principal Properties as of Qctober 31, 2018

Lease Expiration
Approximate Date, Unless
Square Fest Owned

Segment

10/31/2027 Al

' Corporate H) o
New York, New York Headguarters 44,000 N , 1BI?0§2 F:orpora:e and B&|

Tustin, CA Oparatlons Support 45,000 Ti31/2029 Technical Solutions

“ Approximately 10,000 sguare fast are sublet.

In addiflon to the above properties, we have other offices, warehouses, and parking facilities in various locations,
primarily in the United States. We believe that these properties are weii maintained, in good operating condition, and
suitable for the purposes for which they are used.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS,

We are a parly to a number of lawsuits, claims, and proceedings incident to the operation of our business,
including those pertaining to labor and employment, contracts, personal injury, and other matters, some of which allege
substantial monetary damages. Sume ofthese actions may be brought as class actions on behalf of a class or purported
class of employees, While the results of these lawsuits, claims, and proceedings cannot be predicted with any certainty,
ourmanagement belleves that the final cutcome of these matters will not have a material adverss effact on our financial
position, resulis of operations, or cash flows.

Certain Legal Proceedings

Certain lawsuits to which we are a party are discussed below. In determining whether to include any particular
lawsuit or other proceeding, we consider both quantitative and qualitative factors. These factors include, but are not
limifed to: the amount of damages and the nature of any other relief sought in the procesding; i such damages and
other relief are specified, our view of the merits of the claims; whether the action is or purports o be a class action,
and our view of the likelinood that a class wilt be certified by the court; the jurisdiction in which the proceeding is
perding; and the potential impact of the proceeding on our reputation.

The Consciidated Cases of Bucio and Martinez v. ABM Janiferial Services filed on April 7, 2008, in the Superior
Gourt of Galifornia, County of San Francisco (the “Bucio case’}

The Bucfo ¢ase is 4 class actlon pending In San Francisco Superior Court that alleges we failed to provide
legally required meal periods and make additional premium payments for such meal periods, pay split shiff premiums
when owed, and reimburse janitors for travel expenses. There s also a clalm for penalties under the Califomnia Labor
Code Private Attomeys General Act (PAGA”). On April 18, 2011, the trial court held a hearing on plaintiffs’ motion to
certify the class. Atthe conclusion of that hearing, the trial court denied plaintifts’ motion to certify the class, On May 11,
2011, the plaintiffs filed a motion to reconsider, which was denied. The plaintiffs appealed the class ceriification issues,
The trial court stayed the underlying lawsuit pending the decision in the appeal. The Court of Appeal of the State of
Califarnia, First Appellate District (the “Court of Appeal”), heard oral arguments on November 7, 2017, On December
14, 2017, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial courl's order denying claes certification and remanded the matler for
certification of a meal period, travel expense relmbursement, and split shift class, The case was remitted to the triaf
eourt for further proceedings on class certification, discovery, dispositive maticns, and frial.

On September 20, 2018, the frial court entered an order defining four certified subclasses of Jankors who were
employed by the legacy ABM janitorial companies in California at any time between April 7, 2002 and April 30, 2013,
on claims based on previous auto deduction practices for meal breaks, unpaid meal premiums, unpaid spiit shift
premiums, and unreimbursed business expenses, such as mileage reimbursement for use of personal vehicles to
travel between worksites, The period of ime covered by the PAGA claim will also be considered by the court shortly.
This matter has not been set for trial. Prior o {rial, we will have the opportunity fo move for summary judgment, seek
decertification of the classes, or mediate, if we deem such actions appropriate.

Hussein and Hirsi v. Air Serv Corporation filed on January 20, 20186, pepding in the United States District
Court for the Western District of Washingfon af Seattle (the “Hussein case") and

sse of al. v. Alr Serv Corporation filed on February 7, 2017, in the Superior Gourf of Washinglon for King
County (the “isse case”}

The Hussein case was a certified class action involving a cfass of certain hourly Alr Serv employees at Seattle-
Tacoma Intemnational Airport in SeaTac, Washington. The plaintiffs alleged that Air Serv violated a minimum wage
requirernent in an ordinance applicable to certain employers in the local city of SeaTac (the “Ordinance”). Plaintiffs
sought retroactive wages, double damages, Interest, and attorneys’ fees, This matter was removed to federal court.
In a separate lawsuit brought by Filo Foods, ELC, Alaska Alrlines, and several other employers at SeaTac Airport, the
King County Superlar Court (the "Superior Court”) issued a decision that invalldated the Ordinance as & applied to
workers at SeaTac Alrport. Subsequently, the Washington Supreme Court reversed the Supsrior Court's decision. On
February 7, 2017, the Isse case was filed against Air Serv on behalf of 60 individual plaintiffs (who would otherwise
be members of the Hussein class), who alleged fallure to comply with both the minimum wage provision and the sick
and safe time provision ofthe Ordinance. The Isse plalntiffs sought retroactive wages and sick benefits, double damages
for wages and sick benefits, interest, and aHomeys' fees. The fsse case later expanded to approximately 220 individual
plaintiffs. :
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In mediations on November 2 and 3, 2017, and without admitting liability in ¢ither matter, we agreed o setife
the Hussein and /sse cases for a combined fotal of $8.3 million, Inclusive of damages, interest, attorneys' fees, and
employer payroll taxes. Eligible empioyees will be able to participate in either the Hussein or Jsse settlements, bt
cannot recover in hoth seftlements. The settlements in both cases require court approvat because of the nature of the
claims being released. On December 8, 2017, the Superior Court approved the setilement agreement for the 220 fsse
plaintiffs, and we subsequently made a seftfement payment of $4.5 milfton to the /sse plaintiffs in January 2018, $3.8
million remalns accrued for the Hussein case,

On July 30, 2018, the United States District Court forthe Western District of Washington at Seattle preliminarily
approved the settiement in the Hussein case. At the final approval hearing on December 4, 2018, the court {I) accepted
opt-out notices from 78 Husseln class members {the “opt-out members™) indicating their intent to participate in separate
lawsults (leaving 386 class members in the Hussein class), (i) directed the parties to recalculate the settlernent amount
by deducting the setflement funds atiributaile to the 78 opt-out members, and (i} requested other minor changes,
hut indicated that the court intended to grant final approval of the setilement with these changes. On December 20,
2018, the court issued #s order granting final approval of the class action setilement. The Hussein settlement funds
will be paid in February 2018, provided there are no appeals or requests for review of the final approval order. The
amount of the settlement funds attributable to the 78 opt-out members is approximately $0.9 million.

Castro and Marmolejo v. ABM Industries, Inc., et al, filed on Cclober 24, 2014, pending in the United
States District Cotrt for the Northerm District of California (the “Castro case”}

On October 24, 2014, Plaintiff Mariey Casiro filed a class action lawsuit alleging that ABM dld not reimburse
janitorial employees In Californla for using their personal cell phones for work-related purposes, in violation of Califomnla
Labor Code section 2802, On January 23, 2015, Plalntiff Lucia Marmolejo was added to the case as a named plaintifr,
On Oclober 27, 2017, plaintiffs moved for class certification seeking to represent a class of all employees who were,
are, or will be emploved by ABM In the State of Califomia with the Employee Master Job Description Code
"Cleaner” (hereafter referred {o as “Cleaner Employees”) beginning from October 24, 2010. ABM filed its opposition
1o ciass certification on November 27, 2017, On January 26, 2018, the district court granted plaintiifs’ motion for ciass
certification, The courl rejected plaintiffs’ proposed class, instead certifying three classes thaf the court formulated on
its own: (1) all employees who were, are, or wil be employed by ABM in the State of Calfornla as Cleaner
Employees who used a personaf cefl phone to punch n and out of the EPAY system and who (a) worked at an ABM
facility that did not provide a biormetric clock and (b) were not offered an ABM-provided cell phene during the period
beginning on January 1, 2012, through the date of nutice to the Ciass Members that a class has been certified in this
action; (2) all employees who were, are, orwill be employed by ABM inthe State of Callfornia as CleanerEmployees who
used a personal cell phone to report unusual or suspicious circumstances o supervisors and were not offered (a) an
ABM-provided ceil phone or {b) a two-way radio during the period beginning four years prior to the filing of the original
complaint, October 24, 2014, through the date of notice to the Class Members that a class has been cerlified in this
action; and (3) all employees who were, are, or wilf be employed by ABM in the State of California as Cleaner
Employees who used a personal cell phene to respond to communications from supervisors and were not offered (a)
an ABM-provided cell phone or (o) a two-way radlo durlng the period beginning four years prior to the filing of the
original compiaint, Octeker 24, 2014, through the date of notice to the Class Members that a class has been certified
in this action,

On February 8, 2018, ABM filed a pefition for permission to appeal the district court's order granting class
certification with the Unied States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cireuit, which was denied on April 30, 2018, On March
20, 2018, ABM moved to compe! arbliration of the claims of certain class members pursuant {o the terms of three
colfective bargaining agreements. In response to that mation, on May 14, 2018, the district court madified the class
definition o exclude all claims arising after the operative date(s) of the applicable coflective bargaining agreements
(which is June 1, 2016 for cne agreement and May 1, 2016 for the other two agreements). However, the district court
denied the motion to compel arbitration as to clalms that arose prior to the operative date(s) of the applicable collective
bargalnlng agreements. ABM has appealed o the Ninth Circui! the district court's order denying the motion fo compel
arbifration with respect to the periods preceding the operative dates of the collective bargaining agreements.

After & court-ordered mediation held on October 15, 2018, the parties agreed fo a class action seftiement of
$5.4 mifflon, subject to court approval, We anticipate the plaintiffs' motion for preliminary approval wili be filed with the
court in the first quarter of fiscal year 2019, and a hearing on the moticn Is expected In the first or second quarter of
fiscal year 2019,



{TEM 4, MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
Mot applicable.
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PART i

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information and Dividends

Our common stock is Estad on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: ABM). The following table sets forth the
high and low sales prices of our commion stock on the New York Stock Exchange and quarterly cash dividends declared
on shares of commeon stock for the periods indicated.

Flscal Quarter
Flrst Second Third Fourth

4F!‘sr.a| Year 2017
: ige of cammon stock:

$ 4503 8 4468 3 4493 5 4512
e 504178

Dividends declared per share ' $ 0470 § 0470 $ 0170 8

0470

We have paid cash dividends every quarter since 1965, Future dividends wilt be determined based on our
eamings, capital requirermnents, financial condition, and other factors considered relevant by our Board of Directors,

Commeon Stock Repurchases

On September 2, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $200.0 miilion of our
common stock, Purchases may take place on the open market or otherwise, and all or part of the repurchases may
be made pursuant fo Rule 10&5-1 plans or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing of repurchases is at our
discretion and will depend upon several factors, including market and business conditions, future cash flows, share
price, and share avaliability. Repurchasett shares are retired and retumed {0 an authorized but unissued status, The
repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time without prior natice. We did not repurchase any
shares during the fourth quarter of 2018. At October 31, 2018, authorization for §134.1 milfion of repurchases remained
under our share repurchase program.

Stockholders
At December 20, 2018, there were 3,053 reglstered holders of our common stock,

17



Performance Graph

The following graph compares the five-year curnuiative total return for our common stock against the Standard
& Poor's 500 index ("S&P 500°) and the Standard & Poor’'s SmaliCap 600 Index (*S&P 600"), As our compefitors are
principatly privately held, we do not befieve i is feasible to construct a peer group comparisen on an industry or fine-
of-business basls.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

$200

$150

$100

$50
$0 v v -
2013 2014 2018 2018 2017 2018
e ABM Endustries Incorporated e SGP 500 Indes wrieeSHP SmallCap 600 index
INDEXED RETURNS
Years Ended October 31,

Company / Index 2013 2014 2045 2016 2017 2018
ABMindustrles Incorporated - 0§10 0100 80 02,9/ 8.00108.0.08 2 U104 5. 188,308 1237
E&P 500 Index - 100 117.3 1711
$&P SmallCap 660 Indax " 100.:70408.8 £1e1.8"

This performance graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material’ or “filed” with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or sublect to Regulation 14A or 14C, or subject to the Fabifties of Section 18 of the Sequrities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The comparisons in the performance graph are based on historlcal data and are
not indicative of, or intended to forecast, the possible future performance of our common stock,
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The foliowing selected financial data should be read In conjunction with item 7., "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financlal Condition and Results of Operations,” and ftem 8,, "Financial Statements and Supplemantary
Data.” Unless otherwise indicated, all references {o years are to our fiscal year, which ends on Oclober 31,

Years Ended October 31,

2018 2017 2018 2ME 2014
fir madil 2} 6
statemenls ot Ccimprehensive Income Dnta o - T
Revanusst s 54422 § 64538 s 51447 $4B8397.8 $4540.7

Operating profi?. i
Income from continiing operauons
Ingorrta (fass) from discantiided operations, net of taxes™.:
Per Share Data
‘Nt nicaime per common share ~ Basic
Income from oontinumg uparatluns
Netincoms’-" ;
Na: income per mmmon share — Dliutsd
tnmma frorn ‘cantinuingy operations.
Net incomme

Weightad-averaga common and commor
- i-equivalent shares.outstanding -

Basic
- Dildted.: S
Dividends declarad per common shara
‘Statements of Cash Flow Data 700 : hE
Net cash provided by operating acﬂvlhas afcon&nulng opafatmns $ 2097 % 1007 § 105 § 1458 § 1158
Income tex (refinds) payments, iet!® - e e ey e

‘IU‘E 9
. T5.1 .
C4TaB)

+
oy
o
A
e
(o
S
R

LiA0E e AT

bR sl At Ocioberat,
(i millrenst 8 2017 2016 2016 2014

Balance Shoat Bata. i
Totofassats sa,eiz?.s $aa126 522783 $21au7 321765

Trate accounts receivable, netof diiowances®
Goadwil®
{OlheF intangible asssts, nat of accuniutated amortization®
Long-term debs, net™ o ) -
Instiranca elalms

) Revenues in 2018 included $858.1 million of incremental revenus from acqulsitions, primarily $855.7 mitlion related o the
acquisition of GCA Services Group (FGCA”). Revenues in 2017 inciuded $208.1 million of Incremental revenus from acqulsitions,
including $168,7 million related to GCA.

@ Faciors affecting comparability of apsrating profit consisted of the following:

*  Operating profit in 2018 was positively Impastad by $67.6 million of incremental operating profit resulting from the GCA
acquisition and an $11.8 million lower seffinsurance adjustment, partially ofset by $34.4 million of higher amortization
expense and impairment charges of $26.5 miflon. Additionalfy, 2018 benefited from the absence of $24.2 million of
fransaction expenses related to the BCAacquisition incurred in 2017, pertially offset by a $17.4 milllon impairmaent recovery
recorded In 2017 related to our Governmant Services businass.

»  Operating profitin 2017 benefited from & $17.4 milfon impairment recovery, a $10.9 million lower self-insurance adjustment,

a recuction in restructuring and related expensas, and procurement and organizational savings from our 2626 Vislon
initiatives, all offset by $24.2 milfion of fransaction expenses ralated to the GCA acquisition,
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»  Operating profit in 2016 was negalively impacled by insurance expense of $49.6 milion, consisting of a $32.9 mifion
urfavorable selfinsurance adjustment related to prior yaar cfalms and $16.7 milfion of higher insurance expense due to
anincrease in the rate used to record our insurance reserves during 2016, Operating profit was also unfavorebly impacted
oy $29.0 mlilion of 2828 Viston restructuring and reiated charges and a $22,5 milion impairmant charge for our Govemment
Servicas business, conslsting of both goodwill and long-livad asset charges. Oparating profitin 2016 was faverably iImpacted
by approximately $22 mifiion in savings from cur 2020 Visien Inltlatives,

+  Qperating profit in 2018 was negatively impacted by a $35.% miflion unfaverable self-insuranca adjustmant related to prior
year claims.

@ ya had income from discontinued operations in 2018 of $1.8 million due to an Insuranca reimbursement on a fegal setijement
and coliaction of previously written off raceivables, partially offset by union audd setilements, Thaloss from discontinued operations
i 2017 included legal settlements assoclated with aur former Security pusiness of $120.0 mifion. fncome from discontinued
operations for 2015 reflected the $14.4 millicn efter-tax gain on the sale of the Security business.

“ Nat income tax payments were lower 9y $19.4 mitlion during 2018 due to a rafund received for prior year lagal sefflements,
Additionally, we had cash tax savings of spproximately 87 million for 2048 and $70 mitlon ferbath 2017 and 2018 related {o coverage
provided by IFM Assurance Company, our wholly-owned captive insurance company. During 2014, net income tax paymants
increased as ceriain tax assets were substantially ufllized.

®1Trade accounts receivabis, net of allawances, increased by $118,1 midion on September 1, 2017 as aresult of ihe GCAacquisitien.

© Goodwill decreased in 2018 due to an impalrment charga of $20.3 million related to the acquisition of Westway Services Holdings
{2014} Lid. (“Wastway™) and to & $7.0 milion adjustment to the final GCA purchase price allecation. Geodwill Increased by $833,9
mitiion or: September 4, 2017 as a result of the GCA acquisition and by $563.8 million on December 1, 2015 due o the Westway
acquisition.

™ tn 2018, other intangibla assats, net of accumulated amortization, was reduced by an impairment charge of $6.2 million related
to the Westway acquisiticn and a $1.0 milion adjustment to the final GCA purchase price allocatien. During 2817, we racorded
$349.0 millicn of ather intangible assels as a result of the GCA acquisition,

®0n September 1, 2017, we refinanced and replaced our existing $800,0 milfior: credit facllity with a new securad $1.7 biflion credit
faciity, which we used to partially fund the GCA acquisition. During 2015, wa usad the cash proceads from the sale of the Secursty
business to pay down & portion of our line of cradit.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
{"MD8A™} is Intended to faclitate an understanding of the results of operations and financial condition of ABM Industries
Incorporated and its subsidiaries {collectively referred to as "ABM,” “we,” "us,” "our,” of the "Company”). This MD&A
is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes ("Financlal Statements®). This MD&A contains both historical and forward-looking statements,
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that Involve risks and uncertalnties. We
make forvard-fooking statements retated to fufure expectations, estimates, and projections that are uncertain and
aften contain words such as “anticipate,” "believe,” “could,” "estimate,” "expect,” "forecast” “intend,” “Bkely,” "may,"
“outlook,” "plan,” “predict,” "should,” “target,” or other similar words or phrases, These statements are not guaranteas
of future performance and are sublect {o known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult
to predict. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed In Part 1. of this
Form 1G-K under lfem 1A, “Risk Factors,” which are incorporated herein by reference. Our future results and financial
condition may be matezially differant from those we currently anticipate.

Throughout the MD&A, amounts and percentages may not recalculate due to rounding. in addition, we have
revised our prior period segment information to reflect changes to our operating structure following the integration of
GCA Services Group {"GCA"), These changes had no impact on our previously reported consuolidated balance sheets,
statemants of comprehensive Income {foss), or statements of cash fows, Unless otherwise indicated, all information
in the MD&A and references to years are based on our fiscal year, which ends on October 31, '

Business Overview

ABM is 2 leading provider of integrated facility solutions, customized by industry, with a misslon o make a
differance, every person, svery day.

2020 Viston

In September 2015, we announced a comprehensive fransformation Inifiative (2020 Vislon®) intended to drive
long-term, profitable growth through an industry-based go-fo-market approach. In connsction with our 2020 Vislon,
we have achieved savings through the realignment of our organization by Industry group, divested businesses that
were not at the core of aur strafegy, cenfralized key funclional areas, strengthened our sales capabilities, initiated
investrments in service delivery tools and processes, improved our employee engagement programs, and added to
our position &s a leading Integrated senvice provider through the acquisition of GCA. We continue focusing tn several
key initiatives across our organization to sustain our 20:2{ Vislon strategy and profitakly deliver leading Industry-based
facility solutivns,

Systems and Tachnology Transformation

Following the acquisition and integration of GCA, we are targeting significant investments in our information
technology infrastructure. We have begun to upgrade sevaral key platforms, including our human resources information
systems, enterprise resource planning system, and labor management systerm, We are also ulilizing technology to
help improve processes company-wide, including account planning, labar management, payrell, and procurement. To
further improve work order management, we have also launchad a “Tag Pricer” too] that alfows us to capture work
orders more efficiently. We belleve these improvements wil help simplify our operating environment, drive productivity,
and create consistency and efficlency across our organlzation.

Strategic Growth

We are fosused on long-term, profitable growth related to both new and existing clients across and within our
Industry groups. We believe operational leverage from our sirategic growth inltlatives, combined with our continued
focus on operational efficiency, will increase profitability,

Cost Optimization

We continue to centralize many of our back-office functions through our Enterprise Services Center in Sugar
Land, Texas {o help drive consistency in practice and support operating efficiency. In addition, by consoclidating
purchasing aclivities wa have been able to leverage our scale, increase our purchasing power, and Identify preferred
suppliers, which has enabled cost saving opportunities in supplies and materials procurement.
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Davelopments and Trends

Econeiic Labor Cutiook

The U,S, economy continues to demensirate positive underlying fundamentals, with expanding gross domestic
product growth and improving employment conditions, which have led to historically low levels of both unemploymant
and underemployment across the country. These factors have contributed 1o the lower availability of qualified labor
for aur business and higher tumover in certain markets, as our employees have more job opportunities both Inside
and outside cur industry. This in turn has caused, and may continue to cause, higher labor and related perscnnat costs.

United States Tax Reform

The Tax Culs and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act”), which was enacted on Decernber 22, 2017, represents the most
slgnificant overhaul of the U.S. tax code in more than 30 years. Among other provisions, the Tax Act provides for a
reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% and a “transition {ax” to be levied on the deemed
repatriafion of indefinifely reinvested eamings of intemational subsidiaries. Since we have an Cctober 31 fiscal year-
end, the lower corporate income tax rate was phased in, resulting in a U.S. statutory federal rate of 23.3% for fiscal
2018 and 21% for subsequent fiscal years, Other provisions under the Tax Act become effective for us in fiscal 2018,
including limitations on deductibilily of interest and executive compensation, as wel as a new minimum tax on Global
intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI"). As a result, in 2018 we expect cur effective tax rate to Increase from the 2018
rate, The impact of the Tax Act, 48 summarized below for the year ended October 31, 2018, is further described in
Note 17, “Income Taxes,” In the Financial Statements,

Yaar Ended
October 31, 2018

Due to the compiexities of implerenting the provisions of the Tax Acl, the staff of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 ("SAB 1187, which provides guldance on accounting for
tax effects of fhe Tax Act and permits a measurement period not to exceed one year from the enactment date for
companles to compiete the required analyses and accounting, As permitted under SAB 118, the adjustments we
recorded due fo the Tax Act, including the remeasurement of deferred tax assefs and Habilifies and the transition tax,
were based on reasonable estimates and were considered provislonal during the year. As of October 31, 2018, the
one-time impact of the change in tax rate on our deferred {ax assets and liabllities is complete, Additionally, we have
completed our assessment of GILT! and have established a policy to account for this tax on a period basis beginning
in fiscal year 2079, We have also completed our analysis of the one-time fransition tax and recorded the impact.

Acquisition of GCA during 2017

On September 1, 2017 (the "Acquisition Date™), we acquired GCA, a provider of Integrated facllity services to
educational institutions and commercial facilities, for approximately $1.3 billion, consisting of $837.5 million in cash
{revised during the second quarter of 2018 to reflact a post-closing purchase price adjustment refated to a net warking
capital settlement) and approximately 8.4 millfon shares of ABM common stock with a fair value of $421.3 million at
closing. Refer to Note 3, “Acquisitions,” in the Financia! Statements for more information on this fransaction.

Qur consolidated statements of comprehensive income and statements of cash flows include GCA's resulis
of operations in 2018, but exclude GCA's results of operafions in the comparative years prior to the Acquisition Date,
During the year ended Octaber 31, 2018, we recognized total revenue from GCA of $1,0 biflion, including incremental
revenues of $855.7 miflion, as detailed in the table below.
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Yoear Ended Year Endod
October 31, 2018 October 31, 2017

:Technp!oy & Manufacturing

169.7

$ 1,028.2 $

Following this acquisition, we initiated a restructuring program to achieve cost synergies from our combined
operations. We Include these costs within corporate expenses. We do not expect fo Incur significant severance
expenses related fo GCA restructuring in the future,

Year Ended
October 31, 2018 Cumulative

,Totai : & ..21.-7 s. e 23.:.’..4

Insurance

The adequacy of our reserves for workers' compensation, general liability, automobile lability, and property
damage Insurance claims is based upoh known frends and events and the actuarial estimates of required reserves
considering the most recently completed actuarial reports. We use ali avaliable Information to develop our best estimate
of insurance claims reserves as [nformation is obtained, The results of actuarial studies are used to estimate our
Insurance rates and Insurance reserves for future periods and fo adjust reserves, If appropriate, for prior years, The
actuarial studies indicated the changes we have made to our risk management program have reduced the frequency
of ciaims; however, we are experiencing adverse developments that impact claim costs relating to prior periods, Claim
management initiatives include programs to identify claims that have the potential to develop adversely earier in the
dlaims cycle and ensure the establishment of reserves consistent with known fact patterns. However, with respect to
claims related fo certain prior fiscal years, the actuariat studies showed unfavorable developments in our estimates of
ultimate losses related to general liability, properly damage, workers' compensation, and automobile Hability claims.
Additionally, we Increased our estimate of ultimate losses for workers' compensation claims, primarily related to claims
in California, due to increases in projected costs and severity of claims in certain prior fiscal years, as wel| as statutory,
regulatory, and legal developmaents.

Based on the resulls of the actuarial studies performed during 2018, which included analyzing recent lass
development patterns, comparingthe loss development against benchmarks, and applying actuarisl projection methods
to defermine the estimate of ultimate losses, we increased our total reserves for known ciaims as wel as our estimate
of the Joss amounts associated with incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR Claims®) for years prior to 2018 by $10.2
méion during 2018. This adjustment was $11.8 mitlon lower than the total adjustment of $22.0 million related to prior
year claims in 2017,
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Government Services Business

At Oclober 31, 2016, the assets and liabilities of our former Government Services business were classified
as held for sale, at which time we wrote down goodwill and long-lived assefs of this business by $22.5 million to reflect
our best estimate of fair value less costs to seff, using all information available at that time. During the second guarter
of 2017, we received an offer from a strategic buyer to purchase this business for approximately $35.0 million, which
was higher than our previous estimate of fair value less cosis to sell. As aresult, we recorded a $17.4 million impaiment
recovery to adjust the falr value of certaln previously impaired assets o the valuation of the assets as implied by the
agreed-upon sales price, [ess eslimated costs fo sell. We sold this business on May 31, 2017 for $35.5 million and
recorded a pre-fax gain of $1.2 million, The reported resulls for this business are through the date of sale and future
results could include ren-off costs, As this business has been sold and is no longer part of our ongoing operations, we
have excluded a discussion of its results for the periods in this report.

Key Financial Highlights

» Revenues increased by $388.6 million, or 16.1%, during 208, as compared to 2017. This included $855.7
mifllon of incremental revenues from the September 1, 2017 acquisition of GCA.

+  Qperating profit increased by $36.7 million, or 36.1%, during 2018, as compared to 2017. The increase in
operating profit is primarily attributable to $67.6 million of incremental operating profit resutting from the GCA
acquisition and an $11.8 million lower self-Inswance adjustment, partially offset by $34.4 million of higher
armortization expense and Impairment charges of $26.5 million. Additionatly, 2018 benefited from the absence
of $24.2 million of transaction expenses related to the GCA acquisition incurred in 2017, pantially offset by a
$17.4 milfion impairment recovery recorded In 2017 related o our Government Services business.

« Interest expense increased by $34.9 miliion during 2018, as compared to 2017, primarily related to increased
indebtedness incurmed to fund the GCA acquisition and higher refative interest rates under our credi facility,
partially offset by amortization of $2.5 million related to the gain realized on owr interest rate swaps.

«  Cur Income taxes from continulng operations for 2018 were favorably impacted by a net tax benefit of $23.2
mitlion related to the Tax Act.

«  Net cash provided by operating aclivities of continuing operations was $298.7 million during 2018.

»  Dividends of $46.0 milion were paid to shareholders, and dividends totaling $0.700 per commeon share were
declared during 2018,

+ At October 31, 2018, total outstanding borrowings under our credit facility were $848.0 miflion, and we had
up te §467.3 million of borrowing capacity under our cradit {acility; however, covenant restrictions limited our
actual borrowing capacily to $441.3 million,
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Results of Operations

The Year Ended October 31, 2018 Compared with the Year Endad Octoper 31, 2017

Consolidated

Years Ended October 31,
iffioy 2018 2017

Increase f {Decrease)

Operating expenses

hompféhenstve-ihcume 3 1080 % 152 § 93.8

* Not meaningfut

Ravenues

Revenuss increased by $988.5 million, or 18,1%, during 2018, as compared to 2017, The increase In revenyas
was primarily atiributable to $858.1 milllon of incremental revenues from acquisitions, mainly GCA, as wef] as organic
growth in B&I, T&M, Technical Solutions, and Aviation, This increase was pariiaily offset by the sate of our Government
Senvices business on May 31, 2017.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased by $866.2 miflion, or 17.7%, during 2018, as compared to 2017, The increase
was primarily atiributable to $763.1 miflon of incremental operating expenses from the GCAacqguisition and an increase
in wages and related personnel costs due to a tight tabor markst. Gross margln increased by 28 bps in 2018, as
compared o 2017, The increase In gross margin was primarily associated with a lower self-insurance adjustment
related to prior year claims as a result of actuarial studles, favorable margins in our U.S. Technical Solutions business,
and the termination of an unprofitable Aviation contract in the third quarter of 2017, all partially offset by lower profit
margins on certain B&| accounts.

Seolling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $1.4 mifen, or 0.3%, during 2018, as compared
to 2017. The increase in sefiing, general and administrative expenses was primarily related to;

+  $32.8 million of incremental expenses related to the GCA acquisition;

« & $6.4 miliion increase in technology invesiments and related support;
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+ the absence of a $3.2 mifflon reimbursement of previously expensed fees associated with a concluded internal
investigation imto a foreign entity formerly affifiated with a joint venture during the prior year; and

« a $3.2 mHfion increase in expenses related to certain incentive plans due fo the timing of awards,
This increase was partially offset by:
+  the absence of $24.2 million of transaction expenses related to the GCA acquisition;

«  a $3.4 milllon adjustment to decrease our medicat and dental insurance reserves as a result of actuarial
evaluations performed in 2018,

= a$2.7 milion decrease in rental expense dus to office consalidations in the prior year;
v & 325 million decrease i travel and entertalnment expenses;

@ $2.1 million detrease in legal setflement costs, net of a $7.0 miliien reimbursemant of previously expensed
legal setflement costs;

»  §1.9 mifion of Jower compensation and related expenses; and
= a$1.5 million decrease in bad dabt expense,
Restructuring and Related Expenses

Restructuring and related expenses increased by $4.8 million, or 23.1%, during 2018, as compared to 2017,
asz a result of restycturing refated 1o the GCA acquistion, partially offset by the completion of our 2020 Vislon
organizational realignment.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amartization of Intanglble assets Increased by $34.4 million, during 2018, as compared fo 2017, as a result
of the amaortization of acquired intangible assets associated with the GCA acquisition.

Impairmont Loss (Recovery)

During 2018, we recorded impairment charges on goodwill and customer ralationships related {o our UK.
Technical Solutions business tofaling $26.5 miflion. In 2018, declining operating performance of this business primarily
reflected the adverse impact of Brexit and the resulting Impact on microecenomic conditions in the UK, retail sector.

On May 31, 2017, we sold our Government Services business for $35.5 million. Based on the initlal offer of
$35.0 million received during the second quarter of 2017, we recorded a $17.4 milfion impairment recovery to adjust
the fair value of certaln previeusly impaired assets. In connection with the sale, during the third quarier of 2017 we
recorded a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.2 milfion due to a working capital settlernent,

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $34.% milon, during 2018, as compared to 2017, primarily related to increased
indebtedness incurred to fund the GCA acquisition and higher relative Interest rates under our credit facility, partially
offset by amortization of $2.5 million related to the interest rate swap gain.

Income Taxes from Continuing Operafions

During 2018, we had an income tax benefit of $8.2 million, compared to a provigion of $8.8 million in 2017,
QOur Income taxes in 2018 bensefited fromy: a net tax benefit of $23.2 millien related o the enactment of the Tax Act,
$5.8 miliion, including interest of $1.0 millicn, related fo explring statutes of imitations for uncertain tax positions; $3.4
milillon of excess tax benefits related to the vesting of share-based compensation awards; and $2.8 million related to
tax deductions for energy efficient govemment builtings. These benefits were partiaily offset by a $1.0 million reduction
in certain tax credits, including the prior year WOTC for new hires. Gomparatively, 2017 was favorably impacted by:
a benefit of $17.8 million, inciuding interast of $1.2 million, related to expiring statutes of limitations for uncertain tax
positions; $3.8 miffion of excess tax benefits refated to the vesting of share-based compensation awards; $1.9 million
of tax deductions for energy efficient government bulldings; and the 2017 WOTC for new hires,
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Disecontinuad Operations, Net of Taxes

During 2018, we had income from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of §1.8 milicn, compared with a loss
from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $74.3 milfion during 2017, a change of $76.1 milfion. This change was
due to an insurance relmbursement on a legal settfernent and collection of previously written off receivables, partially
offset by union audit settternents during 2018, compared with a legal reserve established in the prior year in connection
with certain legal setfiement agreements,

interest Rate Swaps

During April 2018, we elected to terminate all of our interest rate swaps for cash proceeds of $25.9 miilion.
The resulting gain is being amortized from AOQCI to inferest expense over the term of our Credit Facility,

Foreign Currency Translation

During 2018, we recognized as a component of our comprehensive income a foreign currency translation loss
of $4.7 million compared to a gain of $9.7 milllon during 2017. This change was related to the U.S. Dollar ("USD")}
strengthening against the Great Britain Pound ("GBP™) during 2018, Future gains and fosses on foreign currency
translation will be dependent upon changes in the refative value of forelgn currencies fo the USD and the extent of
our foreign assets and Kabiities,
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Segment infarmation

Ourreportable segments consist of Business & Industry ("B&J"), Aviation, Technology & Manufacturing (“T&M"),
Education, Technical Selutions, and Healticare, Refer to Note 2, "Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting
Palicies,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for informatlon related to our former Government Services
buslness.

Financial Information for Each Reportable Segment

Years Ended October 31,
2018 2017

Increasa / (Decrease)

__Eusiné#s&indush’y § 20178 § 26291

"'_rechnoluéy & Manufacturing

=‘.I“eahnical Selutlens

Eévemment Sarvices

Operaﬂng profit (loss)
Bl.:siness & Indush'y

_Techmcal Soluﬁuns
O;Jem Ung profit mergln

Adjus!mant for Income from unconsolidated aff
Inciuded in Awation and Government Services

1018 §

* Not meaningful
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Business & Industry
Years Ended October 31,

E in mﬂlmm] 2018 2017 Increase

; e 202!

18.0 14.0%

“’2018 and 2017 include $7.5 millien and $1,3 millicn, respecllvely of amortization expanse re!alad to the GCA acqulsmon.

BEJ revenues increased by $288.5 million, or 11.0%, during 2018, as compared to 2017, The increase was
primarily attributable o incremental revenues of $143.0 million from the GCA acquisition and to organic net new
business, primarily new confract wins in the United Kingdom, as well as fargeted expansion of key clients within the
United States. Management reimbursement revenues for this segment totaled $257,1 millfion and $234,1 million during
2018 and 2017, respectively,

Operafing profit increased by $18.0 milflon, or 14.0%, during 2018, as compared o 2017, Operating profit
margin increased by 14 bps %0 5.3% in 2018 from 5.2% in 2017, Operating profit margin was positively Impacted by
the management of selfing, general and administrative expenses and higher margins on certain accounts. The
improvement was partially offset by lower margins on certain accounts and an increase In amortization expense related
to the GCA acquisition. While labor challenges are present In certain areas of our B3| business, It Is cur most mature
business and has the highest proportion of unionized labor

Aviation
Years Ended October 31,
& inmtiifonsi 2018 2017

Increasa { {Decrease)

'Operatmg profit
fit margin

(2_1) (8:5)%

Aviation revenues Increased by $33.4 miflion, or 3.4%, during 2018, as compared fo 2017, The increase was
primarily attributable to higher management reimbursement revenue and arganic growih in catering logistics, cabin
cieaning, and transportation services, as well as incramental revenues of $14.5 million from the GCA acquisition, This
increase was partially offsat by the foss of certain passenger services, facility services, and janiforial accounts.
Management reimbursement revenues for this segment totated $39.9 million and $80.4 million during 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Operating profit decreased by $2.1 million, or 8,5%, during 2018, a3 compared to 2017, Operating profit margin
decreased by 29 bps to 2.3% in 2018 from 2.6% in 2017, This decrease in operating profit margin was primarily
attributabte to lower margins and operational pressures on cerlain accounts and a provision for the setflement of a
union wage and benefits audit. This decrease was partially offset by the termination of an unprofitable contract in the
third quarter of 2017,

Technology & Manufacturing
Years Ended October 31,

{5 it millions) 2018 2017 Increase

40.8%

"Operating profit®? i9.8

2018 and 2017 includa $10.8 million and $1.9 million, respectively, of amartization expense related to the GCA acquisition.

T&M revenues increased by $227.1 miflion, or 32,8%, during 2018, as compared fo 2017. The increase was
primarily aftriutable to incremental revenues from the GCA acquisilon of $198.1 milllon, expansion of aexisting
accotirds, and net new business.

Operating profit increased by $19.6 million, or 40,8%, during 2018, as compared to 2017, Operating profit
margin Increased by 43 bps to 7.3% In 2018 from £.8% in 2017, Operating profit margin was positively impacted by
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certain higher margin acquired contracts, partially offset by higher amortization expense related to the GCA acquisition
and an increase in wages and related personnel costs in certain markets,

Education
Years Ended October 31,

(8 in millions) 2018 2017 Increase

©2018 and 2017 insiude $26.1 million and $4.6 millicn, respectively, of amortization expenss related 1o the GCA acquisition,

Education revenues increased by $474.4 million during 2018, as compared to 201 7. The increase was primarily
atiributable to incrementaf revenues from the GCA acqulisition of $475.5 mililon,

Operating profi increased by $25.8 million during 2018, as compared to 2017, Operating prof¥ margin increased
by 27 bps to 5.2% in 2018 from 5.0% in 2017, The ncrease in operating profit margin was primarily due o cerfain
higher margin contracts and the reversal of certain reserves, partially offset by higher amortization expense related to
the GCA acquisition and an increase in wages and related personnel costs In certaln markets,

Technical Solutions

Years Ended Octeber M,
2018 2617
43

increase ! (Docrease)

Technical Solutlons reventies increased by $26.0 million, or 5.9%, during 2018, as compared o 2017. The
increase was primarily attributable to higher bundled energy solutions project revenuss in our U.S, business dus to
the iiming of new projects.

Operating profit decreased by $21.1 milfion, or 56.0%, during 2018, as compared fo 2017. Operating profit
rargin decreased by 499 bps to 3.6% In 2018 from 8.5% in 2017, The detrease in operating profit margin was primarily
attributable to impairment charges on geodwill and customer relaticnships related to our LLIK, business totaling $26.5
million during 2018, as well as the loss of certain higher margin contracts in our U.K, business, partially offset by
favorable margins on certain projects in our U_S. business and higher tax deductions for energy efficient govemment
uilding projects,

Healthcare
Years Ended Qctober 31,

(8 in piiltions) 2018 2017

Operating profit

Increase / {Decrease)

Healthcare revenues Incraasad by $25.8 million, or 10.4%, during 2018, as comparad {o 2047, This increase
was ptimarily atiributable to incremerdal revenues from the GCA acquisition of $24.6 million and net new business.

Operating profil decreased by $1.8 million, or 17.4%, during 2018, as compared to 2017. Operating profit
margin decreased by 108 bps to 3.2% in 2018 from 4.3% in 2017, This decrease was primarily atiributable to lower
margin new business, partially offset by the management of selling, general and administrative expenses and the
absence of a specific reserve for a client receivable,
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Years Ended October 31,
2018 2017 Decrease
AR ¥ 20 '-

Corporate expenses decreased by $20.2 million, or 10.7%, during 2018, as compared to 2017, The decrease
in corporate expenses was primarily related to:

« the absence of $24.2 millicn of transaction expenses related to the GCA acquisition;
+  an §11.8 miflion lower adjustment to self-insurance reserves refated to prior year claims;

= a $3.4 million adjusiment to decrease our medical and dental insurance reserves as a result of actuarlal
evaluations performed in 2018; and

« a$2.0milion decrease In legal settlement costs, net of a $7.0 million relmbursement of previously expensed
legal settlement costs,

‘This decrease was partially offset by,
»  a56.4 million increase In technology investiments and related support;
» & $4.8 milllon increase In restructuring and related costs as a result of the GCA acquisition;

+ the absence of a §$3.2 milfion reimbursenent of previously expensed fees associated with a concluded intemal
investigation into a foreign entity formerly affiliated with a joint venture during the prior year;

v &$3.2 million increase in expenges related to certain incentive plans due to the timing of awards; and

= $1.5 million higher compensation and related expenses primarily related to hiring additional personnel to
support our 2020 Vislon initiatives, as well as incremental expenses related to the GCA acquisiton.
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The Year Ended October 31, 2017 Compared with the Year Ended October 31, 2016

Consolidated

Years Ended October 31,
(8 in miltions} 2017 2018 Increase / (Decrease}
“Reventi - 7 - - T

Dparating.eipenses

nieresiraie swaps
Foraign currency translation
neora ek provision
Comprehensive income

(50.5)%

*Not meaningful

Revenues

Reveriues increased by $308,9 million, or 6.0%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. The increase in revenues
was primarily attributable to $208.1 miflion of incremental revenues from acquisitions, including GCA, and organic
growth of $120,7 million in Aviation and $39.6 million in B&I. This increase was partially offset by the sale of our
Govemment Services business on May 31, 2017, the loss of certain confracts in T&M, and the compietion of a large
energy savings performance contract ("ESPC”).

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased by $277.8 million, or 6.0%, during 2017, as compared {0 2016. Gross margin
remained fiat at 40.5% In 2017 and 2016, Gross margin was positively impacted by a jower self-insurance adjustment
related to prior year claims and savings from owr 2020 Visfon inftistives. However, gross margin was negatively
impacted by a cantract termination within our Aviation business and the loss of a multi-location janitorial account in
T&M.

Selling, General and Administrativs Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $26.5 million, or 6.5%, during 2017, as compared
to 2016, The increase In selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily related to;

s $24.2 million of transaction expenses related o the GCA acqulsition;

« an $8.1 million increase in costs associated with 2020 Visien technology investments;
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»  §5,8 milllon of higher compensation and related expenses primarily related ta hiring additional personnel to
support our 2020 Vislen initiatives, which was reduced by a reversal of cerlain expenses related to Incentive
plans;

+  $4.1 million of Incremental seliing, general and administrative expenses refated to the GCA acquisition; and
»  a%$2.3 miifion increase in iepal expenses,
This Increase was pariially offset by:

+ an $68.8 milfion reduction in bad debt expense primarily associated with the absence of specific resarves for
certain client receivables that were recorded in 2016;

+ 2 §3.2 million reimbrsement during 2017 of previously expensed fees assoclated with a concluded intemnal
investigation into a foreign entity fonmerly affifiated with a joint venture;

* & $2.7 million decrease in sales tax reserve compared with the sales tax reserve in 2018; and
= organizational savings from our 2020 Vision Initiatives.
Restructuring and Related Expenses

Restruciuring and related costs decreased by $8.1 miflion, or 28.1%, during 2017, as compared fo 2016, as
a result of the completion of our 2020 Vislon organizational realignment and related employee severance in 2016,

Impairment (Recovery) Loss

On May 31, 2017, we sold our Government Services business for $35.5 mifion. Based on the initlal offer of
$35.0 mittion recelved during the second quarter of 2017, we recorded a $17.4 million impairment recovery fo adjust
the fair value of certain previously impaired assets. In connecfion with the sale, we recorded a pre-tax gain of
approximately $1.2 milion, witich is reflected as part of impairment (recovery) loss in the results of aperations table
above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $8.8 million, or 84.3%, during 2017, as compared to 2016, primarily related {o
increased indebtedness incurred to fund the GCA acquisition and higher refative interest rates under our credit faclitty.

Income Taxes

During 2017, we had an income tax provision of $8.8 million, compared with an income tax benefit of $10.4
million in the prior year. In 2017 we benefited from $17.8 million related to expiring statutes of limitations far uncertain
tax positions, compared with $20.8 million in 2016, The 2017 period also benefited from $3.6 million of excess tax
benefits related {o the vesting of share-based compensation awards and $1.9 million of tax deductions on energy
efficient govemment buildings, compared with $2.2 milion and $1.2 million In 2016, respectively, Additionally, in 2018
we benefited from WOTC of $5.1 million from the refroactive reinstaternent of the WOTC for calendar year 2015. Both
periods benefited from in-year WOTC.

Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Taxes

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes was $74.3 milllon during 2017 refated to a legal reserve
established in connection with certain settlemant agreements.

Forefgn Currency Translation

During 2017 we recognized as a component of our comprehensive income a foreign currency translation gain
of $9.7 million compared with a [foss of $26.3 million during 2016, This charige was related to the USD weakening
against the GBP during 2017, Future gains and losses on foreign currency transtation will be dependent upon changes
in the refative value of foreign ctirancies to the USD and the extent of our foreign assets and Eabilities.
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Segment Information Business & industry
Years Ended October 31,
£2 In millions) 2017 2016
e . A 5%
111.6

Financial Information for Each Reportapble Segment

Years Ended October 31,
2017 2016 Increase § {Decrease)

B&l revenues increased by $72.0 million, or 2.8%, during 2017, as compared to 2016, The increase was
primarily atiributable to new janitorial business, including new contract wins In the United Kingdom and additional tag
revenus, as well as expansion of existing facilily services accounts, and $27.4 millfion of incremental revenues from
the GCA acquisition. Management reimbursement revenues for this segment totaled $234.1 million and $227.8 miilon
during 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Opersting profit increased by $24.0 million, or 21.5%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. Operating profit
margin increased by 79 bps ta 5.2% in 2017 from 4.4% in 2016. The Increase In operating profit margin was primarily
associated with higher margin revenues, cost control savings from our 2020 Vision initiatives, and lower legal settfement
costs, This increase was partially offset by reserves recorded for multiemployer union benefit abligations from previous
years and by lower profit margins associated with certain leased focation amangements,

Aviation
Years Ended October 31,
{8 in prillions) increase / {Decrease)
‘Revendes: e T
g profit (

Operatin,
i Opsrating proft nangit

Aviation revenues increased by $138.9 million, or 16.3%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. The increase
was primarily attributable to organic growth in parking, transportation, passenger services, cabin cleaning, and facility
senvices. Management reimbursement reventres for this segment totaled $80.4 million and $78.2 million dwring 2017
and 2018, respectively.

Cperating profit decreased by $2.4 milfion, or 8.6%, during 2017, as compared to 2016, Operating profit margin
decreased by 70 bps to 2,6% in 2017 from 3,3% in 2016, The decrease In operating profit margin was primarily
attrlbutable to a contract termination during 2017 and aperational issues In cerfain geographic markets. This decrease
was partially offset by lower allocated costs from our 2020 Vislon initiatives and the absence of both & penalty imposed
by a regulatory agency and a specific reserve established for a client recelvable in 2018,

Technology & Manufacturing

Years Ended October 31,
2017 2016

*Not meaningiul (3 i nillions}

:Operatir;g profit
: poftn

T&M revenues increased by $18.1 million, or 2,7%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. The increase was
primariiy related to incremental revenues from the GCA acquisition of $39.6 million, partially offset by the loss of certain
accounts.

Operating profit decreased by $7.0 million, or 12.7%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. Operating profit
margin decreased by 121 bps to 8,9% in 2017 from 8,1% in 2016, The decrease in operating profit margin was primarily
attributable to lower contribution margin from certain contracts, including the joss of a multidocation janitoriat account,
and higher amortization expense from the GCA acguisitlon,
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Education

Years Ended October 31,
2017 2016

Increase / {Dacroase)

Operating profit
s Operating proptmargin 1

Education revenues increased by $91,0 miiiion, ar 33.5%, during 2017, as compared to 2016, The increase
was primarily attributable to incremaental revenues from the GCA acquisition of $94,9 million.

Operafing profit increased by $0.6 million, or 3.7%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. Operating profit margin
decreased by 143 bps to 5.0% in 2017 from 6.4% in 2016, The decrease in operating profit margin was pririarily
atiributable to the loss of certain higher margin contracts and higher amorfization expense from the GCA acquisition,

Technical Solutions
Yesrs Ended October 31,

iy 7017 2016

: gp
£ Gperiiing proRt maran

Technical Sclutions revenues increased by $14.3 miillon, or 3.4%, during 2017, as compared to 2018, The
increase was primarily aliributable to incremental revenues from acquisitions of $18.1 million and higher project
revenues, parlially offset by the completion of a large ESPC project.

Operating profit Increased by $8.7 mililon, or 29.9%, turing 2017, as compared to 20116, Operating profit margin
increased by 175 bps to 8.56% in 2017 from 6.8% in 2016, The increase in operating profit margin was primarily
attributable to the completion of a refatively ower margin ESPC project that started In 2016, the management of our
selling, general and administrative expenses, a reduction in bad debt, and higher operationat tax credits for energy

efficient government building projects.

Healthcare
Yoars Ended October 31,
2017 2016 Increase / {Decrease)
2475 § . 2420

7
5

Operafing profi 408

21 {16.2)%
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Healthcare revenues mcreased by $4.8 million, or 2.0%, during 2017, as compared to 2016. This Increase
was primarily attribudable fo incremental revenues from the GCA aequisitlon of $5.0 milifon.

Operating profit decreased by $2.1 milion, or 16.2%, during 2017, as compared to 2018. Operating profit
margin decreased by 83 bps 0 4.3% In 2017 from 5.2% In 2016. This decrease was primarily attributable to lower
margin hew business and a speclific reserve established for a client receivable.
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Corporate

Years Ended Qctoher 31,
2017 2016 Increase
189.0: y

Corporate expenses increassd by $21.8 million, or 13.0%, during 2617, as sompared to 2018, The Increase
In corporate expenses was primarily refated to:

«  $24.2 million of fransaction expenses related to the GCA acquisition;
«  an $8.1 million increase in costs associated with 2020 Vision technology investments;
»  a55.8 miliion increase in other costs to support our 2020 Vision inifiatives;

+ a $§5.1 miflion increase in legal setifement costs, including a settlement relating to a case alleging certain
minimum wage violations;

+  $4.0 million of incremental expenses related to the GCA acquisition; and
+ a$23increase in legal expenses,
‘This increase was paniially offset by:

+ a $10.9 million decrease In sei-insurance expense related to prior year claims as a result of an aciuarial
evaluation completed during 2017;

« 4 §7.8 million decrease in restructuring and related costs as & result of the completion of our 2020 Vislon
organizational realignment;

+ the absence of a $5.2 milllon specific reserve established during 2016 for a portion of a cliend receivable that
ia the subject of ongoing litigation;

+ & $3.2 miffion reimbursement during 2017 of previously expensed fees associated with a concluded intemal
nvestigation into a foreign entity formerly affillated with a Joint venture; and

« & §1.9milion decrease in sales tax reserve.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary seurces of liquidity are operating cash flows and borrowing capacity under our credit facifity, We
assess our liquidity in ferms of our ability to generate cash to fund our short- and long-term cash requirements, As
such, we project our anticipated cash requirements as well as cash flows generated from operating activities to meet
those neads.

In addition to normal warking capital requirements, we anticipate that our short- and long-term cash
requirements will include funding legal seftiements, Insurance claims, dividend payments, capital expenditures, and
integration costs related to the GCA acquisition. We anticipate long-term: cash uses may alse include strategic
acquisitions and share repurchases.

We believe that our operating cash flows and borrowing capacity under our credit faciity are sufficient to fund
our cash requirements for the next twelve months. In the event that our plans change or our cash requirements are
greater than we anticipate, we may need to access the capital markets to finance future cash requiremnents. However,
there can be no assurance that such financing wilf be available to us should we need it or, if available, that the terms
will be satisfactory to us and not dilutive to existing shareholders.

COn a long-term hasts, we will continue to rely on our credit facility for any long-term funding not provided by
operating cash flows, [n addition, wa anticipate that future cash generated from operations will be augmented by
working capital Improvements driven by our 3630 Vislon, such as the management of costs through consofidated
procurement,

IFM Assurance Company (“IFM’) is a wholly-owned capfive insurance company that we formed in 2015, IFM
is part of our enterprise-wide, mult-year Inswrance strategy that Is intended to better position our risk and safely
programs and provide us with increased flexibility in the end-to-end management of our insurance programs. IFM
began providing coverage to us as of January 1, 2015, We had accelerated cash {ax savings refated to coverage
provided by IFM of approximately $7 miliion In 2018 and $10 mifflon in both 2017 and 2016. We project accelerated
cash tax savings for 2019 1o be approximately $6 million.

Credit Facility

On September 1, 2017, we refinanced and replaced our then-existing $800.0 mifilon credit facility with a new
senijor, secured five-year syndicated cradit facility (the “Credit Faciity®), consisting of a $900.0 miliian revolving line of
credit and an $800.0 mion amortizing term loan, schedubed to mature on September 1, 2022. In accordance with the
terms of the Credit Facility, the line of credit was reduced to $800.0 milllon on September 1, 2018. Initlal borowings
under the Credit Facility were used to finance, In part, the cash portion of the purchase price related to the GCA
acqtisition, fo refinance certain existing Indebtedness of ABM, and to pay transaction costs.

Our ability to draw down avallabje capacity under the Credit Facility is subject to, and limited by, compliance
with certain financlal covenants, which Include a minimum fixed charge coverage rafio of 1.50 to 1.0 and a maximum
Ieverage ratio that was 4.75 to 1.0 through April 2018 and steps down to 3.50 o 1.0 by July 2020, On September 5,
2018, we amended our Credit Faciity to Increase the maximum feverage ratio for flscal quariers commencing July 31,
2018 through April 30, 2021 by 25 basis points for such guarters, Other covenants under the Credit Facility include
limitations on liens, dispositions, fundamental changes, investments, and ceriain fransactions and payments. At
October 31, 2018, we were in compliance with these covenanis and expect to be in compliance in the foreseeable
future.

During the first quarter of 2018, we made $20.0 miliion of principal payments under the Credit Facllity. At
Cctober 31, 2018, the fotal outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility in the form of cagh borrowings and standiy
{efters of credit were $848.0 million and §152.8 million, respectively. At October 34, 2018, we had up to $467.3 millien
of borrowing capacity under the Credit FacilRy; however, covenant restrictions Emited our actual borrowing capatity
o $441.3 million.

Reinvestment of Forelgn Farnings

We plan to reinvest our foreign eamnings to fund future nen-U.5. growth and expansion, and we do not anticipate
remitting such eamings to the United States. While U.S. federal tax expense has been recognized as a result of the
Tax Act, no deferred tax liabilities with respect fo federal and state income taxes ar forelgn withholding taxes have
been recognized. \We befieve that our cash on hand in the United States, along with our Credit Facility and future
domestic cash flows, are sufficient to satisfy our domestic Hquidity requirements.
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Proceads from Federal Energy Savings Performance Contracts

As part of our Technical Solutions business, we enter info ESPCs with the federal government pursuant {o
which we agree to develop, design, engineer, and construct a profect and guarantee that the project will satlsty agreed-
upon performance standards. Proceeds from ESPC profects are generally received in advance of construction through
agreements {o selithe ESPC receivables to unaffiflated third partles. We use the advances from the third parties under
these agreements fo finance the projects, which are recorded as cash flows from financing activities, The use of the
cash received under these arrangements to pay project costs is classified as operating cash flows.

Effact of Inflation

The rates of inflation experienced in recent years have not had a material impact on our financial statements.
We attempt to recover Increased costs by increasing prices for our services, to the extent permitted by confracts and
competition,

Ragulatory Environment and Environmental Compliance

Our operations are subject to varlous federal, state, and/or local laws regulating the discharge of materials
into the environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, such as discharge into soil, water, and
alr, and the generation, handiing, storage, fransporiation, and dispesal of waste and hazardous substances. In addition,
fromtime to tima we are involved in environmental matters at certain of cur locations or in connection with our operations,
Historically, the cost of complying with environmental faws or resolving environmental issues relating to lecations or
operations in the United States or abroad has not had a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operatlons, or cash flows. We do not befleve that the resolution of matters known at this time wili be material,

Cash Flows

In addition to revenues and operating profit, our management views operating cash flows as a good indicator
of financial performance, because strong operating cash flows provide opportunities for growth both organically and
through acquisitions. Net cash provided by operafing activities of continuing operations was $288.7 million during
2018. Operating cash flows primarily depend on: revenue levels; the quality and timing of collections of accounts
receivable; the timing of payments to suppliers and other vendors; the timing and amount of income tax payments;
and the timing and amount of payments on Insurance claims and legal setttements.

Years Ended October 31,
2018 2017 2016

et

et cash proilded:
Net casl

h provided by (used In)

Operating Activifies of Confinuing Operations

Net cash provided by operaling activities of condinuing operations increased by $198.0 miflion during 2018,
as compared to 2017, The increase was primarily related fo the timing of client receivable collections, Including
colections from acquired GCA accounts, as well as proceeds from the termination of our interest rate swaps and a
year-over-year reduction of required cash insurance deposits included In other assets. This increase was parilally
offset by the timing of vendor payments,

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations decreased by $8.8 miiflon during 2017, as
corpared to 2016, The decrease was primarily related to the timing of client receivable coffections and income taxes
payable, but was partially offset by the timing of vendor payments.
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Operating Activities of Discontinued Qperations

Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations was $21.2 million during 2018, as
compared to net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations of $98.1 miliion in 2017, a change of
$147.3 million, primarily aftributable fo the payment of & $120.0 million legal setflement during 2017,

Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations increased by $69.1 milllon during 2017, as
compared to 2016, This increase was primarily attributable to $120.0 million of legal setllernent payments in 2017,
compared o the $20,0 million in taxes pald related to the sale of the Security business in 2016.

Investing Activities of Conlinuing Operations

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations decreased by $823,7 milllon during 2018, as
compared to 2017. The decrease was primarily due fo an $853.6 miflion year-over-year decrease in cash paid, net of
cash acquired, for acquisitions, partialy offset by the absence of $35.5 million of cash proceeds from the sale of our
Govemment Services business in 2017.

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations increased by $740.1 miliion during 2017, as
compared to 2016. The Increase was primarily related to a $757.6 million year-over-year Increase in cash paid, net of
cash acquired, for acquisitions, largely due to the GCA acquisition.

Investing Activities of Discontinued Operalions

Net cash uged In Investing activities of discontinued operations decreased by $3.1 million during 2017, as
compared o 2016, due to the absence of the final working capital adjustment from the sale of the Security business
pald in 2016,

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $295,8 miliion during 2018, as compared to net cash provided by
financing actévities of $874.0 milllon during 2017, primarily due to higher repayments of our barrowings in 2048,

Net cash provided by financing activilies increased by $821.4 million during 2017, as campared to 20186,
primarily refated io an increase in net borrowings in the fourth quarter of 2017 to fund the GCA acquisition and $38,7
million in lower common stock repurchases, partially offset by $18.7 million of defarred financing costs pald on the
new credit facility and $15.8 million of lower proceeds from ESPC projects during 2017.

Dividends

On Decernber 18, 2018, we announced a quarterly cash dividend of $0.180 per share on our common stock,
payable on February 4, 2019, We declared a quartetly cash dividend on our common stock every quarter during 2018,
2017, and 2016, We paid total annual dividends of $46.0 mifllon, $39.5 milffon, and $36.8 million during 2018, 2017,
and 2018, respectively,
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Contractual Obligations

Commitments Due By Period
2019 2020-202%  2022.2023 Thereafter
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 Barrowings under our term loan and line of credit are presented at face value,

@ Our estimates of future interast payments are calcutated besed on our hedged borrowings under our Credit Fasility, using the
fixed rates under our Interast rate swap agreaments for the applicable notionat amounts. See Note 12, “Credit Fadliity,” in the
Financial Statements for additional discloaure ralatad to our Interast rate swaps. We exclude interest payments on cur remaining
borrowings from this tabie bacausa the cash outlay for the Interest is unknown, The interast payments on the borowings under the
Cradit Facility will be determined based upon the average outstanding balance of our borrowings and the preveiling interast rate
during that tima.

¥ Refacts our contractual obligations to make fulure paymants under non-cancelable operating teases, capital iease agreaments,
and other simliar commitments for various facilities, vehicles, and other equipment.

" Raflects our contractual obligaticns to make future payments for outsourced senvices and ficensing costs pursuant fo our
Informetion technology agreements.

® Reflects future expacted payments relating to sur defined benefit, postretirament, and defarred compensation plans. These
amounts are based on axpactad futura service and were calculated using the same assumptions used to maasure our benefit
abligation at October 31, 2018,

tn addition to our company spensorad plans, wa participate in certain multiemployer pension and other postretirement plans, The
cost of these plans is equal to the annuat requirad contributions determined in accordance with the provisions of negotiated collective
bargaining amrangements. During 2018, 2017, and 2018, contributions made to these plans ware $339.3 million, $316.4 million,
and $290,4 million, raspectively; howaver, our future coniributions to the muliemployer plans are depandent upon & number of
factors, including the funded status of ihe plans, the ability of other pariicipating companies to meat angoing funding obiigations,
and tha level of our ongoing parficipation in thase plans. As the amount of future contributions that we would pe centractually
obligated to make pursuant {o these plens cannot be reascnably astimated, such amounts have besn excluded from the above
table. See Note 13, “Employas Beneft Plans,” in the Financial Statements for more information.

At October 31, 2018, our total Babifity for unrecognized tax benefits was §16.8 million. The resolution or
setilement of these tax positions with the taxing authorities Is subject to significant uncertainty, and therefore we are
unzble to make a reliable estimate of the amount or iming of cash that may be required to seitle these matters. In
addition, certain of these matiers may not requlre cash sefflements due to the exercise of credits and net operating
loss carryforwards as well as other offsets, Including the indirect benefit from other taxing jurisdictions that may be
available,

\We have no off-balance sheat arangements othier than unrecorded standby letters of credit and surety bonds.
We use letters of credit and surety bends in the ardinary course of business to ensure the performance of conractual
obfigations and {o collateralize selfinsurance obligations in the event we are unable to meet our claim payment
obligations. As we already have reserves on our books for the claims costs, these do not represent additional liabifities,
The bonds typically remain in force for one to five years and may include optional renewal periads. As of October 31,
2018, these letters of credit and surety bonds totaled $152.9 miliion and $475.3 million, respectively. Included in the
total amount of surety bonds is $1.8 million of bonds with an effective date starting after October 31, 2018, Nelther of
these arrangements has a material current effect, or is reasonably likely to have a material future effect, on our financial
condition, changes In financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures,
or capital rescurces,
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Critical Accounting Policles and Estimates

The preparation of consaolidated financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles requires our management to make certain estimates that affect the reported amaunts, We base
our estimates on historical experience, known or expected trends, independent valuations, and various other
assumptions that we belleve to be reasonable under the circumstances. As future events and thair effects cannot be
determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these estimates, We bellave the following critical

Description

Judgments and Uncerfainties

Effect if Actual Resuits Differ from Assumptlons

accounting pollcies govern the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparafion of our financial

statements.

Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Effect if Actual Result=s Differ from Assumptlons

Customer Relationships

When we acquire a company, we
datermine the fair value on the
acguisi!?ors date of assets acquired
and [abilities assumed.

Wa anficipate that for most
acquisiions wa wil exarcise
significant judgmer In estimating
the falr value of intangible assets,

In a typical acqulsition, customer
relationships are our most
significant definitedived intanglble
assatl. In veluing thase .
relationships, we engage a third-
party vaiuation expert to calculate
the falr value of thase assets using
& version of the income approach
knowr: as the “excess eamings
method.”

This mathod uses a discounted
cash fiow approach that Is derived
from Historical information, future
revenue and operating profit
marginsg, contributory asset
chargas, and the selaction of an
appropriate discount rate.

We consider this appreach the
most appropriate valuation
technigue bacausse the inherent
valua of thesae assets is thair
ability to generata current and
future incems.

The custemer attrition rate and
expected reverue growth are two
significant estimates used to
gerive the projected revenues and
profitabifity in the customer
reletionships valuation. Both of
thase estimatas are Infiuencad by
many fectors, including histerical
financial information, estimated
retention rates, and management's
expectations for future customer
growth as a comblned company.

Arwother estimate that impacts the
valuation is the contributory

charge for the acguired workioree,
which Involves management
assumptions based on historicat
axperienca, indfuding interview
time and new hire productivity.

The estimated fife Is determined
by calculating the number of years
necassary to obtain 90% of the
value of the discounted cash flaws
of the relationships and is directly
4iad o the accuracy of tha above
assumptions.
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Wa have not made any changes in tha accounting
methodology used to defermine the fair value of
customer relationships during the last three years.

If the subseguent actual results and updated
projactions of {he under:ging business activity
changa compared with the assumptions and

rojactions usad to davelop the values of the
identifiable intangible assets, wa may ba required to
racord malerial impaimment fosses,

‘With other assumpfions held constant, a 10%
Increase In the calcutated fair valus of the GCA
customer relationships would have increased the
ggggaf amortization expense by $4.2 miffion in

See the "Valuation of Long-Lived Assets™ critical
accaunting policy, befow, for information about
impairment evaluations,

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate our fixed assets and
smortizable intangiole assels for
impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate
that the camying armount of such
assets may not be recoverable,
These events and clreumstances
include, but are not limited to:
higher than expected attrition for
customer relationships; a cument
aﬁfactation that a fong-lived asset
will be disposed of significanily
before tha end of its previously
astimated useful life, such as
when we classify a business as
held for ssle; a significant adverse
change in the axient or manner in
whish wa use a longfived sssat;
or & change in the physical
condition of a long-lived assat.

uUndiscounted cash flow analyses
ara used to datermnine if
impalmment exists; if Impairment is
detarmined to exist, the foss Is
ca}culated based on estimatad fair
value,

Gaodwilt is not amordized but
rether tested at least annuatly for
impairment, or mere often if
evenis or changes in
circumstances Indicate it is more-
likely=than-not that tha camying
amount of the asset may not be
recoverabla, Goodwill is tasted for
impairment at the reporling unit
Isval, which reprasents an
operating segment ora
component of an operating
segment. Goodwill is tasted for
impairment by sither performing a
quatitative evaluation or a
quantitative test. The qualitative
avaluation is an assessment of
factors to determine whether it is
mare-likely-than-nct that the fair
value of a regorting unit is lass
than its carrying amount, including
goadwill, We may elact not to
perform the qualitative
assassment for soma or ali af aur
raporting units and Instead
?er{orm | quaniitative impalrment
est,

QOur impairment evaluations
retguire_u.s {o apply Judgment in
determining whethér a triggerng
avent has cocurred, including the
evaluation: of whether i is more
fikely than not that a long-fived
asset will be clsposed of
significantly befere the end of its
Previoualy estimated useful life.
ncomrect estimation of useful lives
may result in inaccurate
depraciation and amortization
chargas over future periods
leading to future impairment.

Our impairment loss caleulations
cantain uncertainties because they
requira managsmert to make
assumplions and to apply
judgment to estimate fifure cash
fiows and asset fair valuas,
including forecasting useful lives of
the assets and selecting the
discount rate that reflects tha risk
Inherent in future cash flows.

Wa astimate the fair value of each
reperting unit using a combination:
of the incoma acﬂpruach ang the
market approach,

Tha income approach incorporates
the use of & discounted cash flow
method In which the astimatad
future cash fiows and terminat
value are calcufated for each
reparfing unit and then discounted
to present value using an
appropriate discount rate.

The valuation of our reporting units
raguiras sigﬂiﬁcantg‘udgmen! in
evaluation of recent indicators of
market activity and estimated
fulure cash flows, discount rates,
and othar factors. Qur impairment
analysas contain inharent
uncertainties due {0 uncantrollable
events that could positively ar
atively impact anticip
fufure aconomic and oparating
cenditions,

In making these estimates, the
welghted-avarage cost of capital is
utilized to calculate the present
valua of future cash flows and
{erminal value. Many variables go
into estimating future cash flows,
including estimates of aur future
revenue growih and operating
resulte, VWhen estimating our

rojected revenua growth and
ture operating results, wa
consider industry frends, economic
data, and our competitive
agdvantags.

‘The market approach estimates
fair value of a reperting unit by
using market comparablas for
reasonaply simifar public
companies.
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During the [ast three years, we have not made any
changas in the accounting methodology used to
evaluate the Impairment of jong-ived assets orto
esfimate the useful lives of our fong-lived assets,

Additionally, we hava not made any changes in the
acenunting methodology used to evaluate
impairment of goodwill during the last three years,
cther than adopting Accounting Standards Update
2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic
issgé:ﬁimpfmng the Test for Goodwill impairment
in A

In perfenming our annual goodwill Impalment
analysis on August 1, 2018, wa recordad an
impairment charge of $20,3 millien on goodwil] end
$6,2 million on customer refationships for ona of our
reparting units within the Technicat Solutions
segment, [n 2018, this rapurtln? unit's performance
rrlmarily reflacted the adverse impaet of Brexlt and
he resulting impact on mlcroscenemic conditiens in
the U.K. retail sector and the anlicipated loss of a
significant customer contract. In performing our
annual goodwitl Impairment analysls, wa
determined thera was a revisad future outiook for
this business, including reduced expsctations of
future sales, sperating margins, and cash flows, In
analyzing our other dgnndwxli reporting units, we
cenciuded that geodwil related to these other
reporting units was not impaired. A 10% decrease
in the estimated fair value of any of our re?orﬁng
units would not hava resulted in a differen
conciusion.

A goodwill Impairment analysis was performed for
aach of our reporting units on Novamber 1, 2017
when we reorganized our reporisble ssgments and
reporting units following the integration of GCA into
our Industry group model. We performed a
qualitative geedwill Impalrment test Immediately
befere and after the segment realignmant by
analyzing the resuits of oparations and business
conditicns of the reporting units and we determined
the Ekelihcod of a goodwil? impairment did not reach
the mors-iikely-than-not threshotd specified In U.S.
GAAP. Accordingly, wa concludad that goadwilk
retated to those réperting units was not impaired
and further quantitative testing was not required,

During 2018, when we classifisd our Govemment
Servicas business as held for sale, we were
required {0 maasure that businass at the lower of its
cafrying value or fair value less estimated costs to
sell. A8 a result of significant underperfermance
relative to expected operating results, we
datermined the fair value of this business was lass
than the carrying amount, resulting In impairment
charges of $15.3 milllon on long-lived assets and
$6.0 million on goodwill. During the second quarter
of 2017, wa raceivad an offer fram a stratagic buyer
to [purchase this business for approximataly $35.0
million, which was higher than our estimate of fair
value less cosis (o sell. As a result, we recorded &
$17_4 miflion impaiment recovery to adjust the fair
value of certain previously impaired assets to the
valuation of the assets as implied by the agreed-
upon sales price, less astimated costs to sell, We
completed the sale for $35.5 milllon, therefore we
did not recognize a material gain on sale.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Effect If Actual Rasults Differ from Assumptions

Insurance Reserves

We use a combination of insured
and self-insurance programs to
cover workers' compensation,

eneral fiability, automabite
labilty, proparty damage, and
other insurabia risks.

Insurance clzim liabififes
reprasent our estimate of retained
risks without regard to insurance
coveraga, We retain a substantial
portion of the risk related te cortaln
workers’ compensation and
medical claims. Lisbllitles
associated with these lesses
include estimates of both claims
filed and IBNR Claims.

With ihe assistance of third-party
actuaries, we paricdically review
our estimate of ulimate [osses for
IBNR Claims and adjust our
required self-Insuranca reserves
as appropriate. As part of fhis
evaluation, we review the status of
exlsting and new claim reserves
as astabiished by our third-party
claims administrators.

The third-party claims
administrators establish the casa
reserves based upon known
factors refated te the type and
severity of the ciaims,
demographic data, legislalive
mattars, and case [aw, as
appropriate.

Ve compere actual trands to
expected trends and monitor
ciaims developments.

The spacific case reserves
estimated by tha third-party
administrators are provided to an
actuary who assists us in
projecling an actyarial estimate of
tha overzll uitimate Issses for our
selt-insured or high deduciibie
pragrams, which Includes the case
reserves plus an actuarial
estimate of reserves required for
additicnal developments, including
[BNR Claims.

We utlliza the results of actuarial
studies ta estimate our insurance
rafes and Insuranca reserves for
future periods and to adjust
reserves, if appropriate, for prior
years,

Qur self-insurance liabilities
contain uncertainties due to
assumpfions raquired and
judgment used.

Costs to sefile our obligations,
Including fegal and healthcare
costs, could flustuate and cause
estimates of our self-insurance
liabilities to change,

Incident rates, inchiding frequency
and savarity, could fAuctuata and
cause the estimates in our self-
Insurance {labliitles e change.

These estimates are subject to:
changes in the regufatory
environment, fluctuations in
projacted expoauras, including
payrol, ravanues, and the number
of vehicle units; and the freguency,
lag, and severity of claims.

The full extent of certain claims,
especially workers' compensation
and general liabllity claims, may
not ba fully determined for sevaral
years,

In additicn, if the reserves related
to seif-insurance or high
deduciible programs from
acquirad businesses are not
ader?uate to cover damages
rasuiting from future accidents or
ather incidants, we may ba
axposed to substantial osses
arising from future developments
of the claims,

‘Wa have not made any changes in the accounting
meathodolegy used to establish cur self-insurance
Habif¥as during the past three yaars.

After analyzing tha recent foss development
pafterns, compering the loss development patterns
against banchmarks, and applying actuarial
prajection methods to estimate the ultimate losses,
we jricreased our total raserves for known claims as
wall as our estimata of the foss amounts associated
with IBNR Claims for prior vaars by $10.2 million,
$22.0 millien, and $32.% miliion during 2018, 2017,
and 2014, respactively.

it is possibte that actuat results could differ from
recarded self-insurance liabilities. A 10% change in
our projectad witimate losses would have affected
net income by approximately $30.5 million for 2018.

Contingencies and Litigation

Wa are a parly to & number of
lawsuits, claims, and proceedings
incidant to the oparation of our
businass, including those
pertaining to fabor and
employmant, contracts, personat
injury, and cther matters, some of
which ailege substantlal monetary
damages, Soma of these actions
may be brought as class actions
on bahalf of a class or purported
ciass of employees,

We accrue for loss contingencies
when losses becoms probable
and are reasonably estimable, If
the reasenable estimate of the
foss is & range and no amount
within the ranga is a better
astimate, the minimum amount of
the range |s recorded as a Habifity.

We do not acerua for contingent
losses that, in our judgment, are
considered to be réasonably
possible but not probable.

Litigation outcomes are difficuit te
predict and are often resolved
aver fong periads of tima.

Estimating prabable and
reasonatly possible losaes
raquires tha analysis of multiple
possible outcomes that often
depend on judgments about
potential actions by third parfies,
such as future changas in facis
and circumstancas, differing
Iinterpretations of the law,
assessments of the amount of
damages, and other factors
beyond our control. There is the
potential for a material adverse
effect on our financial stataments if
ona or more matters are resolvad
In & particular period i an amaunt
materially in excess of what wa
anticipated,

fn addition, i some cases,
although a loss is probable or
reascnably possible, we cannot
reasonably estimate the meximum
patential lcsees for probable
mafters of the range of logses for
reasonably possible

matters, Therefors, cur accreal for
probable Josses and our sstimated
range of lass for reasonably
possible lassas do not represent
our maximum possible exposura,

\We have not made any changes In the accounting
methodology used o ostablish cur foss
contingencies during the past three years,

Qur management currently estimates the range of
loss for af reasonably possible kosses for which a
reascnable astimate of the loss can ba made ls
batwesn zero and $4 mililon. Factors undeslying this
estimated range of Joss may changa from time o
time, and actual results may vary significantly from
this estimate.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effectiva Date/Mathod  Effect on the Financial
Accounting Standard  Description of Adoption Statements
[n November 2018, the This ASU provides guidance cn Neovember 1, 2020, applied We are currently evaluating the
Flnanclal Accounting whethar certain transactions refrospectively, impact of implamenting this
Standards Board (* FASB') between collaborative guidarics an our financiat
issued Accourting arrangement paricipants should statements,
Standards Update ("ASU") be accounted for as revenue
2018-18—Caollaborative under Topic 808, It specificatly
Anangemen!s {Toplc 806}«  addresses when the participant

Clarifying the interaction
befwasn Topic BO8 and
Toplc 606.

Is a customer in the context of a
unit of aceaun?, adds unif of
account gwéance in Topic 808 to
align with guidance in opic B0S,
and precludes presenting the
coliaborative arrangement
transacﬁun topgether with revenue
g nized under Tapic B0 if the
cnl!a crative arrangement
participant is not a customer,

Effective Date/Method Effect on the Financial
Accounting Standard  Description of Adoption Statements
In March 2618, the FASEI This ASU incorporates tha This standard became W applied SAB 118 to cur
jsstied ASL 208-05 provisions of SAB 718 info the offective upon issuance. financial statements upon its

income Taxes (Tnplc 740).

accounting standards
codification. SAB 118 provides
guidance on accounting for tex
affacts of tha Tax Act and permits
& measurament pariod not to
exceed one year from the
enactment date for companias to
complete the raquired analyses
and accounting.

criginal 1ssuance In December
2017, prior to the codification in
ASC 740, Refer to Note 17,
“inceme Taxes,” in tha Financisl
Statements for a discussion of the
impacts of the TaxAct on our
censolidated financia) statements,

In October 2018, H;g FASB

This ASU provides that indirect

November 1, 2020

‘We are currently evaluating the

iIn March 2018, the FASB

This ASU deletes ASC F20-10-
8801,

November 1, 2018

The adoption of this guidanca is

fasued ASU 2018~ 04, which had codified SAB not expected to have a material
Investments—Debt “fopic 8.4, and also remoyes impact an our consofidated
Sacurrfre.t (Topic 320) and Rpaclal raqulramants in 8EC financial statements.
gulafsd Opembions éTogic eguiation 5-X Rule 3A-05 for
80): Amendments fo rubl{c ufility holding cumspaniss.
Paragraphs Pursuant fo n November 2017, th
SAB Mo, 117 apd SEC issugd SAB 117 to bring it
Releasa No. 33-9273. existing guidance into conformity
with Topic 321, Invesfments—
Eqult Sanurfﬂus SAR 117 states
that SAB Topic 5.M, Cther Than
Temporary mpat‘rment of Carlain
Invesiments in Equily Sscurities,
is ne lenger applicabls wpon
adoption of ASC 321.
In February 208, the FASB  This ASU panmnits an antlty to We anﬂcérate adopting this ~ We are currently evaluating the
jssusa ASL 201 EM‘JZ reclassify the income tax affects standard n the first quarter  impact of implementing $his
.'ncame Slafeme. of the Tax Act or: iterns within cof 2018. uidznce or: our consofidated
Reporting Com, rshanswe accumuiated other nanclal siatements,
Incame {Topic 220) comprehensiva income into
Reclassiication of Csmem retained aamings.
Tax Effects from
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Incame.
Irs August 2017, the FASB This ASU better aligns Nevember 1, 2019 W are currantly evaluating tha
issued ASLH 2017~12 accounting rules with & impact of this guidance cn our

;Ta,mc 818); Targeted
improvements !a Accounting
for Hedging Activilles.

tompany’s risk management
activities; better refle
aconomic results of hadging in
financial statements; and
simplifies hedge accounhng
treatment.

consolidated financial siatemants,

issued ASU 2018-17— interest held through related Impact of implemenging this
Cansolidation {Toplc 810): partias In common contrel guidance on eur financial
Targeted Improvemants fo arrangaments should be statements.
Relafed Parly Guidance for  considered on g proportional
Variabfe Inferest Entifies. Dbasis for determining whethar

feas paid to daclslon makers and

sarvice providers are varigble

intarest.
In Cctober 2016, the FASB ~ This ASU adds tha OIS rate Since we sarly adopted ASU We are currently evaluating the
jssued ASU 2018-16— based on SCFR (a swap rate 2017-12, Dedivalives and gad of implementing this
Derivativas and Hedging based on the underlying Hedgl‘ng (Topic 818): dance on our financlal
(Topic 81 fncfusnon ofthe  ovemight BOFR rata) as an Targeted imp its,
Secured ciigible benchmark inferest rate  Accounting for Han'grn
Financing Rafe ("SOFR’J for pumoses of aﬁplymg hedgs Activifies, which simpiified
Quemight index Swap accounting. SOFR i3 a volume- hadge accounting, this
(“OIS") Rate as a weighted median interast rate update will be affactive far
Benchmark Interest Rate for  that s caleulated dally based o us on Novernber 1, 2020 on
Hedge Accounting ovemight tranaactions from the & prespective basia,
Purpeses. prior day's trading activity in

spacified sagmants of tha U.S.

Treasury repe market. SOFR

was selected by the Altamative

Reference Rafas Commites as

its prefarred aitemativa refarence

rate to LEBOR,
it August 2018 the FASH This ASLU allgns the Novernber 1, 2020 We are currenlly svaluating the
issued ASU 20158-18, roquirements for car:ialszinu impact of implamenting this
Jnfang.lb]ss-—-—GaudmfI and implementation costs incurred in guidance an our financial
Diher—interal-Uss a hosting arranuemanl thatis a statements.
Software (Topic 350), service contract with the

raquiraments for aafstailzmg
implementation cosis incurved to
develop or obtain intemaluse
software.

In May 2017, the FASE

Jssued ASU 2017-10,
Sefvice Concessjon
Armrangementis (Topic 853):
Detormining the Customer of

This ASU provides clarity on
determining the customerin a
servies concassion amangement.

November 1, 2018

‘We will adopt this stancdard
in eanjunction with ASU
2014-08, as descibad

The anlicipated effect of adoption
is described ir Nots 2, “Basjs of
Presentation,” In the Financisl
Statements.

fn August 2018, the FASB Tais ASU medifies the disclosure  November 1, 2020 W are currently evaluating the
issuad ASU 2018-14, requirements on compan impact of Implementing this
Compensation—Retimment  sponsered defined i:arleﬂy- t plans. gilidance an our financiat
?%eﬁts—@enemf (Topie staternents,

In August 2018, the FASB This ASU modifies the distlosure  November 1, 2020 W are currently evaluating the
{ssuag ASU 2018-13, Falr ragquirements o fair value impact of implementing this
Value Measurement (Toplc measurements by removing guidance on our financial

820); Disclosure Framework.

cartain disclosure requiraments
refated to the fair value hierarchy,
modifying existing distlosure
requiraments ralated fo
measurement uncertainty, and
adding new disclosure
raquirements,

statements,

fhe Operation Services, halow.

In May 2017, tha FASB This ASU clarifies which changes  Movember 1, 2018 The impact of this new standard

issuad ASU 2017.09, ta the terms or conditions of 8 will depend on the extent and

Compensauon—-stoc share-basad gayment award Adopticn of this standerd wil nature of future changes to the
raquire an ani he appiied prospectively to terms of our share-based payment

Compensation (Tople 718]
Scop': of Mol ﬁg;#un d
Accounting.

ty to J'PW

modification accounting

awards modified on or after
the adoptien date,

awards, Historically, we have not
had sigrificant changes to our
shere-based payment awards and
therefore do not expect adoption of
this guidance to have a material
impact en our consolidated
financial statements.
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fn March 2017, tha FASB

To &lign with the presentalion of

November 1, 2018

As ABM's definad benefit and

issuad ASU 2017-07 cmpensation cosis arlsInF from postretirement benefit plans were
Compensation— sen.‘ ces renderad by aas Adoption of this standard will  praviously amended to praclude
Retiroment Bensiits {Topic this ABU requires class! be applied retrospectively for new participants, the adopticn of
718): Improving the the servica cost wmpnnem of tha classification this guidance will not have a
Presentation of Net Pericdic  pension expensa as an operating  requirements and material impact en gur
Penslon Cost and Nei expansa, The other components  prospectively for the consolidated financlal statements.
Persdic Poesireli of p such a! capitalization of the servica
Benefit Cosf. intarest cost, amortization of prier  cost component

sarvice cost, and gains of osses, requirement.

are required to be presented

outside of of Fsraﬂng BXpensas,

This ASU alsn allows the service

cost component to be eligible for

capltalization, when applicable.
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Effoctive Date/Method  Effect on the Financial
Accounting Standard  Description of Adoption Statements
In November 2018, tha This ASU provides guidance on November 1, 2018 The sdoptien of this guidancs is
FASB issuad ASU 2018-18,  the presentation of restricted ot expected to have a material
Statement of Cash Flows cash or restricted cash Adoption of this standard will  impact on our consolidated
opic 230); F jcled quivalents in the of be applied using a statements of cash flows.
ash. cash fiows. retrospectiva transition
mathad to each perfod
presented,
In October 2018, the FASE This ASU requires the tax effects  November 1, 2018 We are currently evaluating the

Issued ASU 2018-18,
lncome Taxes (Topic 740):
Intra-Enfity Transters of
Assets Other than Inventory,

of intercompany transactions,
other than sales of inventory, to
be recognized wher the transfer
occurs, [nstead of deferred until
the transferrad assetis sold to a
third party or otherwise
recovered through use of the
asset.

This standard will be applied
using & maodified
retrospactive adeption
agpmaoh with a cumulative-
effect adjustment te retained
eamings as of the beginning
of the year of adoption,

impact of implementing this
guidence on our consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB
issued ASU 2016-15,
Statemart of Cash Flows
(Toplc 230); Classificafion of
Certain Cash Receipts and
Cash Payments.

This ASU provides eight {argated
changes ta how cash recaipts
snd cash l“payrmants ane
presented and classified in the
statament of cash: flows.

November 1, 2048

Adaption of this atandard will
be appiied using a
refrospactive transition
mathed to each paried
presented,

The adoption of this guidance is
nat expactad to have 4 matarial
impact on our consolidated
statements of cash flows,

ir June 20186, the FASB
isguad ABU 2016-13,
Finanvial Instriments.
Credjl Lossas {Topla 326};
Measurement of Crodit
Losses an Financial
Stalements.

This ASU replaces the existing
incurred loss Impsirment modal
with a methodalogy that
incorporates all axpected credit
loss astimates, resuiting in more
timely recognition of osses.

Novamber 1, 2020

This standard will be appliad
using a modified
retrospective adoptlon
:ﬁgraach with & curnulative-
ct adjustment o retained
eamings as of the beginning
ofthe {year of adoption,
except for cerdain provisions
that are required to be
applied prospectively.

Wa are currently evajuating the
impact of implamanting this
guidance on our cansolidated
financlal statements.

In February 2018, the FASB
issued ASU 2016-02,
Leases (Taplc 842), The
FASB has issuad sevaral
updates to ASU 2018-02,
including ASU 2098.19,
Leases (Topic 842):
Targefed improvements, and
ASU 2018-10, Caodification
improvemenis o Tepic 842,
Leases, that were jssued in
July 2018.

ASU 2016-02 improves
transparency and comparabil
among organizations by requiring
jessass to recagnize laass
assets and lease Fabllities on the
bajance sheet and to disclosa
kay information about leasing
arangements, ASU 2018-11 and
ASY 201810 amend varicus
aspects of Tuglc 842, Inciuding
an additional transition method,

Movember 1, 2018

‘This guidance may ba
applied through & modifisd
retrospective transition
approach for leases existing
at, or entered into after, the
baginning of the eariest
comparative period
presented in tha finenclal
stafaments with certein
praclical expedients
available. Altematively, this
guidance may also ba
applied at the adapticn date
bgorecugnizlng a cumulative-
eifect adjustment to tha
opening balance of retalned
egmings in the pariod of
adoption.

We are currenty svaluating the
impact of implementing this
guidance on cur consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2014, tha FASE
issued ABU 2014-08,
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers {Topic G06).

This ASU Introduces a new
principles-hased framawark for
ravenue racagnitien and
disclosure. The cora principle of
the standard Is when an entity
transfers gaods or sarvices te
customers it will recognize
revenue in an amount that
reflacts tha consideration the
antity axpacts to be enitled {o for
ihese gonds or services.

November 1, 2018

this standard will be applied
using a modified
retrospective adoption
aggroach with 5 eumulative-
effact adjustment to retainad
earnings as of the beginning
of the year of adoption,

The antlclpated effect of adoption
is describad in Note 2, “Basis of
Brasantation,” in the Financial
Statements.
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ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We have market risk exposure related fo interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is
measured as the potential negative impact on eamings, cash flows, or falr values resuiling from a hypothetical change
In interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates,

Interest Rate Risk

\We are primarlfy exposed fo inferest rate risk through our variable rate borrowings under our Credit Facllity.
At October 31, 2018, we had tota] cutstanding horowings of $949.0 million. To limit exposure to upward movements
in Interest rates, we entered into interest rate swap agreements to fix the interest rates on a substantial portion of our
outstanding borrowings. At October 31, 2017, we fad interest rate swaps with an underlying notional amount of $105.0
miffion and a fixed interest rate of 1.05%. We entered into three additionalforward-starting Interest rate swap agreements
that became sffective in November 2017 with an underlying aggregate notional amount of $500.0 million and fixed
interest rates of 1.65% and 1.89%. During April 2018, we elecled to terminate all of our interest rate swaps then in
effect, We subsequently entered into new forward-starting interest rate swaps that became effective on November 1,
2018 with an underlying aggregate notional amount of $440.0 million and fixed Interest rates of 2,83%, 2.84%, and
2.86%. There are no other materfal changes related to market risk from the disclosures in this Annual Report on Form
10:K for the year ended October 31, 2018,

Based on our average borrowings, inferesd rates, and interest rate swaps effective In November 2018, a 100
basis point Increase in LIBOR would decrease cur future eamnings and cash flows by $5.4 million. For 2017, our market
risk exposure related {o Interest rate fluctuations was $6.5 million. As aclual interest rate movements over time are
uncertairn, our swaps pose potential interest rate risks if interest rates decrease, As of October 31, 2018, the fair value
of our interest rate swap agreements was an assef of §1.3 milfion.

Foraign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are primarlly exposed {o the impact of foreign exchange rate risk through our UK. operations where the
functional currency is the Great Britain Pound, As we intend fo remain permanently invested in these foreign operations,
we do not utlllze hedging Instrumeants fo mifigate foreign currency exchange risks. if we change our intent with respect
{0 such intermational investrment, we would expect to implement strategies designed to manage those risks in an effort
{o mitigate the effect of foreign currency fluctuations on our eamings and cash flows.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
Report of Independent Registered Publlc Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
ABM Industries Incorporated:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ABM Industries Incorporated and subsidlarles
(the "Company”} as of Octaber 31, 2018 and 2017, the refated consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended October 31, 2018, and the
related notes and financial statement Schedule If (coltectively, the consclidated financial statements), In our opinion,
the consolidated financial staternents present fairly, in alf material respects, the financlal position of the Company as
of October 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended October 31, 2018, In conformity with U,S, generally accepted aceounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) 'PCAQE"), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of Qctober 31, 2018, based on criterla
established In /nternal Confrol - infegrated Framework (2013} issued by tha Commiites of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commisslon, and eur report dated December 21, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinlon on the
gitactiverress of the Company's intemal control over financlal reporting.

Basls far Opinfon

These consolidated financial statements are the responslbility of the Company's management. Qur respansibiiity is
1o express an apinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are reguired to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S, federal securities laws and the applicable rules and reguiations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOER.

We conducied our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, Those standards require that we ptan and
perform the audil to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consolldated financlal statements are free of
materig] misstaternent, whether due to efror or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond {o those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclogures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements, We belleve that our audits provide & reasonable basis for our opinion.

Is! KPMG LEP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 1980,

New York, New York
Dacember 21, 2018

50

Repeort of indepandent Reglstered Publlc Accounting Firm

To the Stockhrolders and Board of Directors
ABM Industries incorporated:

Opinion on internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Wehave audited ABM Industries Incorporated and subsidiaries’ (the “Company™) infemnal controf over financial reporting
as of October 31, 2018, based on criteria established In Interal Control - infegrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organlzations of the Treadway Commission, In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control overfinanciat reporting as of October 31, 2018, based on criteria established
int Intemal Control- Inteqrated Framework (2013} issued by the Committee of Sponscring Organizations ofthe Treadway
Commission,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) ("PCAQB"), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of October 31, 2018 and 2017, the refated
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended Qctober 31, 2018, and the related notes and financial staternent Schedule il {collectively, the
consolidated financial statements) and our report dated December 21, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion onthose
consolidated financial statements.

Basjs for Opinlon

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective intermal conirol over financial reporting and for
lts assessment of the effectiveness of internal condrol over financlal reporiing, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Contral Over Financial Reporting. Cur responsibility Is to express an opinion on the
Company’s intemal controf over financial reporting based ont our audit, We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company In accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securitias and Exchange Commission and the PCADB,

We conducted owr audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, Those standards require that we plan and
perform fhe sudi to obtain reasonable assurance about whather effective intemal control over financial reporting was
maintainad in all material respects. Cur audit of intemal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of Intemal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the desfgn and operating effectiveness of intemal controf based on the assessed risk. Qur audit also
included performing such other procedures as we cansidered nacessary in the circumstances. We helieve that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for aur opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s inlemal control over financial reporting s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staternents for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accourding principles. A company's Internal controf over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the malntenance of records that, in reasonable detall, accurately and faidy reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assuranca that iransactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements In accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial staternents,

Hecause of its inherent limitations, Intemal controf over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditlons, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Isi KPMG LLP

New York, New York
December 21, 2018
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ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

October 31, Years Ended October 31,
2018 2017 2018 } 2017 2016

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $19.2 and
$26.5 at October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively

Other mtang:b!e assets, net of accumulated amnmzatron of $25 .4
) and$1 Qctober 31, 2018 and 2017, ctivel

“Hincome from conlinuing operatian:
Inonme (toss) from discontinued operaﬂons

Welghted-avaraga common and common
equlvalent shares outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Tota} liabliities and stockholders’ equity ' s 86275 § 3812.6

See accampanying notes to consolidated financial statements,
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ABM INDUSTRIES [NCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Yoars Ended October 31,

Years Ended October 3, 2011 2018

2018 2T 2616
[ milliens) Shares Amount Shares Ameount Shares Amount

Cammen stock
cstaek] url ehare]
Balance, end of year

Idars’ Eqity

See accompanying notes to consolidaied financial statements. Bk i

0.

Tnvastmants In wncansolidated aflates
s icah Used I iivasting detllos df conbaling speralion g
Net cash usad in investing actvities of discantinuad aperations o L {3.1)

Payma f ;
Repayment of ¢apilal lease ohiigations
et
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ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{continued)
Years Ended October 31,
£z hilliensl 2018 2017 2816
Income tax {refunds) paymers, net
Intersst pald on'credit faclfity 27

No ...:' : vesting and fni _"‘!g'lé_ti_v!l_iﬂ!f":- SR R
Stock lssuad in GCA acquisition, net of shares withneld for taxes 1

See accompanying notes to conscfidated financial statements,
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ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. THE COMPANY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

ABM Industries Incorporated, which operates through its subsidiaries (coffectively referred to as "ABM,” "we,”
"us," "our,” orthe “Company™), is a leading provider of integrated facifity solutions with a mission to make a difference,
every person, every day. We are organized into five indusiry groups and one Technlcal Sofufions segment:

= &
*%r Heh (=
Aviation Business & Education Healthcare Technology & Technical
Industry Manufacturing Solutions

Through these groups, we offer [anitorial, facilties engineering, parking, and specialized mecharnical and electrical
technical solutions, on a standafone basis or in combination with other services,

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Prosontation and Principlos of Consofidation

The consolidated financlal statements and accompanying notes (the “Financlal Statements”) have been
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.§. GAAP"} and with the rutes
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™), specifically Regufation 5-X and the instructions
to Form 10-K. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to years are to our fiscal year, which ends on October 31.

The Financial Statements include the accounts of ABM and all of our consolidated subsidiaries. We account
for ABM's investments in uniconsolidated affiliates under the equity method of accounting, We include the results of
acquired businesses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income from thelr respective acquisition dates.
All intercompany accounts and transactiens have been eliminated in consolidation,

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with L.S, GAAP requires our managemant
to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts. We base our estimates on historical experience, known
or expected frends, independent valuations, and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual resuits could differ
significantly from these estimates,

We round amounts in the Financlal Statements to millions and calculate alf percentages and per-share data
from the underlying whole-doliar amounts, Thus, cerlain amounts may not foot, crossfoot, or recelculate based on
reported numbers due to rounding,

Acquisition of GCA Services Group

On September 1, 2017 {the “Acquisition Date"), we completed the acquisition of GCA Services Group ({GCA").
Accordingly, our consolidated statements of comprehensive Income and statements of cash flows include GCA's results
of operations in 2018, but exclude GCA's results of operations in the comparative years prior to the Acquisition Date.
See Note 3, "Acquisitions,” for further Information on the acquisition of GCA.

Government Services

At Qctober 31, 2016, the assets and labilities of our former Govemnment Services business were classified
as held for sale, at which time we wrote down goodwill and long-lived assets of this business by $22.5 million to reflect
our best estimate of fair value less costs ta sell, using all information available at that time. During the second quarter
of 2017, we received an offer from a sirategic buyer to purchase this business for approximately $35.0 million, which
was higher than our previous estimate of fair value less costs to sell, As aresul, we recorded a $17.4 million impairment
recovery to adjust the fair value of certain previously impaired assets o the valuation of the assets as implied by the
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agreed-upon sales price, less estimated costs o sell. We sold this business on May 31, 2017 for $35.5 million and
recorded a pre-tax gain of $1.2 millien. The impaimment charges, subsequent recovery, and gain on sale are reflected
in impairment loss (recovery) in the accompanying consofidated statements of comprehensive income. The reported
resulls for this business are through the date of sale and future resuits could include run-off costs,

Prior Year Retlassifications

Effective November 1, 2017, we made changes to our operating structure as a result of the GCA acquisitlan.
To reflect these changes, certain prior year ameounts, including operating segment data, have been reclassified to
conform with our fiscal 2018 presentation. These changes had no impact on our previously reported consofldated
belance sheets, stalements of comprehensive income, or statements of cash flows, See Note 18, “Segment and
Geographic information,” for further details.

Cash and Cash Equlvalents

We consider aii highly liquid securities with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents. As part of our cash management system, we use “zerc balance” accounts to fund our disbursements,
Under this system, at the end of each day the bank balance is zero, while the book balance is usually 4 negative
amount due to reconciling items, such as outstanding checks, We report the changes in these book cash overdrafts
as cash flows from financing activities.

Trade Accounts Recelvable

Trade accounts receivable arise from services provided to our dients and are usually due and payable on
varying terms from receipt of the invoice to net ninety days, with the exception of certain “fechnical Salutions project
receivables that may have longer collection periods. These recejvables are recorded at the invoiced amount and
normally do not bear interest, In addition, our trade accounts receivabls include unbilled receivables that can include
costs and estimated eamings in excess of bilings on uncompleted contracts, as well as involces for services that have
been provided but are not yet billed.

Allowance for Doubtful Accournts

We determine the alfowance for doubtfid accounts based on historical write-offs, known or expected trends,
and the identification of specific balances deemed uncoliectible. For the specifically identified balances, we establish
the reserve upon the earlier of a client's inability to meet its financlal obligations or after a period of twelve months,
uniess ocur management believes such amounts will utimately be collectible.

Sales Allowance

In connection with our service contracts, we periodically issue credit memos to our clients that are recorded
as a reduction In revenues and an increase to the allowance for billing adjustments. These credits can result from
dlient vacancy discounts, job cancellstions, property damage, and other items. We estimate our potential future losses
on these client receivables based on an analysis of the historical rate of sales adjustments (credit memaos, net of re-
bills} and known or expected frends.

Other Current Assots

At Octoher 31, 2018 and 2017, other current assets primarily consisted of other receivables and shorf-term
insurance recoverables,

Other investments

At October 31,2018 and 2317, other investments primarily consisted of investments inunconsolidated affiliates
and in auction rate securities.

Investmonts in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We own hon-controliing interests (generally 20% to 50%) In certaln afffiated entities that predominantly provide
facllity solutlons to governmental and commercial clients, primarily in the United States and the Middle East. We
account for such investments under the equity method of accounting. We evaluate our equity method investments for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the estimated falr value of the investment is
less than its carrying amount and we determine that the impairment Is other-than-temporary. At October 31, 2018,

8B

2017, and 2016, owr investments in unconsolidated affifiates were $11,3 milllon, $9.3 mition, and $17.1 miion,
respectively. At October 31, 2016, a portion of these investments were classified as held for sale, as they related to
aur Govemment Servites business, In connection with the held-for-sate classification, we recognized an impairment
charge of $5.0 million to write down these invesiments to their estimated falr value in 2016, which we subseguently
recovered in 2017. We did not recognize any impaiment charges on these investments in 2018 or 2017,

Investments in Auction Rate Sacurities

Our invesiments in auction rate securities are classified as available-for-sale. Accordingly, auction rate
securities are presented at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded In accumulated other comprehensive
income {foss), net of taxes (“AOCF). On a quarterly basis, we analyze all auction rate securities that have unrealized
losses far impalmment consideration and assess the intent fo sell such securities, ifsuch Intent exists, Impalred securities
are considered otherthan-femporarily impaired and we recognize the entire difference between the auction rate
security’s amortized cost and s falr value in eamings. We also consider if we may be required to self the securities
prior to the recovery of amortized cost, which may frigger an impaimment charge. If these securities are considered
impaired, we assess whether the amortized costs of the securities can ba recovered by reviewing several factors,
including credit risks associated with the issuer. If we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost of the securily,
we consider the securily to be other-than-temporarily impaired, and record the difference between the security's
amortized costs and its recoverable amount in eamings and the difference between the security's amortized cost and
fair valua in AOCH,

Property, Plant and Equipment

We record property, plant and equipment at cost, Repairs and maintenance expendiiures are expensed as
incurred., In contrast, we capitalize major renewals or replacements that substantially extend the useful life of an asset,
We determine depreciation for financial reparting purposes using the straight-fine method over the following estimated
useful lives:

Years

Comp d software
Machinery and other equipment
i i

In addition, we depreciate assets under capital leases and leasehold improvements over the shorter of thelr estimated
usseful lives or tha remaining lease term. Upon retirement or sale of an asset, we remove the cost and accumulated
depraciation from cur consclidated balance sheets. Yhen applicable, we racord corresponding galns or losses within
the accompanying consclidated statements of comprehensive income,

Leases

We enterinto varfous noncancelable lease agreements for premises and equipment used In the nonmal course
of business. We evaluate the lease agreement at the inception of the lease o determine whether the lease is an
operating loase or capital sase.

Wi account for rent expense under noncancelable operating leases with escafation clauses on a straight-line
basis over the Initial lease temn, Adeferred liability is recorded for the ameount of the excess of straight-ine rent expense
over scheduled payments. Ve do not assume renewals in our defermination of the lease term unless the renewals
are deemed to be reasonably assured at lease inception, We may also be requlred to make additlonal payments to
reimburse the [essors for operating expenses such as real estate taxes, maintenance, utliittes, and Insurance, which
are expensed as incurred, We enter into ieases of parking lots and garages that contain confingent payment provisions.
Under these provisions, we pay contingent amounts In addition to base rent, primarily based on percentages of the
gross recelpts or other financlal parameters attributable to the related facifities. \We record contingert rent as it becomes
probable that specified targets will be met.

We record each capital lease as an asset and an obligation at an amount that is equal to the present value of
the minimum lease payments over the lease term,

59



Goodwill and Other Intanglble Assets

Gootwill represents the excess purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair value of the assels acquired
and liabilifies assumed. We have elected to make the first day of our fourth quarter, August 1st, the annual impaimment
assessment date for goodwill. However, we could be required to evaluate the recoverability of goodwiil more often if
impairment indicators exist, Goodwill is tested for impairment at a “reporting unit® level by perfarming either a qualitative
evatuation or a quantitative test. The quafitative evaluation is an assessmant of factors to detarmine whetner it is more
likely than net that tha fair value of & reporting unit |5 less than 18 carying amaun!, We may elect not to perform the
qualltative assessment for some or all reperting units and perform a quantitative test instead, under which fair value
is determined based on discounted cash flow analyses, The discounted estimates of fuiure cash flows include significant
management assumptions, such as revenue growth rafes, operafing margins, weighted average cost of capital, and
fiture sconomic and market conditions. In 2017, we adopted Accounting Standards Update 2017-04, which affows us
to test goodwill for impairment by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. i the fair value of
a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impaiment charge will be recorded for the difference between the
fair value and camying value, but it is limited to the camying value of the reporting unit's goodwill.

Other intangible assets primarlly consist of acquired customer contracts and relatlonships that are amortized
using the sum-of-the-years-digits method over their useful lives, consistent with the estimated usefti life considerations
used in the determination of their fair values, This accelerated method of amortization reflects the pattem in which the
sconomic benefits from the intanglble assets of customer contracts and relationships are expected to be realized, We
amortize other non-customer acquired intangibles using a straight-ine method of amortization. We evaluate other
intangible assets, as well as our long-lived assets, for Impairment whenever events or changes in circurnstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable, When this occurs, a recoverabliity test is
performed that compares the projected undiscounted cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of an asset or
asset group fo s camying amount. If the projected undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount, we
caleulate an impairment loss, The Impaimment loss calcuiation compares the falr value, witich Is based on projected
discounted cash flows, {o the carmying value,

See Note 10, "Goodwili and Other intangible Assets,” for further information on goodwifl, cther intangible
gssets, and impairment charges.

Other Noncurrent Assets

At October 31, 2018 and 2017, other noncurment assets primarily consisted of long-term insurance
recoverables, deferred charges, insurance and other long-termn deposits, prepayments {o carriers for future insurance
claims, and federal energy savings performance contract receivables.

Federal Energy Savings Performance Contract Recejvables

As part of our Technical Solutions business, we enter into energy savings perfarmance cantracts ("ESPCs")
with the federal govemment pursuant to which we agree to develop, design, enginesr, and construct a project and
guarantee that the project will satisfy agreed-upen performance standards. ESPC receivables represent the amount
1o be paid by various federal government agencies for work we have satisfactorily performed under specific ESPCs,
We assign cerfain of our rights {o receive those payments to unaffiliated third parties that provide construction financing,
which we record as a llabiiily, for such contracts. This construction financing Is recarded as cash flows from financing
activities, while the use of the cash received under these arrangements to pay project costs is classified as operating
cash flows. The ESPC receivable is recognized as revenue as each project is constructed. Upon completion and
acceptance of the project by the govemment and upon satisfaction of tnue sale criteria, the assigned ESPC receivable
from the govemment and corresponding ESPC labllity are eliminated from our consolidated financlal statements.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Falr value I8 the price we would receive to sell an asse! or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
with a market participant at the measurement date, Inthe absence of active markets for the [dentical assets or liabilities,
such measurements Involve develaping assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such
data, internal information that Is consistent with what market participants would use In a hypothetical fransaction that
ocours at the measuremen date,

Obsearvable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect
our market assumptlions. Preference is glven {o observable Inputs. These two types of inputs create the following fair
value hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical ar similar
instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or
whose significant vaiue drivers are observable; and

Level 3 - Significant inputs to the valuation mode! are unobservable.

We evaluate assets and liabilities sublect to falr value measurements on a recurring and non-recurring basis fo
determine the appropriate level at which o classify thern for each reporting period. Some nonfinanclal assets are
rmeasured af falr value on a non-recurring basis only in certaln ciroumstances, Including the event of impaiment. See
Note 7, “Fair Value of Financial instruments,” for the fair value hierarchy table and for detalls on how we measure fair
value for our assets and Fabififies.

Acquisitions

We expense acquisition-related costs as Incured. On the date of the acquisition, we aliocate the purchase
price to the assets acquired and labilities assumed at their estimated fair values. Goodwill on the acqulsition date is
measured as the excess of the purchase price over the fair valtes of assets acqulred and llabliities assumed. While
weuseour best estimates and assumptionsto accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed atthe acquisition
date as well as contingent consideration, where applicable, our estimates are subject to refinement, As a result, during
the measurement period, which may be up o one year from the acquisition date, we record adjustments fo the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed with coresponding adjustiments fo goodwilt We recognize subsequent changes in
the estimate of the amount to be pald under contingent consideration arrangements In the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income,

Discontinued Operations

In order to be reported within discontinued operations, our disposal of a component or a group of componenis
must represent a strateglc shift that will have a major effect on our operations and financlal results. We aggregate the
results of operations for discontinded operations within a single fine itern on the income staternent, General corporate
overhead is nof allocated fo discontinued operations. We discloseany gain orlossthatis recopnized upon the disposition
of 2 discontinued operation, Prior to disposition, we aggregate the assets and liakilities of discontinued operations and
repert the amounts on separate line items within the balance sheet.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

Upon & business being classified as held for sale, we cease all depreciation and amorlization related to the
assets of the business and record them af the lower of their carrying amount or falr value less esfimated costs o sell.
The assets and related liabllities of the business are separately presented on the consofidated balance sheets, We
review all assets held for sale each reporting period to determine whether the existing carrying amounts are fully
recoverable in comparison fo estimated fair values.
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Insurance Reserves

We use a combination of insured and self-insurance programs fo cover workers’ compensation, gensrat liability,
automobile lability, property damage, and other insurable risks. Insurance clalm liabiiities represent our estimate of
retained risks without regard fo insurance coverage, Wa retain a substantial portion of the risk related to certain workers®
compensation and medical claims. Liabilitles associated with these losses include estimates of both claits filed and
claims incurred but not reported ("IBNR Claims”).

With the assistance of third-party actuaries, we periodically review our estimate of uitimate losses for IBNR
Claims and adjust our required self-insurance reserves as appropriate, As part of this evaluation, we review the status
of existing and new clalm reserves as established by third-party claims administrators. The third-party claims
administrators establish the case reserves based upon known factors refated to the type and severify of the claims,
demographic faclors, legisiative matters, and case law, as appropriate, We compare actual trends to expected trends
and monitor claims developments, The specific case raserves estimated by the third-party administrators are provided
to an actuary who asslsts us in projecting an actuarial estimate of the overall ultimate Iosses for our sel-insured or
high deductible programs, which includes the case reserves plus an actuarial estimate of reserves required for additional
developmeants, such as [BNR Claims. We utilize the results of actuarlal studles to estimate our insurance rates and
insurance reserves for future periods and to adjust reserves, if appropriate, for prior years,

in general, our insurance reserves are recorded on an undiscounted basls. We allocate current-year Insurance
expense to our operating segments based upon thelr underlying exposures, while actuarial adjustments related to
prior year claims are recorded within Corporate expenses. We classify claims as current or long-term based on the
expected sefttemant date. Estimated insurance recoveries related to recorded liabilities are reflected as assets in our
consolidated balance shesls when we balisve that the receipt of such amounts is probsble,

Other Accrued Liabllities

Af Oclober 31, 2018 and 2047, other accrized liablities primarfly conslsted of employee benefits, deferred
revenue, progress billings in excess of costs, legal fees and sefilements, dividends payable, current capital leases,
insurance clalms, interest, rent payable, severance, and other accrued expenses.

Other Noncurrant Llabllittes

At October 31, 2018 and 2017, other noncurrent liabllities primarily conslsted of deferred rent, retirement pian
fiabilities, deferred compensation, long-term capital leases, and ESPC liabilities,
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Revenus Recognition

We eam revenue under various types of service contracts. In alf forms of service we provide, revenus is
recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and coltectabiity Is reasonably assured. The varfous types of service confracts are described below.

Confract Type R e peserption _ :
Monthly Fixed- | 11€S€ amangements are contracts In which the client agrees to pay a fixed fee every manth over
Pr!{ce a s&:ecﬂled contract term. A varlation of a fixed-price arrangement Is a square-foot amangement,
under which manthly bilings are based on the actuat square footage serviced.

These arrangements are contracts in which the clients reimburse us for the agreed-upon amount
Cost-Plus of wages and benefis, payrolf taxes, insurance charges, and other expenses asscclated with the
contracted wark, plus a profit margin,

Tagwork generally consists of supplemental services requested by cllents outside ofthe standard
Tag Services se&vlce speciﬂcw?n and Includes cleanup afterienantmoves, construction cleanup, flood cleanup,
and snow removal,

Transaction- [These are agreements in which the cients ars billed for each transaction performed on a monthly
Price basis {e.p., wheslchair passengers served or planes cleaned).

Hourly Thealide :grangements are contracts in which the client is billed a set hourly rate for each labor hour
provided.

Under these parking arrangements, we managmamng facility for a management fee and pass
{hrough the revenue and expenses associated with the facility 16 the owner, These revenues and
expenses are reported in equal amounts as costs reimbursed from our managed locations,

Management
Reimbursement

Under these parking arrangements, we generally pay to the property owner a fixed amount of rent
Leased Location | pius a percentage of revenues derived from monthly and translent parkers, We retain alf revenues
and we are responsible for most operating expenses insurred,

Under these parking arangements, we are pald a fixed or hourly fee o provide parking services,

Allowance and we are respansible for certaln operating expenses, as spacified in the conlract.

Energy Savings |Under these arangements, we agres fo develop, design, engineer, and construct a project and
Contracts and | guarantee that the project wilf safisfy agreed-upon perfopmance siandards, Werecognize revenus
Fixed-Price  junder certain of these confracts using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, most
Repairand  |often based on the cost-to-cost method, under which revenues are recognized as the work
Refurbishment |progresses,

Franchise We franchise cerfain engineering senvices through individual and area franchises under the Linc
Service and TEGG brands, which are part of ABM Technical Solutions.

Impact of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

InMay 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"} issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU")
2014-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Since the release of ASU 2014-09, the FASB issued
the following additianal ASUs further updating Topic 608:

¢« InAugust 2015, ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Cusfomers (Topic 608); Deferral of the Effective
Date

* In March 2018, ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)

»  In April 2048, ASU 2016-10, Revenue from Confracts with Customers (Toplc 608): Identifying Parformance
Obligations and Licensing

»  InMay 2016, ASU 2016-12, Revenue from Cantracts with Customers (Topic 606); Narrow-Scope Improvements
and Practical Expedients
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»  In December 2016, ASU 2016-20, Technical Correcfions and Improvements fo Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Cusfomers

Additionafly, in May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-10, Service Concession Armangements {Topic 853}
Determining the Customer of the Operation Services, which clarifies how operating entitles should determine the
customer of operation services for transactions within the scope of this guidance. US GAAP does not currently address
how an operating entity should determine the customer of the operation services for transactions within the scope of
Topic 853. The amendment eliminates diversity In practice by clarifying that the grantor is the customer of the eperation
services in all cases for those amangements, We determined that revenue we generate from service concession
arangements, primarily from certain parking arrangements, will be accounfed for under this guidance. We adopted
the amendmeants In this update In conjunction with the adoption of Tepic 606, as discussed below, and prior period
financial statements will not be adjusted.

Coliactively these ASUs Introduce a new principles-based framewaork for revenue recognition and disclosura.
The gore principle of the standard is when an entily transfers goods or services to customers it will recognize revenue
in an amount that reflects the consideration # expects fo be entilled fo for those goods or services, The standard also
expands the required disciosures to Include the disaggregation of revenue from confracts with customers into categories
that depict how the nature, timing, and uncertairly of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. We
adopled this standard on November 1, 2018 and are using a modified retrospective adeption approach with a
cumnuative-effect ad|ustmen to retained eamings as of the baginning of 2019; prior petiod financlal statements will
net be adjusted. The standard will be applied to contracts that have not been completed at November 1, 2018 and will
not be applied to contracts that were madified before the beginning of the earliest reporting period presented.

Effect on the Financial Stalements

To assess the impact of this standard, we established a cross-functlonaf implementation team consisting of
representatives from all of our operating segments. The Implementation feam has completed anaiyzing our contract
partfollo to identify potential differences that result from applying the requirements of this new standard. In addition,
we have identified the appropriate changes to our business processes and controls to support revenue recognition
and disclosure under this new standard. We expect adoption of this standard will have an impact on the timing of
revenue recognition related o ceriain fines of business and our financlal statement fine fem reporting of certain tems,
Addiionally, the accounting for cerfain direct and incremental contract costs is significantly diferent from our surrent
capitalization policy.

Our process for implementing Topic 606 included, buf was not limited to, 1dentifying contracts within the scope
of the standand, identifying distinct performance obligations within each contract, and applying the new guidance for
measuring and recognizing revenus to each performance obligation.

We are finalizing our analysls of adopting Topics 606 and 853 and do not befleve there are any remaining
significant Implementation matters that have not yet been addressed.

We do not expect adopting Topic 608 will materially impact our consolidated balance sheets and do not
anticipate an Impact en our consolidated statements of cash flows, We anticipate a pre-tax net increase of $8.1 mifflon
fo our opening retained eamings as a result of adopting Topic 606, primarily related to changes in accounting for
commisslon costs and project type contracis. Specific impacts include:

+  $15.1 milifon of commission costs incremental to successful sales will be deferred and recognized over the
expected customer relationship period. Currently, commission costs are expensed as incurred.

+ Historically, we have recognized revenue and margin en uninstalied materials associated with project type
confracts, generally energy savings performance contracts and flxed-price repalr and refurbishment projects,
consistent with other project costs under the percentage-of-completion method. Under the new standard,
uninstalled materlals will be excluded from the measure of progress, revenue for uninstafied malerlals Is
recognized atcost, and the associated margin is deferred untitinstallation Is substantiafly complete, Accordingly,
we expect a reduction of $4.4 million to previously recognized revenue and related margin for uninstafled
materials.

« Initial fees from sales of franchise licenses, currently recognized in the year of sale, of $1.6 million will be
deferred and recognized over the terms of the initial franchise agreements.

In accordance with Topic 853, rent expense related to service concession arangements of approximately
$48 million, which was previously classified as operating expenses, will be classified as a reduction of revenues,

Management Reimbursemant Revenue by Ssgment

Years Ended Octaber 31,

Restructuring and Related Exponses

Restructuring and related expenses include employee severance, lease exit costs, external support fees, and
other costs, Our methodology to record these costs is described below,

Severance

As we do not have a past history of conasistently providing severance benefits, we recognize severance cosis
for employees who do not have formal employment agreements when management has committed {0 a restructuring
plan and communicated those actions to Impacted employees, such that the employee is able to determine the type
and amount of benefits that they will receive upon termination. In addition, If the employees are required to render
service beyond the minimum retention perlod untll they are terminated in order {o receive the benefits, a liability is
recognlized ratably over {he future service period. For employees with employment agreements, we accrue for these
severance liabilities when it is probable that the impacted employee will be entitfed to the benefits and the armount can
be reasonably estimated.

Noncancelable Leases and Contractual Obligations

We record fiabilities when we tenminate a contract in accordance with the contract terms or when we exit the
Isased space. The expense fornoncancelable leases is determined based oathe falrvalue of remaining lease payments
reduced by the falr value of estimated sublease income that could reasonably be obtained for the property, estimated
using a present vajue technigue,

Other

For ather costs associated with exit and disposal activities, we recognlze an expense at fair vaiue in the perod
in which the Eability is incurred.

Adverilsing

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. During 2018, 2017, and 2016, adverlising expense was $2.3
million, $2.2 million, and $2.1 million, respectively,

Share-Based Compensation

Ourcurrent share-based awards princlpally consist of restricted stock units ("RSUs”) and various performante
share awards. We recognize compensation costs associated with these awards in selling, general and administrative
expenses, For RSUs and certain performance share awards, the amount of compensation cost 13 measured based
on the grant-date fair value of the equity instruments issued, Since our total shareholder relum ("TSR") performance
share awards are performance awards with a market condition, the compensation costs assoclated with these awards
are determined using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model. For RSUs and TSR awards, compensation cost is
recognized over the period that an employee provides service in exchange for the award, We recognize compensation
cost associated with other performance share awards over the requisite service period based on the probability of
schlevement of performance criteria.
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Taxes Collected from Clients and Remitted to Governmental Agencles

Wa record taxes on client fransacticns due fo governmental agencies as receivablas and liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets,

Net iIncome Per Common Share

Basicnet income per common share is netincome divided by the weighted-average number of common shares
vutstanding during the period. Diiuted net income per common share is based on the weighted-average number of
commen shares outstanding during the period, adjusted to include the potential diution from the conversion of RSUs,
vesting of performance shares, and exercise of stock opticns.

Contingencles and Litigation

We are a party to a number of lawsuits, claims, and proceedings incident to the operation of our business,
including those pertatning to labor and employment, contracts, personal injury, and other matters, some of which allege
substantisl monetary damages. Some of these actions may be brought as class actions on behalf of a class or purporied
class of employees. We accrue for loss contingencies when losses become probable and are reasonably estimable.
If the reasonable estimate of the loss Is a range and no amount within the range is a befter estimate, the minimum
amount of the range is recorded as 3 liability, We recognize legal costs as an expense in the period incurred.

income Taxes

We account for Income {axes using the asset and Habilily method, Deferred tax assets and Fabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable o temporary differences between the financlal statement
carrying amount of existing assets and liabllittes and their respective tax bases, We measure defarred tax assets and
{labilities using enacted tax rates expected fo be applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expecied to be recovered. Deferred tax assets are reviewed for recoverabllity on a quarterly basis, A
valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carmying amount of a deferred tax asset to its realizable value unless it
is more likely than not that such asset will be realized. We recognize accrued Interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in Income tax expense in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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3, ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of GCA during 2017

On September 1, 2017, we acquired alf of the outstanding stock of GCA, a provider of integrated facilily services
to educational institutions and commercial facilities, for a purchase price of approximately $1.3 billion. As described
in Note 18, “Segment and Geographic information,” we integrated GCA's operations into our Industry group model
effeclive Novemnber 1, 2017. As a result of the acquisition, we are now a leading facifilies services provider in the
education market.

Conslderation Transferred

MRevised during the ‘sacond quarter of 2018 to reflect a post-closing purchass price adjustment refated to a net working capital
settlement.

Purchase Price Allocation

As reported at As reported at
October 31, 2017 Adjustments Qctober 31, 2018

M the gross amount of trade accounts recelvable was $121.9 milflon, of which $5.6 million Is deemed uncallectible,

#The amoriization pariads for tha acquired infangibla assets ara 16 yaars for customer refationships and 2 years for trade namas,

I Goodwillis larysly atirioutable to value we expect to abtain from long-temm business growth, the established workfarce, and buyar-
specific synergies. This goodwill {s not deductibie for income tax purposes.
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Financial Information

During the year ended October 31, 2018, we recorded revenue related to GCA of $1.0 billion and opsrating
profit of 33,8 miliion, The {ollowing tabie presents our unaudited pro forma results for October 31, 2017 and 2016 as
though the GCA acqulisition occurred on November 1, 2015. These resuits include adjustments for the estimated
amortization of intangible assets, Interest expense, and the Income tax impact of the pro forma adjustments at the
statutory rate of 41%. These resuits were adjusted to excliude $24.2 million of acquisition-related costs incurred during
2017, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements
of comprehensive income. In addition, they do not reflect the cost of integration activities or benefits from expecled
revenue enhancemerts and synergies. Accordingly, the unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative
of the results that wouid have been achieved if the acquisition had been effective on November 1, 2015.

Yoars Endad October 31,

{in mithions)

‘Pro forma income from c
Other 2017 Acquisitions

Effective Dacember 1, 2016, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Mechanical Sofutions, fne. ("MS1"), &
provider of specialized HVAC, chitfer, and plumbing senvices, for a purchase price of $12.6 million. The purchase price
includes up to $1.0 million of undiscounted contingent consideration that is based on the expected achievement of
certain pre-gstablished revenue goals. See Note 7, *Fair Value of Financial instruments,” regarding our valuation of
cantingent consideration liabilities. As of December 1, 2016, the operations of MSI are included in our Technical
Solutions segment,

Effective Diecember 1, 2018, we also acquired all of the outstanding stock of OFJ Connections Lid ("OFJ"), &
pravider of alrport transportation services in the United Kingdom, for a purchase price of $6.3 million. As of December
1, 2016, the operations of OF J are included in our Aviation segment,

2018 Acquisitions

Effective September 30, 2016, we acquired afl of the outstanding stock of BRBIBR Limited, a company that
held ali of the oulstanding shares of & Solutions Ltd. ("6 Solutions"), a provider of technical cleaning services to data
centers in the United Kingdom and certain other locations, for a purchasa price of $16.1 milllon. As of September 30,
20186, the operations of B Solutions are included In our Business & industry seament, and 8 Solutions has been renamed
“ABM Critical Solutions Limited.”

Effactive December 1, 2015, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Westway Services Holdings (2014)
Ltd. ("Wesiway"), a provider of technical services to clients in the United Kingdom, for a purchase price of $81.0 million.
This actesition expanded the gecgraphical reach of eur technical solutions business to the United iKingdom, resulting
In the allocation of a significant partion of the purchase price to goodwill. As such, we recorded goodwill and intangible
assets of $53.8 miflon and $22.5 milllon, respectively. The goodwill associated with this acqulisifion Is not deductible
for tax purposes. See Note 10, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for information related fo impairment charges
we recorded during 2018. As of December 1, 2015, the operations of Westway are Inciuded in our Technical Sclutions
segment,

Pro Forma and Other Einancial Information

Except for GCA, we do not present pro farma and other financial information for our other acquisitions, as they
are not consfdered material business combinations individually or on & combined basis.
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4. RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED COSTS

GCA Restructuring

During the first quarter of 2018, we inftiated a restructuring program to achieve cost synergies feliowing the
acquisition of GCA. We incurred the malority of our anticipated severance expense associated with this restructuring
program in the first half of 2018. We expect to incur additional charges related to other project fees and rebranding
activitles in 2019,

2020 Vislon Restructuring

During the fourth quarier of 2015, our Board of Directors approved a comprehensive strategy intended to have
a positive transformative effect on ABM ({the "2020 Vision™), As part of the 2020 Vislon, we identified key priorities to
diferentiste ABM in the marketplace, accelerate revenue growth for certain industry groups, and Improve our margin
profile, We incurred additional expenses primarily related to external support fees and other project fees during 2018
relating to this strategy. We do not expact to incur significant 2020 Vislon restructuring and related expenses in the
future, other than in conneclion with the continued consolidation: of our real estate leases.

Roliforward of Restructuring énd Related Liabilities

External Other
Support Employee Project Lease Exit
Fa Saverance Costs

E——————
Tporate expanses.

Cumulative Restructuring and Related Charges

External Other
Support é?ﬂ‘tplc:lyee Project Lease Exit Asiset
e 14

Fees Fees Costs
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5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On October 26, 2015, in connection with cur 2020 Vislon, we soid substantially #8 of the assets of our Security
business to Universal Protection Service, L.P. for cash proceeds of $131.0 miifion, subject to a working capital
ad[ustment. In connection with the sale, we recorded a $23.6 millien gain, which was subsequently reduced by a §3.1
milffion working capital adjustment in 2016. Following the sale, we record all costs associated with this former business
in discontinued operaticns. Such costs generally relate to litigation we refained and insurance reserves. In 2017, we
incurred a net loss from discontinued operations of $74.3 million (a pretax loss of $123.7 million) primarily due to legal
settiements, in 2018, we had net income from discontinued operations of $1.8 million (pretax income of $2.6 mililon)
due to an insurance reimbursement on a legal seltiement and collaction of previously written off receivables, partially
offset by union audit settlements,

8. NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

Basic and Diluted Net ilncome Per Common Share Calculations

Years Ended October 31,

2018

(74.3)

‘Effect of dilutive securities

nceghares... .
Weighted-average commeon and common eguivalent
ares outstanding — Diluted

§ 147 § 0.07 §

Anti-Dilutive Outstanding Stock Awards Issued Under Share-Based Compensstion Plans

Years Ended October 34,
2017 2018

2018
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7. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Falr Vatue Hierarchy of Qur FInanclal Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

As of October 31,
Falr Value
(i mittivms) Hierarchy ) 2018 2017

hand cash equivalents’’:

" Cash and cash equivalents ara stated at nominal value, which equals fair vafue.

@ Reprasants restrictad deposits that are usad to collateraliza our Insurance obligations and are stated at nominal valus, which
squals fair value, These insurance deposits are included in "Other noncurent assets” on the accompanying consofidated balance
sheats. Sea Note 11, "Insurance,” for further Information.

@ Represents invastmients held in a Rabbi trust asscciated with ons of our defared compensation plans, which wae include in *Other
nencurmert assels” on the accompanylng consolidated balance sheats, The fair value of the assets held in the funded deferred
compenaation plan is based on queted market prices, See Note 13, "Employae Benefit Plans,” for further infermation,

“ Reprasents gross outstanding borrowings under our syndicated fing of tredit and term loan. Due o veriable interest rates, the
camying vaiua of outstanding bormowings under our line of credit and term toan approximates the fair value. Sea Note 12, “Credit
Fagility,” for further Informatien.

®Represants interast rate swap derivalives designated as cash flow hedges, The fair values of the Interest rate swaps are estimated
based on the present value of the difference bstween axpacted cash flowa calcutated at tha contracted interest rates and the
expacted cash flows at curment market interest rates using observable benchmarks for LIBOR forward rates at the end of tha pariod.
During April 2018, we alacted to tarminate our interest rate swaps and recognizad a gain In AGCL. Wa subsequently entered into
new forward starting interest rate swaps, See Note 12, "Cradit Facifity,” for further information, Qur interest rate swaps are included
in “Other noncurrent assets® on tha accompanying censclidatad balanca sheets.

) The fair value of investments in auction rate securities ls based on discounted cash fiow valuation models, primarily utilizing
unobservable inpuls, including assumpliens about the underlying collateral, credit risks associated with the issuer, cradi
enhancements associatad with financial insurance guarantess, and the pessibility of the sacurity belng re-financed by the issuer
or having a successful suction. These amounts are inciuded in “Other Investments” on the accompanying consalidated balance
sheets. Sea Note 8, “Auction Rate Sacurities,” for further information.

7 Certein of our acquisitions involve the payment of contingent consideration, The fair value of thesa liabilities Is based on the
expectad achievemnent of cartain pre-established revenue goals. In connection with the MSI acquisition during 2017, we recordad
ene new contingent consideration liabifity. Basad on the metrics of the underlying pre-established revenue goals, this contingent
sonsideration Hability was reduced to a neminal valus at October 31, 2018, This santingent considaration ability s inchuded on the
accompanying consolidated balance shaats in “Other noncuirent Habifitles” at October 31, 2017,

Daring 2018 and 2017, we had no transfers of assets or liabilities between any of the above hlerarchy levels.
Non-Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Reciring Basis

In awddition to assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recwring basls, we are also required
to measure certain tems at falr vakie on a non-recuming basis.

During 2018, we recorded impaiment charges on geodwill and customer relationships in connection with aur
annual assessment of goodwill, During 2016, we recorded impairment charges on both long-fived assets and goodwilt
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associated with the classification of the former Govemment Services business as held for sale, The impainment charges
were recoverad in 2017, See Note 10, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for further information,

Fair value of these items was determined based an unobservable Levei 3 inputs. The fair value of customer
relationships was defermined based on discounfed cash fiows associated with the customer relationships that include
significant management assumptions, including expected proceeds. The falr value of goodwill was determined based
on discounted cash flow analyses that inclkude significant management assumptions, such as revenue growth rates,
operating margins, welghted average cost of capital, and future economic and market conditions.

8. AUCTICN RATE SECURITIES

At October 31, 2017, we held investments in auction rate securities from two different issuers that had an
aggregate original principal amount of $10.0 million and an amorlized cost and fair value of $8.0 milllon. During the
third quarter of 2018, we sofd one of our auction rate securitios with an original par valtue of $5.0 rillion and an amortized
cost basis of $3.0milllon for proceeds of $2.9 miliion. The resulting foss isincluded In “Selling, generaland administeative
expenses” on the accompanying consolidated satements of comprehensive incoma, The total amount of other-than-
temporaryimpalrment credit loss previously recognized on this security investment and included in curretained eamings
was $2.0 mitfion.

At Oclober 31, 2018, the remaining auction rate security had an aggregate original principal amount, amortized
cost, and fair value of $5.0 million. This auction rate security is a deb! instrument with a stated maturity in 2050. The
interest rate for this securily is designed to be réset through Dutch auctions approximately every thirty days; however,
auctions for this security have not occurred since August 2007,

At October 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no unreaiized gains or losses on our auction rate securities included
in AOCL.

Slgnificant Assumptions Used to Determine the Fair Values of Our Auction Rate Securitles

Qctober 31, 2017
A DATh AL F009%

Assumpﬂon October 31 2018

L - Cne Month LIBOR
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, Plant and Equipment

As of October 31,
2018 2017

WEer 2018, 2017, end 20186, dapreciation expense was $46.5 milllon, $38.5 miilion, and $32.6 milion, respectively.
Capital Leases Included in Property, Plant and Equlpment

As of October 31,
2018 2017

10, GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Business & Jechno!ogg & Technlcat

finmilliong) Haulthclre Total

4083 § 5613 § 1800 §
E——— p———

{21y 38 0.4

‘Balance st October 31,2018 §  527.9 § 1249 § 4072 § G574 § 1587 § 687 § 15348

M Diyring 2017, goodwill srimarily Increased as arasult of the GCA acquisition. See Nota 3, “Acquisitions,” for additional informatien,

® Represents accumulated impairment charges at October 31, 2018,
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During the fourth quarter of 2018, as part of our annual assessment of goodwill, we recorded & goodwilt
impairment charge of $20.3 million for one of our reperting units within the Technical Solutions segment. In 2018, this
reporing unit's perfornance primarily reflected the adverse impact of Brexit and the resulting impact en microeconormic
conditions in the UK, retail sector and the anticipated loss of a significant customer contract, The Impalrment was also
affribuiable to a decline in profitability in the second half of 2018 and a revised future outiock for the business, including
reduced expectations of future sales, operating margins, and cash flows.

In additiort, on November 1, 2017, we reorganized our reportable segments and goodwill reporting units, In
connection with this reorganization, we performed a qualitative goodwill impairment test immediately before and after
the segment realignment, In analyzing the results of operatlons and business conditions of the goodwill reporting units,
we determined the #ikelihood of a goodwill impairment did not reach the more-likehythannot threshold specified In
U.S. GAAP for any of the reporting units that were evaluated. Accordingly, we concluded that gocdwili relfated to those
reporting units was not impaired and further quantitative testing was not reguired.

During 2018, we recorded a goodwill impalment charge of $6.0 million when we dlassHied our Government
Services business as held for sale, based upon the estimated fair value of the business at that time, During the second
quarter of 2017 wa received an offer from a strategic buyer to purchase this business for an amount in excess of our
originat esiimate fess cosls fo sefi, As 8 resuit, we recorded g full Impaimment recovery of the aforementioned §6.0
million goodwill Impairment in 2017.

Otheor Intangible Assets
October 31, 201e QOctober 31, 2017
Gross Gross
Camrying  Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated

it millign) . Amount  Amortization Total Amount  Amortization Total

J(1Ba8)

Ca
Total

5557 § @192 § (189.1) §  430.1

$ 8080 § (2504 §

W Reflects a net Impairment charge of $8.2 mitiion recorded in 2018, consisting of a $10.5 milfion reduction in the gross carrying
amount of the underlying customer relationships less $4.3 mifiion of scoumulated amertization.

2 These intangible assets are teing amorlized over the expected period of benefit, with a weighted averags life of approximately
13 years.

Estimated Annual Amortization Expense For Each of the Next Five Years

2022 2023

2019 2020 20
BB5: 493 %

} These amounts could vary as acquisitions of additional intanglble assets oceur In the futura.

During 2018, we also recorded an impairment charge of $8,2 million on customer relationships in the same
reporting unit within the Technical Solutions segment due to the same factors discussed above,

During 2016, we recordad an impaimnent charge of §4.4 miflon on certain intanglble assets when we classified
our Govemment Services business as held for sale, which was subsequently recovered In 2017 when we received
an offer from a strategic buyer to purchase this business that was higher than our estimate of fair value less costs to
sell,

The estimates of future cash flows used in determining the fair value of goodwill and other intangible assets
involve significant management judgment and are based upon assumptions about expected future operating
performance, econcemic conditlons, market conditions, and cost of capital. Inherent in estimating the fulure cash flows
are uncertainties beyond our control, such as changes In capital markets, The actual cash flows coutd differ materially
from management's estimates due to changes In business condilions, operafing performance, and economic
conditions.
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11. INSURANCE

‘e use a combination of insured and self-insurance programs to cover workers' compensgation, generatfiabllity,
automobile Hability, properly damage, and other insurable risks. For the malorily of these Insurance programs, we
refain the initial $1.0 million of exposure on a per-occurence basis, either through deductibles or self-insured retentions,
Beyond the retalned expesures, we have varying primary policy {imits ranging between $1.0 miffion and $5.0 million
per eccurrence. To cover general Hability and automobile Hability losses above these primary fimits, we maintain
commercial umbrelia insurance policles that provide aggregate limits of $200.0 million. Qurinsurance policies generally
coverworkers’ compensation losses o the full extent of statutory requirements, Additionatly, to cover property damage
risks above our retalned limits, we maintain policies that provide per occurrance limits of $75.0 miflion. We are also
self-insured for certain employee medical and dental plans. We maintain stop-loss insurance for our selfinsurad
medical plan under which we retain up to $0.4 million of exposure on a per-participant, per-yesr basis with respect to
claims, Since Saptember 1, 2017, GCA's workers' compensation, general liabifity, automobile liabllity, and other
insurable risks have been covered under the ABM Insurance policles.

The adequacy of our reserves for workers’ compensation, general Eability, automobile liability, and property
damage insurance claims is based upon known trends and events and the actuarial estimates of required reserves
conskiering the most recently completed actuarlafreports, We use all available infermation to develop our best estimate
of insurance claims reserves as information is obtained, The results of actuarial studies are used to estimate our
insurance rates and insurance reserves for future pericds and to adjust reserves, if appropriate, for prior years. During
each of 2018 and 2017, we performed both an actuarial review and an aciuarial update, as described below, As a
result of these studies, we increased our reserves far claims related to prior periods by $10.2 million and $22.0 miliien
during 2018 and 2017, respectively,

Insurance Reserve Adjustments
Actuarial Studies Performed During 2018

During 2018, we performed actuarlal studles of our casually Insurance pregrams that considered changes In
claim developments and claim payment activity for the pericd commencing May 1, 2017 and ending Aprif 30, 2018 for
alt policy years in which open claims existed.

The actuarial studies indicated the changes we have made to our risk management program have reduced
the freqtiency of claims; however, we are experiencing adverse developments that impact claim costs relating to prior
periads, Claim managerment initistives include programs fo identify claims that have the potential to develop adversely
earfter In the claims cycle and ensure the establishment of reserves consistent with knawn fact pattems. However,
with respect fo claims related o certain pricr fiscal years, the actuarial studies showed unfaverable developments in
our estimates of ultimate losses retated to general liability, praperly damage, workers’ compensation, and automobile
liability claims, as described below.

The actuarial studies refated to our general liability pregram indicated tive total number of claims continues o
show a paftem of decreasing losses, particularly with bodily injury claims. However, we experienced adverse
developments with respect to claims related o certain prior fiscal years that are largely attributable to adjustments for
certaln alleged bodly Injury claims and to losses for property damage.

Due to increases in projected costs and severity of claims in certain prior fiscal years, in 2018 we increased
our estimate of ultimate losses for workers' compensation claims, Statutory, regulatory, and legal developments have
also contributed to the Increase In our estimated losses. Qur workers” compensation estimate of ulimate losses was
primarily impacted by increases in projected costs for a significant number of prior year claims in California.

Our auternobile liability program covers our fleet of passenger vehicles, service vans, and shuttie buses, which
are associated with our various transportation service contracts. Claim frequency and severity associated with our
fleet operations develeped unfavarably versus actuarial expectations, consistent with insurance trends exhibited in
the broader insurance book of claims.

Based on the rasults of the actuarlal studies performed during 2018, which included analyzing recent loss
development pattems, comparing the loss development agalnst benchmarks, and appiving actuarial projection methods
to estimate ultimate losses, we Increased our tofal reserves for known claims as well as our estimate of the loss
amounts associated with IBNR Claims for prior periods by $10.2 million during 2018, This adjustment was $11.8 million
lower than the total adjustment related to prior year claims of $22.6 milllon in 2017,
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Insurance Related Balances and Activity

Ostober 31, 2618 Octlober 31, 2047

: 2 claim reserves, excluding medical and dental
Medical and dental claim reserves

At QOctober 31, 2018 and 2017, insurance recoverables are included in both “"Other current assets” and “Other
noncurrent assets” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Casualfy Program insurance Reserves Rollforward

Years Ended October 31,
2016

[ H
(128.5) (105.2) (104.8)
_ ; WIET

rabl

‘Gross balance, October 31 ' 3 5014 8 4856 §

7.9

“ includes reserves related fo discentinued operafions of appraximately $3 illion: for 2018, $1€ million for 2017, and $12 million
for 2016.

instruments Used to Collateralize Qur Insurance Obligations

As of October 31,
pmifions) 2018 2017
‘Blandby letters of credit: 7
Sty o 0e : s : e S
(Restricted in€urance deposits 2

Total ) 3 2339 § 7263
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12, CREDIT FACILITY

On September 1, 2017, we refinanced and replaced our then-existing $800.0 milliun credit facility with a new
senior, secured five-year syndicaled credit facility (the “Credit Facilty”), consisting of a $900.0 miilion revelving Ene of
credit and an $800,0 miflion amontizing tenm loan, scheduted {o mature on September 1, 2022, In accordance with the
terms of the Credi Faciity, the fine of credit was reduced 1o $880.0 million on September 1, 2018. The Credit Facility
also provides for the issuance of up to $300.0 million for standby letters of credit and the issuance of up to $75.0 milllon
in swingline advances, The obfigations under the Credit Facllity are secured on a first-priority basls by a Hien on
substantially all of our assets and properties, subject to certain exceptions,

Barrowings under the Credit Facilily bear interest at a rate equal to 1-month LIBOR plus a spread that is based
upan aur leverage rafio. The spread ranges from 1.00% to 2.25% for Eurccurrency loans and 0.00% to 1.25% for bass
rate Yoans, At October 31, 2018, the weighted average interest rate on our outstanding borrowings was 4.34%. We
also pay a commitment fee, based on our leverage ratio and payable quarterly in arrears, ranging from 0.200% fo
0.350% on the average daily unused portion of the fine of credit, For purposes of this calculation, imevocable standby
fetters of credit, which are Issued primarily In conjunction with our insurance programs, and cash borrowings are
inchetied as outstanding under the Ene of credit,

The Credit Facility contains certain covenants, including a minimum fixed charge coverage ratlo of 1.50fo 1.0,
a maximum [everage ratio, as well as other financial and non-financial covenants. The maximum leverage ratlo was
4,75 to 1.0 through Apri| 2018 and steps down to 3,50 to 1,0 by July 2020, On September 5, 2018, we amended our
Credi Facility 1o increase the maximum leverage ratio for fiscal quarters commencing July 31, 2018 through April 30,
2021 by 25 lasis points for such guariers, In the event of a material acquisition, as defined in the Credit Facllity, we
may elect to increase the leverage ratio to 3.75 to 1.0 for a total of four fiscal quarters, provided the leverage ratio had
already been reduced to 3.50 fo 1.0. Our bomowing capacity is subject o, and fimited by, compliance with the covenants
described above, At October 31, 20418, we were in compliance with these covenants,

The Credit Facility also inciudes customary events of default, including faflure to pay principal, interest, or fees
when due, failure to comply with covenants, the occurrence of certain material judgments, or a change in control of
the Company. If cerfain events of default ovecur, including certain cross-defaults, insolvency, change in control, or
viotaflon of specific covenants, the lenders can terminate or suspend our access to the Credit Facilily and declare ajl
amounts cutstanding (including all accrued interest and unpald fees) to be inmediately due and payable, and require
that we cash collateralize the outstanding standby letters of credit.

Total deferred financing costs related to the Credi Facllity were $18.7 milion, conslsting of $13.4 miflon related
ta the term Yean and §5.2 million related fo the fine of credit, which are being amortized fo inferest expense over the
term of the Credit Faclity,

Credit Faciiity Informaticn

£ mittions) October 31, 2018  Dctobaer 31, 2017

™ Standby letfers of credit amounted ta $152.9 million at October 31, 2018,
@ at October 31, 2018, we had barrowing capacity of $467.3 million; however, covanant restricticns limited cur borrowing cepacity
to $4441.3 million.
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Torm Loan Maturities

During the first quarter of 2018, we made $20.0 million of principal payments, At October 31, 2018, thefollowing
principal payments are required under the term loan.

2019 2020

2022

Interest Rate Swaps

We enter into inferest rate swaps fo manage the interest rafe risk associated with our floating-rate, LIBOR-
based borrowings under the Credit Facility, Under these arvangements, we typically pay afixed interest rate in exchange
for LIBOR-based variable interest throughout the life of the agreement, We iniilally report the mark-to-market gain or
loss on a derivative as a componsnt of AOC! and subsequently reclassify the gain or loss into earnings when the
hedged transactions occur and affect eamings. Interest payables and receivables under the swap agreements are
accried and recorded as adjustiments fo inferest expense. All of our interest rate swaps have been desigiated and
accounted for as cash flow hedges from inception. See Note 7, “Falr Value of Financial Instruments,” regarding the
valuation of our interest rate swaps,

Buring April 2018, we elected to terminate all of our interest rate swaps and recelved cash proceeds of $25.8
mifiton from the swap counterparfies upon termination. We classified the cash proceeds as an operating activily on
our consolidated statements of cash flows. We subsequently entered info new forward-staring Interest rate swaps, as
summarized below.

Effective Data Ataturity Date
svember §, 2018 . pri] 30; 202
November 1, 2018

Notional Amount Fixed Interest Rate

" 30.0 million
§ 1300 il

At October 34, 2018, the amount recorded in AOCI for interest rate swaps was $17.8 millian, net of taxes of
$7.1 miliion. This amount included the gain realized upon tenmination, which will be amortized fo interest expense as
interast payrments are made over the term of our Credit Facllity, During 2018, we amortized $1.8 mitfion of this gain,
net of taxes of $0.7 million, to Interest expense. Additionally, at October 31, 2018, the amount expectedto bereclassified
from AGC| to samings during the next fwelve months, including amounts from our new interest rate swaps, was §4.4
million, net of taxes of $1,7 million, At October 31, 2017, amounts recorded In AOCI were $1.7 miftlon, net of taxes of
$1.2 million.
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13, EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Beneflt Plans

We provide benefits to certain employees under various defined benefit and postretirement benefit plans
(coffectively, the “Plans®). The Plans were previously amended to preciude new participants. All but one of the Plans
are unfunded.

Information for the Pians

As of October 31,
2018 2047

At October 31, 2018, assets of the Plans were invested 48% in equities, 47% In fixed Income, and 5% in cash.
The expected retum on assets was $0.4 miflion during each of 2018 and 2017 and $0.5 milflon during 2016, The
aggregate net periodic benefit cost for alt Plans was $0.2 milllon for each of 2018, 2017, and 2016. Future benefit
payments in the agyregate are expected to be $13.8 miflion.

Deferred Compensation Plans

We maintain deferred compensation plans that permit eliglble empiovees and directors o defer a portion of
their compensation. At October 31, 2018 and 2017, the total Bability of all deferred compensation was $73.9 miilion
and $17.6 milllon, respectively, and these amounts are included In “Other accrued ilabllities™ and “Other noncurrent
liabilities” on the accompanying consofidated balance shests. Under one of our deferred compensation plans, a Rabbl
frust was created fo fund the obllgations, and we are required te contribute a portion of the deferred compensation
contributions for efigible participants. The assets held inthe Rabbl rust are not avaliable for general corporate purposes,
At October 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of these assets was $2.7 million and $4.8 million, respectively, and these
amounts are Included In "Other noncurrent assets” an ithe accompanying consofldated balance sheets, Aggregate
expense recognized under these deferred compensation plans was $0.4 million for each of 2018, 2017, and 2016,

Defined Contribution Plans

We gponsor four defined contribution plans covering certain employess that are subject to the appficable
provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code {"IRC"). Certain
plans permit a company match of a portion of the participant’s contributions or a discretionary contribution after the
participant has met the ellgibiiity requirements set forth In the plan. During 2018, 2017, and 2016, we made matching
contributions required by the plans of $21.8 million, $13.7 milfon, and $11.7 mitlion, respectively.

Multiamployer Pension and Postretiroment Plans

We participate in various muitiemployer pension plang under union and Industry-wide agreements that provide
defined pension benefils to employees covered by colfaclive bargaining sgreements, Becausae of the naiure of
multiemployer plans, there are risks associated with participation in these plans that differ from single-employer plans,
Assets contributed by an employer fo a multiemployer plan are not segregated into a separate account and are not
restricied to provide benefits onlyto employees of that contributing employer. In the eventanothar participating employer
in a multiemployer plan no longer contributes to the plan, the unfunded obiigations of the plan may be borne by the
remaining participating employers, including us, In the event of the termination of a multiemployer pension plan or a
withdrawat from a muttiemployer pensicn plan, we could incur material liabilities under applicable law.
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Key Information for Individuafly Significant Multiemployer Detined Banefit Pension Plans'

Pension Protection Act FIPIRP Expiration
fit millios) Zone Status™ Btatust Contributions by ABM Dates of
Panding! Baryalnln

2017

Penston Fund EINPN™ 2018 2017 tmplementad 2018

2016 Imposed®  Agreoment
— = ]

"Centrel Persion £und of s IUOE & 1213472018 -
Participating Employers 1273182021

GI’BBI:I Grean
201 1912097 A e

Locui 25 SEIU & Puﬁin:lpa ing
Empluyers Pamlon rust

stim Ga"!erem:a of feameters 91-6145047 /
Punslnn Pl

* Not applicable

Mo datermine individually significant plans, we evaluated several factors, including our tatal cantributions e the plan, our significance
to the plan in terms of participating employses and contributions, and the fundad status of the plan.

B Tha “EINPN" column provides the Employer dentification Number and the three-digit pian number assigned to the plan by the Intemal
Revenue Service ("IRS").

 Tha Pensicn Frotection Act Zena Status coiumns provida the twe most recently avallable Pension Protection Act zone statuses from
each plan. The zona stafus is based o information provided to us and other participating employers and Is certified by each plan's
acluary, Amanyg ofher factors, plans in the red zona are generally [ess than 65% funded, plans in the ysilow zone are fess than B0%
funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80% fundad.

® |ndicates whether a Financial improvement Pian (“FIP*) for yellow zone plans or a Rehabiiitation Plan {"RP") for red zone plans is
pending or implemented.

® Indicates whether our contributicn in 2048 includad an amount in addition to the contributicn rate specified in the applicable collsctive
bargaining agresment as impoesad by & pian in the red zone.

BO

Multiemployer Pension Plans for which ABM is a Significant Contribufor

Contributions to the plan exceaded mora than 5% of !n%a!
per

y a

Panston Fund {as of lhe plan's year end)

Servioe Erfg)lu‘yees inte al
Cperafors Pension Tnm Fund'

.T;amsm.rs i.w;\l Unlén 'No. 127 F;eria‘(on P}an '
* Thaese plans are not separatsly listed in our multiemployer table as they reprasent an inslgnificant portion of our total multiempleyer
penston pian contributions.

There have been no significant changes that affect the comparability of tota) contributions for any of the perieds presented,
Muttiempioyer Defined Contribution Plans

i addition to contributions noted above, we alsc make contributions to multiemployer defined contribution plans.
During 2018, 2017, and 2016, our contributions to the defined contribution plans were $10.8 milliorr, $5.4 million, and $6.6
million, respectively,

Other Multiemployer Postretirement Benefit Plans

We alsa contribute to several muklemployer postretirement health and welare plans based on obligations arising
under coflective bargaining agreements covering union-represented employees, These plans may provide medical,
pharmacy, dental, vision, mental health, and other benefits to employees as determined by the trustees of each plan. The
majority of our contributlons benefit active employeses and, as such, may not constitute contributions to a postretirement
benefit plan. However, since we are unable fo separate contribulion amounts to postrefirement benefit plans from
contribution amounts pald to benefif active employees, we categorize all such amounts as contributions io postretirement
benefit plans, During 2018, 2017, and 2018, our contributions to such plans were $263.4 million, $247.9 milion, and $224.5
million, respectively, There have baen no significant changes that affect the comparabifity of total contributions for any of
the periods presented.
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14, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease and Other Similar Commitments

Future Minimum Paymenis

Operating and
granillions) Capltal Cther'"
o, ;20
October 31, 2020
October 817202
October 31, 2022
Octoner 31,7093

Bncludes totaf astimated subleasa rental Incoma of $19.5 million.

Rental and Other Expense

2018

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds

We use letiers of credit and surety bonds to secure certalin commitments refated to insurance programs and
for other purposes. As of October 31, 2018, these lefters of credit and surety bonds totaled $152.9 miflion and $475.3
million, respectively, Included in the total amount of surety bonds is $1.8 miflon of bonds with an effective date starting
after October 31, 2018,

Guarantees

In some instances, we offer clients guaranteed energy savings under certain energy savings contracts, At
October 31, 2018 and 2017, tolal guarantees were $171.7 million and $157.2 million, respectively, andthese guarantees
extend through 2038 for both periods. We accrue for the estimated cost of guarantees when it is probable that a liability
has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Historically, we have not incurred any material losses
in connectien with these guarantees.

In connection with an unconsolidated joint venture in which one of our subsidiaties has a 33% ownership
interest, that subsidlary and the other foint venture pariners have each jointly and severally guaranteed the cbligations
of the joint venture to perform under certain contracls extending through 2018. Annual revenues relating fo the
underlying contracts are approximately $35 milflon. Should the joint venture be unable to perform under these contracts,
the joint venture partners would be jointly and severally flable for any losses Incurred by the client due o the faflure to
perform.

Indemnifications

We are party to a variely of agreements under which we may be cbligated to indemnify the other parly for
certain matters, These agreements are primarily standard indemnification arrangements entered into in our ordinary
course of business. Pursuant to these arrangements, we may agree to indemnlify, hold hanmless, and reimburse the
indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally our clients, in connection with
any clalms arising out of the services that we provide. We also incur costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related
fo these indemnification arangements, and in most cases these costs are paid from our insurance program, Athough
we attempt to place iimits on such indemnification arrangements related 1o the size of the contract, the maximum
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obligation may not be explicitly stated and, as a result, the maximum potential amount of fulure payments we could
he required to make under these arrangements is not determinable.

Our ceriificate of incorporation and bylaws may require us fo indemnify our directors and officers for certain
liabilitles that were Incurred as a result of their status or service to ABM as a director or officer, The amount of these
obligations cannot be reasonably estimated.

Sales Tax Audlts

We collect safes tax from clients and remit those collactions to the applicable states. When clients fail 1o pay
their involces, including the amount of any sales tax that we paid on their bahalf, in some cases we are entitied to seek
a refund of that amount of sales tax from the applicable state. Sales tax laws and regulations enacted by the varlous
states are subject to Interpretation, and cur compliance with such laws is routinely subject fo audit and review by such
states, Audit risk is concenirated in several states, and these states are conducting ongoing audits. The outcomes of
ongoing and any future audits and changes in the states' Interpretation of the sales tax laws and regulafions could
materially adversely impact our results of operations.

Legal Matters

We are a party to a number of lawsuits, ciaims, and preceedings incident to the operation of our business,
including those pertaining to labor and employment, confracts, personal injury, and other matters, some of which allege
substantial monetary damages. Some of these actions may be brough! as class actions on behalf of a class or purported
class of employees,

At October 31, 2018, the total amount accrued for all probable fitigation losses where a reasonable estimate
of the loss could be made was $12.6 mitfion. This $12.6 mion includes accruals of $3.8 mitlion in connection with the
Hussein case and $5.4 million in connection with the Castro case, which are discussed below,

Litigation outcomes are difficult to predict and the estimation of probable losses requires the analysis of multipie
possible outcomes that ofien depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties, If one or more matters are
resolved in g particular period in an amount in excess of, or in a manner different than, what we anticipated, this could
have a material adverse effect on ouwr financial position, results of operafions, or cash flows.

We do not accrue for canfingent losses that, in our judgment, are considered to be reasonably possible but
not probable. The estimation of reasonably possible losses also requires the analysis of multiple possible sutcomes
that often depend on judgments akout potential actions by third parfies. Our management currently estimates the
range of loss for afl reasonably possible fosses for which a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made is between
zero and $4 millfon. Factors underlying this estimated range of loss may change from fime to time, and actual results
may vary slgnificantly from this estimate.

In some cases, althoughaloss is probable orreasonably possibie, we cannotreasonably estimate the maxémum
potential fosses for probabie matters or the range of losses for reasonably possible matters. Therefore, our accrual
for probable losses and our estimated range of loss for reasonably possible losses do net represent our maximum
possible exposura,

While the resuis of these lawsuits, claims, and proceedings cannot be predicted with any certainty, our
management believes that the final outcome of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, resulls of operations, or cash flows,

Certain Legal Frocesdings

Certain lawsuits to which we are a party are discussed below. In determining whether to include any particular
lawsuit or other proceading, we consider both quantitative and qualitative factors, These factors include, but are not
limited to: the amount of damages and the nature of any other relief sought In the proceeding; #f such damages and
vther refief are specified, our view of the merits of the claims; whether the action is or purports to be a class action,
and our view of the likelihood that a class wilf be cerfifled by the courf; the Jurisdiction In which the proceeding is
pending; and the potential impact of the proceeding on our reputation.
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‘The Consolidated Cases of Bucio and Marfinez v. ABM Janiforial Services filed on Apnil ¥, 2008, In the Superior
Court of California, Counfy of San Francisca (the “Buclo case?)

The Buclo case is a class action pending in San Francisco Superior Court that alleges we failed to provide
legally required meal periods and make additional premium payments for such meal periods, pay split shift premiums
when owed, and reimburse janitors for travel expenses. There Is also a claim for penalties under the California Labor
Code Private Attorneys Generaf Act ('PAGA”™). On April 19, 2011, the trial court held a hearing on plaintiffs’ motion to
certify the class. At the conelusion of that hearing, the trial court denied plaintiffs' motion to certify the class. On May 11,
2011, the plaintiffs filed a motion to reconsider, which was denied. The plaintiffs appealed the class cerlification ssues,
The triaf court stayed the underlying lawsult pending the decisfon in the appeal. The Court of Appeal of the State of
California, First Appeliate District (the “Court of Appeal’), heard oral arguments on November 7, 2017. On December
11, 2017, the Court of Appeal reversed the {rial courl's order denying class certification and remanded the matter for
certification of a meal period, travel expense relmbursement, and spiit shift ciass. The case was remitted fo the trial
court for further proceedings on class certification, discovery, dispositive motions, and trial,

On September 20, 2018, the trial court entered an order defining four certified subclasses of janiors who were
employed by the legacy ABM janitorial companies in Cafifornia at any time between April 7, 2002 and Aprll 30, 2013,
on claims based on previous auto deduction practices for meat breaks, unpaid meal premiums, unpald spiit shift
premiums, and unreimbursed business expenses, such as mileage reimbursement for use of personal vehicles to
travel between worksites, The period of time covered by the PAGA claim will also be considered by the court shortly.
This matter has not been set for trial. Prior to triaf, we will have the opporiunity to move for summary judgment, seek
decertification: of the dasses, or mediate, if we deem such actions appropriate.

Hussein and Hirsi v. Alr Serv Corporation filed on January 20, 2016, pending In the United Sfates District Court
for the Western District of Washinglon at Seattle (the “Hussein case’} and

Isse et al. v. Air Serv Corporaticn filed on February 7, 2017, in the Superior Court of Washingten for King
County fthe *Isse cass”)

The Hussein case was a certified ciass action involving a class of certain hourly A Serv employees at Seatfle-
Tacoma Intemnationat Airport in SeaTac, Washington. The plaintiffs alleged that Air Serv violated a minimum wage
requirement in an ordinance applicable to cerdain employers in the local cily of SeaTac (the “Ordinance”). Plaintiffs
solight retroactive wages, double damages, interest, and attomeys’ fees. This matter was removed to federal court.
In a separate lawsuit brought by Filo Foods, LLC, Alaska Airlines, and several other employers at SeaTac Airport, the
King County Superior Court {the “Superior Court’} lssued a declslon that Invalldated the Ordinance as It applied fo
workers at SeaTac Airport. Subsequently, the Washington Supreme Court reversed the Superior Court's decision, On
February 7, 2017, the Isse case was filed against Air Serv on behalf of 60 individual plaintiffs (who would otherwise
be members of the Hussein class), who alleged failure to comply with both the minimum wage provision and the sick
and safetime provision cfthe Ordinance. The /sse plaintiffs sought retroactive wages and sick benefits, double damages
for wages and sick benefits, interest, and attorneys’ fees. The /sse case later expanded to approximately 220 Indlvidual
plalntiffs.

In mediations on November 2 and 3, 2017, and without admitting liabilily in either matler, we agreed to setile
the Hussein and /sse cases for a combined total of $8.3 million, inclusive of damages, interest, attomeys' fees, and
employer payroll taxes. Efigible employess will be able to particlpate In elther the Husseln or Isse seftlements, but
cannot recover In both settfiements. The seftiements in both cases require caurt approval because of the nature of the
clalms being refeased. On December &, 2017, the Superior Court approved the settternent agreement for the 220 Isse
plaintiffs, and we subsequently made a setiement payment of $4.5 million to the /sse plalntiffs in January 2018, $3.8
miltion remains accrued for the Hussein case,

On.July 30, 2018, the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington at Seattle prelliminarily
approved the settlement in the Husseln case. At the final approval hearing on December 4, 2018, the court (i) accepted
opt-cut notices from 78 Hussein class members (the "opt-out members™) indicating their intent to participate in separate
lawsuits {leaving 386 class members In the Hussein class), (i) directed the parties to recalculate the settlement amount
by deducting the setflement funds attributable to the 78 apt-out members, and (iii) requested other minor changes,
but indicated that the court intended to grant final approval of the settfement with these changes. On December 20,
20118, the court issued its order granting final approvatl of the class action seftiement, The Hussein settlement funds
will be paid In February 2019, provided there are no appeals or requests for review of the final approval order, The
amount of the settlement funds attributable to the 78 opt-out members is approximately $0.9 milion.
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Castro and Marmolajo v. ABM Industries, Inc., ef a1, filed on Cofoher 24, 2014, pending in the United Stafes
District Court for the Northem Disfrict of California (the "Castro case”}

On QOctober 24, 2014, Plaintiff Marley Castro filed a class action lawsult alleging that ABM did not reimburse
Janitorial employees in Catifornia for using their personai cell phones for work-refated purposes, in violation of Califomia
Labor Code section 2802, On January 23, 2015, Plaint!ff Lucia Marmolejo was added to the case as a named plalntlff,
On October 27, 2017, plaintiffs moved for class certificaticn seeking to represent a class of all employees who were,
are, or wil be emploved by ABM in the State of Californla with the Employee Master Job Description Code
"Cleaner” (iereafter referred to as “Cleaner Employees”) beginning from October 24, 2010, ABM filed its opposition
to class certification on November 27, 2017, On January 26, 2018, the district court granted plaintiffs’ motion for class
certification. The court rejected plaintiffs’ proposed class, instead certifying three classes that the court formulated on
its own: (1) all employees who were, are, or will be emploved by ABM in the State of California as Cleaner
Employees who used a personal cell phone to punch in and out of the EPAY system and who (a) worked at an ABM
facility that did not provide a biometric clock and (b) were not ofered an ABM-provided cell phone during the period
beginning on January 1, 2012, through the date of notice to the Class Members that a class has been cerlified in this
action; (2) all employees who were, are, or will be employed by ABMin the State of California as Cleaner Employees who
used a personal cell phone to report unusual or susplcious circumstances to supervisors and were not offered (a) an
ABM-provided cell phone or (b} a two-way radio during the period beginning four years prior to the filing of the original
complaint, October 24, 2014, through the date of noflce to the Class Members that a class has been certified in this
action; and (3) all employees who were, are, or wifl be employed by ABM in the State of California as Cleaner
Employees who used a personal ceff phone to respond 1o communications from supervisors and were nof offered (a)
an ABM-provided cell chone or (b) 8 two-way radio during the period beginning four years prior to the filing of the
original complaint, Octaber 24, 20114, through he date of notice to the Class Members that a class has been certified
in this action.

On February 8, 2018, ABM filed a petition for permission to appeal the district court's order granting class
certificafion with the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Clrcult, which was denied on Aprll 30, 2018, On March
20, 2018, ABM moved to compel arbitration of the claims of cerfaln class members pursuant to ihe terms of three
collective bargaining agreements, In response to that motien, on May 14, 2018, the district court modified the class
definiticn to exclude all claims arising after the operative date(s) of the applicable colleclive bargaining agreements
{which is June 1, 2016 for one agreement and May 1, 2016 for the other two agreements), However, the district court
denied the motion to compe] arbitration as to clalms that arose prior to the operative date(s) of the applicable collective
bargaining agreements. ABM has appealed to the Ninth Circuit the district court’s order denying the motion to compel
arbitration with respect to the perlods preceding the operative dates of the collective bargaining agreements,

After a court-ardered mediation hefd on Octoloer 15, 2018, the parties agreed to a class action settlement of
$5.4 million, subject to court approval. We anticipate the plaintiffs’ motion for prefiminary approval will be filed with the
court in the first quarter of fiscal year 2019, and a hearing on the motion is expected in the first or second quarter of
fisced year 2018,
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15. PREFERRED AND COMMON STOCK

Preferrad Stock
We are authorized to lssue 500,000 shares of preferred stock. None of these preferred shares are issued.
Common Stock

On Beptember 2, 2015, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $200.0 million of our
common stock. Purchases may take place on the open market or otherwise, and all or part of the repurchases may
be made pursuant to Rule 10p5-1 plans or in privately negotiated transactions, The timing of repurchases is at our
discretion and wiil depend upon several factors, including market and business candltions, future cash flows, share
price, and share availabiily. Repurchased shares are retired and retumed fo an authorized but unissued status, The
repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time without prior notice. At October 31, 2018,
authorization for $134.1 mifiion of repurchases remained under our share repurchase program.,

Repurchase Activity

Years Ended October 31,
2017

16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

We use various share-based compensation plans to provide incentives for our key employees and directors.
Currantly, these incentives primarily consist of RSUs, performance shares, and stock options.

OnMay 2, 2008, our stockholders approved the 2006 Equity incentive Plan {the "2008 Equity Plan”). The 2006
Equity Plan is an ommibus plan that provides for a variety of equity and equity-based award vehicles, including stock
options, stock appretiation rights, RSUs, performance shares, and other share-based awards. Shares subject to
awards that terminate without vesting or exercise are available for future awards under the 2006 Equlty Plan, Certain
of the awards under the 2006 Equity Plan may qualify as "performance-based” compensation under the IRC.

‘The 2006 Equity Plan was amended In March 2018 {o increase the total shares of commen stock authorized
for issuance from 1,679,285 to 13,475,265, and at Octaber 31, 2018, there were 3,285,835 shares of common stotk
available for grant for future equity-based compensation awards. In addition, there are cerfain pians under which we
can no longer issue awards, although awards outstanding under these plans may still vest and be exercised,

We afso maintain an employee stock purchase plan, which our stockholders approved on March 8, 2004 (the
“2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan”). The 2004 Empioyee Stock Purchase Plan was amended in March 2016 to
increase 1he total shares of common stock authorized for issuance 1o 4,000,000, Effective May 1, 2008, the 2004
Employee Stack Purchase Plan Is no lenger conslidered compensatory and the values of the awards are no longer
treated as share-based compensation expense, Additionafly, as of that date, the purchase price became 85% of the
fair value of our common stock price on the last trading day of the month. Employees may designate up to 10% of
thelr compensation for the purchase of stock, subject to a $25,000 annual limit, Employees are required to hold their
shares for a minimurmn of $ix months from the date of purchase. At October 31, 2018, there were 827,304 remalning
unlssued shares under the 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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Compensation Expense by Type of Award and Related Income Tax Benefit

Years Ended October 31,
2017 2018

2018

'"Per'foma[nqe shares
#Stack aptions

'Share-hased compensation expense, net of taxes

RSUs and Dividend Equlvalent Rights

We award RSUs {o eligible employees and our directors {each, a “Grantee”) that entitie the Grantee fo receive
shares of our commen stock as the units vest. RSUs granted to eligible employees generally vest with respect to 50%
of the underiying award on the secand and fourth anniversary of the award. RSUs granted to directers vest over three
years, In general, the receipt of RSUs is subject to the Grantee’s continuing employment or service as a directar,

RSUs are crediled with dividend equivatent rights that are converted to RSUs at the fair market value of our
common stock on the dates the dividend payments are made and are subject to the same ferms and conditions as
the undertlying award,

RSU Activity
Welghted-
Average
Number of Grant Date
Shares Fair Value per
{in millions) Share
‘Dufstanding at Octob

Granted
Vester fmcliding 071 e}
Forfeited
‘Qutstanding st Octobera31 20187

At Getober 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to RSUs was
$17.3 milion, which Is expected to be recognized ratably over a welghled-average vesting perlod of 2.6 years. In 2018,
2017, and 2016, the weighted-average grant date fair value per share of awards grarted was $37.98, $41.79, and
$35.82, respectively, In 2018, 2017, and 2018, the total grant date fair value of RSUs vested and converted to shares
of ABM commen stock was $7.4 mifiion, $9.4 miffion, and $7.2 million, respectively.

Performance Shares, Including TSR Performance Shares

Performance shares consist of a contingent right to recelve shares of our commeon stock based on perfermance
targets adopted by our Compensation Committee, Performance shares are credited with dividend equivalent rights
that wilf be converted to performance shares at the fair market value of our common stock beginning after the
performance fargets have been satisfied and are subject to the same ferms and conditions as the underlying award.

For certain performance share awards, fre number of performance shares that witl vest Is based on pre-
established Internal financial performance targets and typically a three-year service and performance period. The
number of TSR awards that will vest Is based on our {otal shareholder retum relative to the S&P 600 at the time of
grant over the respective three-year performance period. Vesting of 0% to 150% of the awards originafly granted may
occur depending on the respective performance metrics under both award types,
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Perfonmance Share Activily
Welghted-
Average
Number of Grant Date
Shares Fair Value per
ilitons) Share

‘Forel E:;
"Outstanding at October 31, 2018 08 § 35,86

At October 31, 2018, tolal unrecognized compensation cost related to performance share awards was $13.7
million, which is expected to be recognized ratably over a weighted-average vesting period of 1.8 years, Except for
TSR performance shares, these cosis are based on estimated achievement of performance targets and estimated
casis are perlodically reevaluated, For our TSR performance shares, these costs are based on the falr value of awards
at the grant date and are recognized on & straight-line basis over the service period of tiree years,

In 2018, 2017, and 20186, the weighted-average grant date falr value per share of awards granied was $368.53,
$39.21, and $28.99, respectively. In 2018, 2017, and 2016, the total grant date falr value of performance shares vested
and converted to shares of ABM commaon stock was $7.3 milllon, $7,0 milllon, and $6.6 million, respectively.

In 2018, 2017, and 2016, we used the Monte Cardo simulation valuation technigque to estimate the fair valee
of TSR performance share grants, which used the assumptions in the table below,

Monte Carlo Assumptions

Expected stock price valatility®
Risk-fres interast rate™ W 1%
Stock pricet $ 3902 & 49,21

) The expacted life reprosents the ramalning performence pariod of the awards.

@ The expected volatility for each grant is determined based on the historicel votatiity of our common stock over a peried equal to
tha ramalning term of the performanca pericd from the date of grant for all awards.

© The risk-free interast rate is based on the continuous compounded yield on U.S, Treasury Constent Maturity Ratas with varying
remaining terms; the yield is determined over a time period commensurate with the parformance pariod fram the grani date.

“ The stock price s the tosing price of our commen stock on the valuation date,
Stock Options

Typically, stock options vest and become exercisable at a rate of 25% per year beginning one year after the
date of grant, Howevyer, terms of stock options can vary, and certaln stock options granted on January 10, 2011 vested
on the fifth anniversary of the award, During 2018, 2017, and 2016, no stock options were granted, and we have not
granted stock aptions since 2013. All option grants provide for an option exercise price equal to the closing market
value of the common stock on the date of grant. Options typically explre 7 years after the date of grant,

BB

Stock Option Activity

Welghted.
Woeighted- Average
Number of Avera%a Remaining Aggregate
Shares Exerclse Price  Contractual Jerm  Intrinsic Vallé?
{In millions) er Share {in years)'"! (In milliens)

M Excludes contractual ferms asscciated with glans prior to the 2006 Equity Plan dua to the uncertainty of expiration.

@ aAmount by which the current market price of our common stock on Octobar 31, 2018 exceads the exercisa price.

At October 31, 2018, we had no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option grants, For 2018,
2017, and 2016, the lotal inlrinsic vakee of stock options exercised was $0.6 million, $2,5 mifion, and $3.4 milfion,
respectivaly. in 2018 no stock options vested. in 2047 and 2016, the total grant date fair value of stock options vested
was $0.2 milion and $1.7 millicn, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Years Ended October 31,
2018 2017 2016
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17. INCOME TAXES

Geographic $ources of income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes

Years Ended Qctober 31,
2017

2018 2016

[}
C8TT S

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

Companents of Income Tax Beneflt (Provislon}

Years Ended October 31,
2017

2018 2018

“Stale
_ Foreign

ReconcHiation of the U.S. Statutory Tax Rate to Annual Effective Tax (Benefit) Rate

Years Ended October 31,
2017

+Mondeductibly expansas
Other, net

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), which was enacted on December 22, 2017, provides for a reduction
of the federal corporate Income tax rate from 35% to 21% and a “fransition tax" to be levied on the deemed repatriation
of indefinitely reinvested eamings of International subsidiaries. Since we have an October 31 fiscal yaar-end, the lower
corporate Income tax rate was phased in, resulting in a U.S. statutory federal rate of 23.3% for fiscal 2018 and 21%
for subsequent fiscal years, Other provisions under the Tax Act become effective for us In fiscal 2019, including
limitations on deductibifity of interest and execufive compensation, as well as a newminimum tax on Gloieal Intangliote
Low-Taxed income ("GILTI"),

Buring 2018 we remeasured certain deferred {ax assets and liabiiities based on the new tax rates at which
they are expected fo reverse in the future and recorded a one-time tax benefit of $29.6 million. In addition, we recorded
an expense of $4.5 méliion tor the ane-tima transition tax on the desmed repatriation of indefinitely reinvested eamings
of our International subsidiartes. We plan {o reinvest cur forelgn eamings to fund future non-U.S. growth and expanslon,

S0

and we do not anticipate remitting such eamings o the United States. While U.S. federal tax expense has been
recognized as a result of the Tax Act, no deferred tax Habilities with respect to federal and state income taxes or foreign
withholding taxes have been recognized.

Due fo the complexifles of implementing the provistons of the Tax Act, the staff of the U_S. Securitfes and
Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bullefin 118 (“"SAB 1187}, which provides guidance on accounting for
tax effects of the Tax Act and permits a measurement period not to exceed one year from the enactment date for
companies to complete the required analyses and accounting. As permifted under SAB 118, the adjustments we
recorded due to the Tax Act, including the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and Jlabilities and the transition tax,
were based on reasonable estimates and were considered provislonal during the year. As of Qclober 31, 2018, the
ene-tims impact of ihe change in tax rate on our deferred tax assets and fiabiities is complete. Additionally, we have
completed our assessment of GILT! and have established a policy to account for this tax on a period basis beginhing
in fiscal year 2019, We have also completed our analysis of the cne-time transition tax and recorded the impact.

Our Income taxas for 2018 wera favarably impacted by: a net tax benefit of $23,2 mililan related to the impact
of the Tax Act, including $1.9 million of adjustments that subsequently reduced the amounis discussed above; $5.8
milfion, including Interest of $1.0 million, related to the expiring statutes of Iimitations for uncertain fax positions; $3.4
million of excess tax benefits related to the vesting of share-based compensation awards, and $2.8 million refated to
tax deductions for energy efficient government bulldings. These benefits were partialiy offsst by a $1.0million reduction
in certain tax credits, including prior year Work Opportunity Tax Credits ("WOTC™) for new hires.

Our Income taxes for 2017 were favorably impacted by a benefit of $17.8 million, including interest of §1.2
million, related to expiring statutes of limitations for uncertain tax positions. In addition, in 2017 we also benefited from
$3.6 milfion of excess tax benefits retated to the vesting of share-based compensation awards, $1.9 million of tax
eredits for snergy efficient govemmaent buildings, and the 2047 WOTC.

Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabliiles

As of October 31,
2018 2017

i Slate nat operating loss caryforwards - H
) Federat ret operating loss camryforwards X 189

)
@820)

Total deforred tax liablties {183.4) @914
Net deferrad tax liabliities 5 O T
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Tax Loss Carryforwards and Tax Credits

State tax loss camyforwards totaling $265.0 million at October 31, 2018 are being carried forward in several
state jurisdlctions where we are permiited to use tax fosses from prior periods to reduce future taxable income. These
losses will expire between 2019 and 2038, Federal loss carryforwards totaling $25.7 million at October 31, 2018 are
availabie to reduce future taxable income and will expire in 2037, Federal and state tax credits totaling $24.6 milfion
are available ta reduce future cash taxes and will expire ketwsaan 7021 and 2038,

The valuation affowance represents the amount of tax benefits related to state net operating loss carryforwards
that are not likely to be realized. We believe the remaining net deferred tax assels are more likely than not to be
reslizable based on estimates of future taxable income.

Changes to the Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

Years Ended October 31,
2018 ) 2017 20

Valuaﬂon ‘allowance at end of year $ 12.0 $ 7.7 $ 54

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

At Octaber 31, 2018, 2017, and 2018, there were $35.8 miflion, $50.5 million, and $52,0 million, respactively,
of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized in the future would impact our effective tax rate. We estimate that a
decrease in unrecognized tax benefits of up to approximately $5.6 million is reasonably possible over the next twelve
months due to the resolution of certaln tax matters. At Octaber 31, 2018 and 2017, actrued Interest and penaliles
were $1.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively. For interest and penalties, we recognized a benefit of $1.0 miffion,
$06.5 million, and $0.9 million in 2018, 2017, and 20186, respectively,

Reconcillation of Total Unrecognized Tax Benefits

Years Ended QOctober 31,
{in mitlions) 2018 2017 2018
‘Balance atbeginning: : : ¥ : : B4
Addmons for tax positions related fo the cuirent year ) 0.2 —_ —_
nis relaled 1o prio é
Reductlons for tax posrﬂons reta!ed to prior years

Jurisdictions

We conduct business in all 50 siates, significantly In Calfomia, Texas, and New York, as well as in varlous
foreign jurisdictions. Our most significant income tax jurisdiction Is the United States,

Tax Years Open for Examinatien, by Entity
Entity Opan hy Statuts

ABM federaf iax retums
‘GCAstalelaxretums
GCA federal tax retums

12/31/2015 < 9[/2017

"W ara currently veing examined by the state tax authcrities of Califomis, Fioride, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, and
Nerth Carclina.
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Reinvestment of Foreign Earnings

We plan to reinvest our foreign eamings to fund future non-U.S. growth and expanslon. As a result, we donot
anticipate remitting such eamings to the United States and have not provided for federal and state income taxes or
foreign withholding taxes that may result if such eamings of our forelgn subsidiaries are remiited to the United States.

18, SEGMENT AND GECGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Segment Information

Effective Novernber 1, 2017, we reorganized our reportable segments to reflect the integration of GCA into
our industry group medel. Our reportable segments consist of Business & Industry ("B&F), Aviation, Technology &
Manufacturing {“T&M"}, Education, Technical Solutions, and Healthcars, as further described below, Refer to Note 2,
"Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies,” far information related {o our former Government Services
buginess.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS AND DESCRIPTIONS:

B&d, ourlargest reportable segment, encompasses lanttorlal, faciities englneerlng,
B&l and parking services for commercial real estate properties and sports and

entertainment venues. B&{ also provides vehicle maintenance and ofther services
to rental car providers ("Vehicle Services Contracts”).

Avlation supports airdines and airports with services ranging from parking and

Aviation fanitorial to passenger assistance, catering logistics, alr cabin maintenance, and
fransportation,

T&M cumbines our legacy Industrial & Manufacluring business, which was

TaM prevmusly included in our B3I segment, with our legacy High Tech industry group,

which was previously reported as part of our legacy Emerging Industries (roup.
T&M provrd%s janitorial, facilities engineering, and parking services.

Education dellvers janltorial, custodlal, landscaping and grounds, faclities
engineering, and parking services for pub!c school districts, private schools,
collegas, and universities. This business was previously reported as part of our
legacy Emerging Industries Group.

Education

Technical Sciutions specializes In mechanical and electrical services, These
Technical Solutions services can also be leveraged for cross-selling across all of our industry groups,
both domestically and Internationalfy.

Healthcare offers janitorial, facilities management, clinical englneering, food and
nutrition, aundry and Bnen, parking and guest services, and patient transportation

Healthcare services af traditional hospltals and non-acute fachlties. This business was

previously reparted as part of our lsgacy Emerging Industries Group.

The accounting policies for our segments are the same as those disclosed within our significant accounting
policies in Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Pelicies.” Our management evaluates the
performance of each reportable segment based on s respective operating profit results, which include the allocation
of certain centrally incurred costs, Corporate expenses not allocated o segments include certain CEQ and other
finance and human resource deparimenial expensss, cerdaln informatfon {echnofogy costs, share-based
compensation, certain legal costs and settlements, restructuring and related costs, ceriain adjusiments resulting from
actuarial developments of seff-insurance reserves, and direct acgulsition costs. Mansgement does not review asset
information by segment, therefore we do not present assets in this note,
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Financial Information by Reportable Segment 18, SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA {(UNAUDITED}

Yeoars Ended October 31,
2017

Fiscal Quarter
Second Third Fourth

2018

First

$ 29176 §

‘Avigtion -
Technology & Manufacturing

Technology & Mahfackiring
Education
Ferhnical Solution

"Adjustment for tax deductions for energy efficlent govemment
buildings, Included in Technical Sclutions (2.8) {1.9) {1.2)
] ———t 75 - .
4.2
e - 04y
B6.9 $ £1.9

4 o 8
Income from continuing operations hefore income taxes

Depreciation and amortization'?
‘Business & Industry

$ 056
G

S 056

 Includes a one-lime nat tax benedit of $22.6 millien, or $0,34 per diluted share, refated to the Tax Act,

112.6 % 0.t % 57.5
® Includes goodwill and asset impairmant charges of $26.5 miflion, or $0.40 per difuted share.
@ Excludes amartization related to income frem unconsolidated affillates,
@ includes transaction expanses of $22.0 millien, or $0.38 per diluted share, related o the GCA acquisition.
Geographic Information Based on the Country in Which the Sate Originated”
Years Ended Octobar 31,
fotillions) 2018 2017 2018

$ 6,442.2 %
" substantially all of aur fong-lived assets are related fo United States operations.

o4

54538 §
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ITEM 8, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.
ITEM 8A. CONTROL.S AND PROCEDURES.
a. RIsclosure Controls and Procedures,

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Principal Executive Dfficer and Principal Finantial Officer
evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined In Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded
that as of the end of the period covered by this repent, our disclasure cantrols and procedures were effective to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is {1} recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executlve
Officer and Principal Financial Officer, to alfow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

b. Management’s Report on Internal Contral Over FInanclat Reporting.

Our management is responsible for esiablishing and maintaining adequate internal controf over financlal
reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15{f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, incfuding our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intemnal confrol over financial reporting based upon the framework
in Internal Control — Integrafed Framework {2013) issued by the Gommiitee of Sponsering Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that cur internal control over financlal
reporting was effective as of October 31, 201B.

Audit Report on Intemal Controls over Financial Reporting of the Reglstered Public Accoumting Firm

KPMG LI.P, an independentregistered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements
inciuded in this Annust Report on Form t0-K and, as par! of thelr audi, has issued thelr report, included herein, on
the effectiveness of our intemal control over financlal reporting.

¢. Changes in Internal Control Over Financlal Reporting.

We continue to migrate many of our financial reporting and aofher processes to the ABM enterprise service
center along with integrating GCA. These are enhancements of ongoing activities to support the growth of our financial
shared service capabilities and standardize our financial systems. We also continue to update several key platforms,
including our human resources information systems, enferprise resource planning system, and kkor management
system. Both the migration of GCA's back-office functions to the ABM enterprise service center and the Implementation
of several key platforms involves changes in the systems that include intemai controls, Although the transitions have
proceeded to date without material adverse eflects, the possibility exists that # could adversely affect our intemal
controls over financlal reporting and precedures.

There were o changes in our internal control over financlal reporting during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2018
identified In connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d} and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that has
materiafly affected, or is reasocnably likely o materially affect, our intemnal control over financial reporting.

o6

ITEM 8B. OTHER INFORMATION.
New Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors

On December 18, 2018, each of our directors entered info a new indemnification agreement with: ABM that
replaces the existing indemnificatton agreement for directors, which form agreement had been putin place in September
of 2015,

In general, the director indemnification agreement provides that, subject to the procedures, limitatlons, and
exceptions set forth therein, ABM will indemnify and hold harmlass the applicable director indemnitee against alf
expenses, damages, losses, liabilitles, judgments, fines, penakties, and other charges reiating 1o, arising out of, or
resulting from: (1) any actual, alleged, or suspected act or failure to act by the indemnitee in his or her capacity as a
director, officer, employee, or agent of ABM or as a director, officer, employee, member, manager, frustee, or agent of
any other entity as ta which the indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company; {2} any actual, alleged,
or suspected act or failure fo act by the indemnitee in respect of any business, transaction, communication, filing,
disclosure, or oiher activity of ABM or any other entity referred to in clause (1) of this sentence; or (3) the indemnitee’s
status as a current or former director, officer, employaes, or agent of ABM or as a current or former directar, officer,
employee, member, manager, trust, or agent of ABM cor any other entity referred to In clause (1) of this senfence or
any actual, alleged, or suspected ac! or failure to act by the indemnitee in connection with any obligation or restriction
imposed upon the indemnites by reason of such status.

Each director indemnitee will also have the right to advancement by ABM of any and afl reasonable expenses
relating Yo, arising ouf of, or resulting from any claim covered by the directorindemniftcation agreement paid or incurred
by the indernnites or which the indemnitee determines in good falth are reasonably likely to be paid or incurred,

The foregoing description of the director Indemnification agreement does nof purport to be complete and is
qualified in is entirety by reference to the form director indemnification agresment, which is filed a5 Exhibit 10.9 hersto
and incorporated herein by reference,
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

Information about our executive officers is found in Part [, ftem 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under
“Executive Officers of Registrant.” Additional infonmation required by this item will be set forth under the captiens
"Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors,” "Corporate Governance and Board Matters,” "Audit-Related Matters,” and
*Secilon 168(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Campliance” in our Definitive Proxy Stetement for our 2019 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “2019 Proxy Staternent”). Such information is incorporated herein by reference, Our 2019
Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the concluslon of
our fiscal year enged Oclober 31, 2018,

On March 28, 2018, we filed our Annual CEO Certification as required by Section 303A.12 of the NYSE Listed
Company Manual.

Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted and posted on our website (www.abm.com) the ABM Code of Business Conduct, Our Cade
of Business Conduct qualifies as a *code of ethics” within the maaning of ltem 406 of Regulation 8-K. Our Code of
Business Conduct applies to all of our directors, officers, and employess, Including our Principal Executive Officer,
Principat Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting Officer. if any amendments are made to the Code of Business
Conduct or if any walver, inciuding any Implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct Is granted
to our Principal Executive Officer, Princlpal Financial Officer, or Principal Accounting Officer, we will disclose the nature
of such amendment or waiver on our website at the address specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Information with respect to executive compensation required by this fem will be set forth under the captions
“Diracter Compensation for Fiscal Year 2018," “Executive Compensation,” and “Corporate Govemance and Board
Matters—Compensation Committee Interfocks and Insider Participation™ in our 2019 Proxy Statement and Is
incorporated hereln by reference,

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficlal owners and management and equity
compensation plan Information and related stackholder matters required by this item will be set forth under the captions
“General Information—Security Ownership of Cerfain Bensficial Owners," “General Information—Security Ownership
of Directors and Executive Officers,” and “General Information—Eguity Compensation Plan Infermation” In eur 2018
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND BIRECTCR JNDEPENDENCE.

Information with tespect to certain relationships and related transactions and with respect {o director
Independencs required by this Hem will be set forth under the capflons “General Information—Certain Relationships
and Transactions with Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance and Board Matters” in our 2019 Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

Information with respect to our Audit Committee’s pre-approval policy for audit services and our princlpal
accounting fees and services required by this Item will be sef forth under the caption “Audit-Related Matters” in our
2018 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

{a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
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SIGNATURES EXHIBIT INDEX
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regisirant has .
duly caused this report to be signed on Its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly sutharized. Exhibit Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference
ABM Industries Incorporated No. Form  FlleNo.  Exhibit Filing Date
il 1.1 Underwriting Agreement. dated March 14 8K 00108929 141 March 19, 2018
2018, among ABM industries 1nco§orated.
By: s/ Scott Salmirs oldman Sachs & Co 1.L.C, and UBS
Scoft Salntirs Securities LE.C
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director 21 A t and Plan of M dated J 8K  001-08929 24 July 14, 2047
. reement and Plan er, dated Ju g - R uly 14,
Decamber 21, 2018 71, 2017, amona GCA Holding Corp, ABM
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by ngustne‘skl’ gob %l;a;eg graagg ?#:mggeH
the folfowing persons on behalf of ABM Indusiries and In the capacities and on the dates indicated, a6 Equity Eund Vil LP. and Broad Sireel
%nnc al Investments Holdings, E.P.. acling
By: Js/ Scott Saimirs jeintly as the Secuntyholder Representative
’ Seotl Saumis 341 Restated Ceriificate of Incorporation of ABM 10K 001.08928 3.1 January 14, 2004
. . I T
President and Ghief Executive Officer and Director Jdusiries Incorporeted. dated November 25,
(Principat Execitive Officer) 3.2 Amended and Restated B of ABM B-K 001-08929 3.1 D ber 10, 2018
3 mended an esiale: WS = = . asemoer )
December 21, 2018 |2na1us1ries Incrporated. d bt 4
0.1 10.1 September 8, 2017
X d Vil L.P.
Is/ D. Anthony Scaglione Js/ Dean A. Chin - i : s
D. Anthony Scaglione Dean A. Chin T R by TR
Executive Vice President and Chief Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, S :
) I:‘inam?iai Officer and Corporate Controller Princinal Invesiments Holdings :
(Principal Financial Officer) {Principal Accounting Officen) Sheetr 2010 LD MED SO L5 Sone
December 21, 2018 December 21, 2018 Street 2015, LB, 2015 Employee Olishore
f-\LgCgregator, L.P., and Goldman Sachs & Co.
/si Sudhakar Kesavan Is/ LeighAnne G, Baker o Creds g pt
u: - Al £l
. Sudhakar Kesavan ] LeighAnne G. Baker, Director 102 %?g('t Q!E ;ﬁemn;ndgakegﬁ ?nﬂdfuiteﬂegmbe; 1 8K Col-0892¢ 102 September 8, 2017
Chairman of the Board and Director December 21, 2618 Incorporated, a Delaware corporatian, certain
December 21, 2018 subsidiaries of ABM Industries Incorporated
;rcm gme }u Hme party mergo ihg Ignders
_laiLinds Chaver_ s/ Donald . Coleran_ Anarica NA. s sdninisiraiive agont
inda Chavez, Director ona olleran, Director
! ' " 10.3 Letter Agreement, dated November 6, 2017, 10-K 001-08828 103  December 22, 2017
December 21, 2018 December 21, 2018 between ABM Industries incorporated and
Bank of America, N.A., a8 Swingline Lender
i o s e /e e e
J, Philip Ferguson, Director Anthony G. Femandes, Director noustries corporated. e Desianated
December 21, 2018 Decernber 21, 2018 Borrowers parly thereto, the Lenders party
ereto ang erica, N.A., a8
/sl At A Carcia {5/ Thoras M. Gartland administrative agent
Thomas M. Garlland, Director 10.4 10.4  Sepiember7, 2018

Art A, Garcla, Director
December 21, 2018

/s Laurales E. Martin

Diecemnber 21, 2018

/sl Filippo Passerini

Lauralee E. Martin, Director
December 21, 2018

/s/ Winifred M. Webb
Winifred M. Webb, Director
December 21, 2018
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Fillppo Passerini, Directar
December 21, 2018

Eirst Amendment, dafed as of July 3, 2018, o 10-Q 001-08929
the Credit Agreement dafed September 1,
2017, by and ameng ABM Industries
ncerporated, a Delaware corporation, the
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001-08929

001-08929

601-08929

001-08929

001-08829

001-06829

001-08929
001-08929
001.08229

001-08929

10.2

10.17

161

10.7

10.8
10.1

10.1

10.2

10.16

10.3

10.13

104
10.5
10.20

10.5

September 7, 2018

January 14, 2005

September 8, 2006

December 23, 2010

September 8, 2008
March 8, 2018

Recember 12, 203

June 3, 2015

BDecember 18, 2013

June 3, 2015

December 23, 2010

June 4, 2016
June 4, 2010
December 18, 2043

January 16, 2015

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*
10.25*
10.26%
10.27*
10.28*

10.28*

10.30%

10.31*

10.32*

10,33*

10.34*

10,35%

10.36*

1037

10.38*

10.39%

Executive Stock Opticn Plan (aka Age-

Vested Career Stock Opfion Pian), as
amended and restated June 4, 2012

Beferred Compensation Plan for Execulives

amended and restated October 25, 2010

Eorm of Stock OF_ﬁon Agresment dated

March 31 0 for Awards to Certain
xecutivg Difcers

Supplementat Executive Retirament Plan, as

amended and restated June 3, 2008
Service Award Benefit Plan, as amented and

restated June 3, 2008

Executive Severance Pay Policy, as
amended and restated Mal

Ferm of Execufive Emg!om ert Agree;g“ !t
Gt ferm)

Form of Executive Employment Agreement
{without term}

Fomm of Amended and Restated Execuiive

Change In Control Agreemment with James P.
McCiure

Form of Amendsd Executive Employment
Agresment with James P. McClure

Amended and Restated Executive
Employment Agreement, dated as of
September 22, 2017, by and befween ABM
Indusfries incorporated and Scott Salmirs
Amended and Restated Change in Control

Agreement, Jated as of Septemiber 22, 7017,

by and between ABM Industries Incorporated
and Scoft Salmirs

Amendad Execufive Employment Agreement,
dated as of January 13, 2015, by and
bafwaen ABM Industries Incorporated and
Jemeas P. McClure

Beﬁre?ent and Release Agreement, dated
as of September 1, 2017, by and between
ABV Ingdustries Incorporaled and James P.
McClure

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as
of November 1, 2017, by and bafween ABM

ndustries Incorporated and Scoft Glacobbe

GChange in Control Agreement, dated as of
ovember 1, 2017, by and between ABM
In ]

destries incorperated and Scott Glacobbe

Amended and Restated Executive
ent Agreement, daied as of
eptembe: 0 d belween AGM

Indusiries Incorporated and D). Anthony
caglione

Amended and Resfated Change in Confrol
resment, dated as of September 22, 2017

y and batwaen ABM Industries incorporated
and U, Antirony Scagllone

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as

of January 1, 2018, by and between ABM
Industries Incorporated and Rene Jacobsen
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001-08528
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10.22

103

10.4
10,5
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101
10.34

10.1

104

10.28

10.28

10.2

10.32

10.1

10.2

10.33

10.34

10.3

September 6, 2012

December 23, 2010

Aprit 2, 2010

September 8, 2008
September 8, 2008
March 10, 2011
October 22, 2014
December 20, 2012

December 34, 2008

January 16, 2015

Daecember 22, 2017

December 22, 2017

March 4, 2015

December 22, 2017

March 7, 2018

March 7, 2018

Decernber 22, 2017

December 22, 2017

March 7, 2018



0.40% Change in Conirol Agreement, dated as of #0-0) 00108829 104 March 7, 2018
January 1. 2018, by and b en ABM

Industries Incorporated and Hene Jacobsen
211t Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23.14% Consent of Independent Reqlstered Public
Accounting Firm
31.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer

piirsuant to Secyritics Exchange Act of 1934
E e iaa—i4§a”i as a% opted
plrstant to Seclion 302 of the Sarhanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer
rsuant to Securities Exchange Act of 1834

Ul
Rule 133-1%53] or 15d-14{a), as adopted
ursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
%xlax Act of 2002

32.1¢ Certifications pursuant to Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14(b) or

15d-14{b} and 18 U.5.C. Sectian 1350, as
adopted pursuant io Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxfey Act of 2002

104.INSF  XBRI. Report Instance Document

101.5CH+ XBRI. Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

101.CALT  XBRL Taxonomy Calculafion Linkbase
Document

101.LAB 1 XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Decument
101.PRE 1 XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF £ XBRL Taxonorny Extension Definition
Linkkrase Docurment

* Indicates managermnent contract or compensatory plan, contract, or arrangemant
4 Indicates filed herewith
T Indicates fumished herewith

104

ABM INDUSTRIES INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE H--=VALLUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance Charges to Write-offs'®y
Beginning of Costs and Allowance Balance
{in midlioms} Year Expenses Taken End of Year

ceivable and sales allowances

“'Write-offs are nat of recoveries.

® Includes amounts that were classified as held for safe,

105




ABM Industries Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure {Unaudited)

) .YaérS_Eq@fadﬂctnbaFBI, o

{inmillions, except per share amounts)

Reconciliation of Income from Continuing Operations per Diluted Share to -
Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations per Diluted Share

Income from continutng ope.ratlnns per diluted share - -

Items impacting comparabifity, net of taxas*

Adjusted Incoma from continuing operatians per diluted share
Diluted shares '

This page intentionally left biank,

*Please refer ta the Company's Faurth (harter and Full Year 2018 Financial Resultspress release for a full list of items Impacting Comparabifity.
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SUBCONTRACTORS LIST

The bidderis reqtiired to state, in detail, in the space provided below, the name, address, experience-and

the work to be performed by subcontractors in this Contract, including approximate percentage of the

Gontract cost by subcontractar, If rio subcontractors are to bie used, so state,

Note; The bidder shall perform within its own arganization, work amounting: to not less than fifty
percent (50%) of the total Contract cost.

N/A

25 of 36



e

r——

o

In lieu of this form, we have included a Certificate of Incumbency authorizing Brian Planicka to
acto on behalf of ABM Industry Groups, LLC.

CORPORATE AFFIDAVIT

To be filled in'and executed if tha contractor is-a corporation.

State of :
Colinty of ; S8
, beirig first duly sworil, déposes and says that he or she is

Secretary of = : '
a corporation organized and existing. under and by virtue of the laws of the state of ;
and having'its:principal office at {Address),

_ (City),. (County),

(State).

Affiant furthier says hé.or she is familiar with the records, minutes, books and by-laws of the _
{Name of Corporation),

Affiantfurther says that (Name of Officer),

(Title) of the Corporation is duly authorized to sign:the

Coniract for.the (Contract)

for said Cerporation "by virtue of
(state whether a provision of by-laws or a resolution of the Board of Directors),

{if by reselution, give date of adoption).

‘Signature

Sworn to and subscribed in my presence this day of , 20

‘Notary Publit

My Commission Expires:

Seal:

26.6f36



ABM INDUSTRY GROUPS, LLC

CERTIFICATE OF INCUMBENCY

I, MARK THOMPSON, hereby certify that | am the duly elected and acting Assistant
Secretary of ABM Industry Groups, LLC (the "Company”), a limited liability company duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and | further cetify the following:

BRIAN PLANICKA Is a duly appointed and incumbent Senior Branch Manager of the
Company, and is authorized to act in that capacity on behalf of the Company.

| FURTHER CERTIFY that In his capacity of Senior Branch Manager, Mr. Planicka is
authorized and empowered on behalf of the Company to execute on behalf of the Company,
confracts, bonds and any other documents pertaining to agreements between the Company and

the City of Gahanna, Ohio, pertaining to services to be provided by the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, | have hereunto set my signature and corporate seal on this

/01'“' day of November, 2019,

Wiy, -
...;.i“\“m’;‘..a.."'; ';:f:'w,
F T O,
g o, MARK THOMPSON

Assistant Secretary
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CONTRACTOR'S PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX AFFIDAVIT
(O.R.C § 5719.042)

State of @\A\\ &

Gounty of Fraakeiing L ss

Brian Planicka .. Affiant, being first duly sworn, ‘déposes-and says:
1. 1am the Senior Branch Manager (Title) of ABM Industry Groups, LLC _ (¢ontractor).
2. The Contractor’s offices are located at 1817 O'Brien Road, Columbus, OH 43228

3. 1amrthe Confractor's duly authorized representative for making this affidavit.
4, Effectiva this_12th day of November ,2019___, the Contractar:

{ _?_(_} is ot chiarged with délinquént personal property-taxes on'the général list of personal
property ih ary Ohia county.

(..} is charged with delinquent personal property takes ofi the géneral list of personal property
as set forth below:

Amount
(include total amount, with
County penalties and interest theredn)
Courty $
County )
county $.
County $

S

i 2z
Affiant Signatire

g / (
Sworrtd and subsctibed in my presence this [ g% ;day of A’ '“ () Uéf ﬂj%{ 220 / éi .

% . COURTNEYL BUSH
My Commission Expie July 25, 2022

[Thet ¥ Z7of 36



o snle

o NONCOLLUSION AFFIDAVIT
State.of O W .
Courty of ~ /b Y4 58
Brian Planicka ; Contractor, being first duly sworn; depases and says that he
or she js _Senior Branch Manager (sole owner, a partner, president, secretary, etc) of
ABM Industry Groups, LLC {company name), the party thaking the foregolivg bid; that

such bid Is not made in the interest: of ar: on behaif of.any undisclosed person, paitnership; company,
association, ordanization, ‘or carporation; that-such bid'is genuing.and.not collusive or shan; thatsaid
bidder hias nat direcily orindirectly induced or solitited any other bidder to put ina.false or sham bid,.
and- has not directly orindirectly calluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with any bidder of anyone else
to put In a sham bid, or that.any-one shall refrain from bidding; that said bidder hasnot-in. 2Ny manner,
diréctly or itidiréctly; sought by dgréement, communication or-conferénce with anyohe to fix any
overhead, proflt ar cost element of such bid price, or of that of any other bidder; or to-secyre any
adVantage against the Swner awardgng the Contract to anyone interested.in the proposed Contract; that:
all staterents cantaified:n-such Bid. are true; and further, that said bidder has not, directly or indirectly,
submitted its bid price ar any breakdown thereof, or the contents.thereo, of.divy lged information or data
rélative theveto, or paid and, will not pay ahy fee in éohnection therewith, to any-corporation, partnership,
company, association, organization; bid depdsitory; or to ary membet.or agent thereof; or-to-ahy other
individual except to such person or persons as have.a partnership or other ﬂnanc;ai interest with said
bidder if'its grners

. L
Stgrature
Sworn o and.subiscribed in miy. presénce this ; 4 day of f Jd U@%ém

[ Wth@?(ﬁmoﬂ_

Notary Public

e,
\n\‘a_‘ RlAL ”0;

st U

COURTNEY L, BUSH
Kotary Public, State of Ohio
3 My Commission Expires July 25, 2022

-
224 804 0F
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ESCROW WAIVER

ABM Industry Groups, LLC {Contracter), agrees fo ablde by City of Gahanna Ordinanice
Nao. 0077-2017. Pursuant to such ‘drdinance and the City's. Forme rule authority, Gontractor waives the
raquirements of Sections 153:13, 153.14 and 153,63 of the-Ohio Revised Code that an escrow account be
estabfﬂshed re]atmg tathe &mtract and that interest be paid on retainage.

natu re

Sworn ta.and subseribed In my presentce this jd day of /L(, %%VK&M . 20, f .

E"T/U“f/wﬁ{ Mg

Notary Public
‘a\‘““"m'#m

lA 8 5s,,

X% GOURTNEYL BUSH

e
2]

%5 Hotary Publlc, State of Chlo
* § tay Commission Expites July 25, 2022
] : O ‘§?
"A:ig" L F” (_:%@@éﬁ
e sea i t

ot



RID GUARANTY AND CONTRACT BOND
(OR.C §.153.571)

Know alt persons by these-presents, that we, the.undersigned ABM INDUSTRY GROUPS, LLC (Contractor)
as principal and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA (Surety Company). as surety are
hereby held and firmfy-bound unto the City of Gahanna, as oblige in the penal sum of the dollar arnount
of the'bid submitted by the principal to the obligee on. November 15 ;2019 to
uhdertaké the Janitorial Services for Municipal Buildings {Contract).
The penal sum referred to hergin shall' be the dollar amount of the principdl's bid to the obligeé,
ancorporatlng any-additive or deductive alternates made by the principal on-the date.referred to above to
the abligee, which -are accepted.by the obligee. In ng case. shall the perfal sum exceed the amount of

' ‘dollats (% .
(If the for eqaing blank is not filled in, the penal sum will be the full amount of the principals bid,
including add alternates. Alternatively; if the Blanlis fillad in the amount stated mustnot be less than the
full amount of the:bid including ddd alternates in dollars-and cents. A percentage is-not acceptable.) For
the.payment of the penal sum well and truly fo be made, we hereby jointly.and severally bind ourselves,
our heirs, executors,.administrators, sucgessors, and assigns.

Si’gned'thfs 11th day of November ,20_19

The condition of the above obligations is such that whereas the.above named principal has.submitted a
bid for work ori the Contract,

Now, therefore, if the-obligee accepts the'bid of the- prtnc:pal and the, principal. fails to enter into a praper
contract in accordanice with the bid, plans, detalls, specifications. and "bills of mateiial; and in the event the.
principal pays td thie obllgee the difference notto exceed ten percent (10%).of the penalty hereof
between the amiount specified in the bid and such lafger amount for which the obligee may in good faith
contract with the- nextlowest bldder to perform the work covered by the bid; orin.the event the obligee
does riotaward-the contract to the next lowest bidder and resubimits the contract for bidding, the
principal pays to the obligee the differencé not-to-éxceed tenpercent (10%) of the pehalty hereof
between the amount specified i in. the bid, orthe costs, in cnnnectlon w1th the resubmission, of- printing
new contraét documents, required ‘advertnsmg, and printirig dnd. mailing riotices to prospective:biddets,
whichever is less, theh this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise to remain in‘full force and-effect; if
the obligee accepts the bid ofthe principal and.the principal within- ten- (10) days after the awarding of the
contract enters into'a proper-contract ini accofdance with thie bid, plans, details, specifications and bilts of
matefial, which said ¢onfract is;madé a partof this bond the same as though set forth herein.

Naw also,'if the said principal shall-well-and: faithfully do’ and petform the things agreed by said principal
to be done and performed accotding to the terms of said contract; and shall pay all lawful claims of.
subcontractors, materialmen, and laborers, for Iabor perfarmed and rnatenais furnished in the carrying
forward, performing,-or completing of séid-contrict; we agreeing and assenting that this undertaking shall
be for the behefit of any materialman aor laborerhaving a just ctaim, aswell as fof the obligee herein; then
this obligation shall be void; otherw1se the same-shall remain:in full force and effect;'and surety shail.
indemnify the obligee againstall dafriage suffered by failure of the brincipal to perform the contract
according to fts provisions and in accordance with thie plans, details, specifications and bills of material
therefor and torpay all lawful claims of subcontractors, mnaterialmen, and laborers for labor performed or
material furnished in"carrying forward, performing, or tompleting the conitract and surety further agrees
arid assents that this undertaking is forthe benefit of any subcontractor, matefialinan, of laborer having a:
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just claim, -as welt as for the obligee; it being expressly understood and agreed that the liability of the
surety for any and all claims hereunder shall in no event exceed the pénal amount of this obligation as,
hereir stated.

The said surety hereby stipulates and agrees that no miodifications, ‘omissions, or additions i in or to the
terms of the:said coritract or in or to the plans or specifications therefore shall in any wiseaffect the
obligations of said surety-on its bond, and does hereby waive-notice of any such modifications, omissions
or additions to the-terms of the contract or to the wark.or ta the gpecifications.

'Ségned and sealed this _11th_ day of November , 2019

ABM INDUSTRY GROUES-ELC

Principal é\-\

Sigrature

Lu Ann Brinkley, Divector Insurance Services

Pririted Name and Title

.
TRAVELERS’CASUA}‘TY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA

U Ao

~Slgnature

Donna Garcia, Attornev-In-Fact
Printed Name-and Title

One Tower Square, Bond/5PB, Hartford, CT 06183

Surety's Address.

(925) 945-4121 (925) 945-4423
Suretty’s Telephone Number Surety's Fax Number

Aon Risk Insurance Services West, Inc.

Surety's Agent

707 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 2600, Los Angeles, CA 90017

Surety Agent's Address
{213) 630-3200 . N/A
Surety Agent’s Teléphaone Number Surety Agent's Fax:Numbet
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PLEASE ATTACH THE FOLLOWING TO THIS SHEET:
1. Povrer of Attorney
2. Certificate of Compliance for Ohio’

3. Swrety Financial Statement,
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Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company

TRAVE LE R SJ St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casuaity and Surety Company, and St.
Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company are corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut (herein collectively called the
"Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint Donna Garcia of LOS ANGELES ,
California , their true and lawful Afterney-in-Fact to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge any and all bonds, recognizances,
conditional undertakings and ofher writings obligatory in the nature thereof on behalf of the Companies in their business of guaranteeing the
fidelity of persons, guaranteeing the performance of contracts and executing or guaranteeing bonds and undertakings required or permitted in any
actions or proceedings allowed by law. .

N WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed, and their corporate seals to be hereto affixed, this 17th day of January,
2019,

State of Connecticut '_-ﬂ o

oy

obert L.

By: 7
City of Hartford ss. R

RaneyrSenior Vice President

On this the 17th day of January, 2019, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowtedged himself to be the Senior Vice President
of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St. Paut Fire and Marine Insurance Company, and
that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing on behaif of said
Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer.

P _

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | hereunto set my hand and official seal. /@\gp %‘\ E ; . J
OTARY ) %

My Commissicn expires the 30th day of June, 2021 ’w ﬂdﬂo af /

g
r’uwy ™ Anna P, Nowik, Notary Public

Ty

This Power of Attorney is granted under and by the authority of the following reselutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of Travelers Casualty and
Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, which resolutions are now it full
force and effect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any
Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may appoint Attorneys-in-Fact and
Agents to act for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee such authorily as his or her cerfificate of autherity may prescribe to sign
with the Company's name and seal with the Company's seal bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the naturs ofa
bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of sald officers or the Board of Directors at any time may remove any such appointee and reveke
the power given him or her; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice
President may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authority to one or mare officers or employees of this Company, provided that each such
delegation is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary; and itis

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnity, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditicnal
undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (&) signed by the President, any Vice Chalrman, any Executive Vice President, any
Senior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice Presidert, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any
Assistant Secrefary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary; or (b) duly executed (under seal, if
required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant o the power prescribed in his or her certificate or their certificates of authority or by one
or more Company officers pursuant to a written delegation of authority; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following officers: President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice
President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any Power of
Attorney or 1o any certificate relating thereto appointing Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretaries or Attorneys-in-Fact for purposes only of
executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power of Attorney or certificate bearing
such facsimile signature or facsimile seal shall be valid and binding upon the Cempany and any such power so executed and certified by such facsimile
signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in the future with respect to any bond or understanding to which it is attached.

I, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casually and Surety
Company, and St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, do hereby certify that the above and foregaing Is a true and comect copy of the Power of
Aftorney executed by said Cempanies, which remains lrhi | force and effect.

11

Dated this

f o & [flepo

Z'Kevin E. Hughes, AssiStant Secretary

To verify the authenticity of this Power of Attorney, please call us at 1-800-421-3880.
Please refer to the above-named Attorney-in-Fact and the details of the bond to which this Power of Attorney is attached.



A Notary Public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the
individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness,

accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California

County of Los Angeles

On NoV L1 2018 before me, Tracy Aston, Notary Public, personally appeared

Donna Garcia who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the personés}
whose namefs} is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacityfes), and that by-his/her/their
signature¢s} on the instrument the personés), or the entity upon behalf of which the persons)
acted, executed the instrument,

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the
State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

TRACYASTON
Notary Public - California
Los Angetes County

Commission # 2285552 ﬁ WITNESS my hand and official seal.

i My Comm. Expires May 15, 202
/ /s J
A J

Signafure of Notary Public

z
=z
>

Signature




Office of Risk Assessment Ohio Department of Insurance
50 West Town Street

Third Floor - Sulte 300 Mike DeWine - Governor
Columbus,Ohio 43215 i -

(614)644-2658 Jillian Froment - Director
Fax(614)644-9250 Certificate of Compliance

www.insurance.ohlo.gov
w
Issued 03/04/2019

Effective 04/02/2019
Expires 04/01/2020

I, Jillian Froment, hereby certify that T am the Director of Insurance in the State of Ohio and have supervision of
insurance business in said State and as such Ihereby certify that

TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA

of Connecticut is duly organized under the laws of this State and is authorized to transact the business of insurance
under the following section(s) of the Ohio Revised Code:

Section 3929.01 (A)

Accident & Health Multiple Peril - Farmowners
Aircraft Multiple Peril - Homeowners
Allied Lines Ocean Marine

Boiler & Machinery Other Liability

Burglary & Theft Private Passenger Auto - Liability
Commercial Auto - Liability Private Passenger Auto - No Fault
Commercial Auto - No Fault Private Passenger Auto - Physical Damage
Commercial Auto - Physical Damage Surety

Credit Workers Compensation
Earthquake

Fidelity

Financial Guaranty

Fire

(Glass

Inland Marine

Medical Malpractice

Multiple Peril - Commercial

TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AM ERICA certified in its annual statement to this
Department as of December 31,2018 that it has admitted assets in the amount of $4,256,347,432, liabilities in the
amount of $2,145,120,255, and surplus of at least $2,111,227,178.

[N WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and caused my seal to be affixed at Columbus, Ohio,
this day and date.

S i

Jillian Froment Director

T —— T ———— T
T ———————— A ——

INS7230{Rev.6/2003) Accredited by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners {NAIC)




TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA
HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT 08183
FINANGIAL STATEMENT AS OF DEGEMBER 31, 2018

CAPITAL BTOCK % 6,460,000
RSSETT ) R
CABH AND INVESTED CASH $ 35726508 UNEARNED PREMIUMS $  B70,007,378
BONDS 3,607,432,230 LOSSES 750,095,504
STOUKS 294,199,508 LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXFENSES 166,873,871
INVESTMENT INCOME DUE AND AGCRUED 28,207,128 COMMISBIONS 45,868,584
OTHER INVESTED ASSETS 3,607,838 TAXES, LICENSES AND FEES 414,584,863
PREMIUM BALANGES 250,476,702 OTHER EXPENSES 43.856,534
NET DEFERRED TAX ABSET . 48,781,239 CURRENT FEDERAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAXES 10,143,037
REINSURANCE RECOVERABLE 29,276,785 REMITTANCES AND ITEMS NOT ALLOCATED 24,277,153
SECURITIES LENDING REINVESTED COLLATERAL ASGETS 14,277,262 AMOUNTS WITHHELD / RETAINED BY COMPANY FOR OTHERS 30,280,853
RECEIVABLES FROM PARENT, SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES 27,813,268 RETROACTIVE REINSURANCE RESERVE ASSUMED 840,380
ASSUMED RENSURANCE RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE 628,438 POLICYHOLDER DIVIDENDS 10,410,765
OTHER ASSETS 4,838,229 PROVISION FOR REINSURANCE 7,641,356
ADVANCE PREMIUM 1,608,777
REINSURANGE PAYABLE ON PAID LOSSES & LOSS ADJ. EXPENSES 868,002
PAYABLE FOR SECURITIES LENDING 14,217,262
CEDED REINSURANGE NET PREMIUMS PAYASLE 46,465,978
OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES AND LIABILITIES 435,480
TOTAL LIABILITIES
CAPITAL STOCK ' 3 5480,000
FAID IN SURPLUS 433,803,760
DTHER SURPLUS 1,670,843,418
TOTAL SURPLUS TO POLICYHOLDERS :dﬂ_?.‘@,__"ltf;
TOTAL ASSETS LT TOTAL LIABILTIES & SURPLUS AT,
SYATE OF CONNECTICUT )
GOUNTY OF HARTFORD )88,
GITY OF HARTFORD 3

MICHAEL J. DOODY, BEING DULY SWORN, SAYS THAT HE 18 SEGOND VIGE PRESIDENT, OF TRAVELERS CABUALTY AND SURETY GOMPANY OF AMERICA,
AND THAT TO THE BEST OF HIS KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF, THE FOREGOING 18 A TRUE AND CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OF SAID
GOMPANY AS OF THE 3187 DAY OF DECEMBER, 2018.

<Y o czZ/) Fierteg”

VIEEBPRESIDENT, FINANCE v g
S il cade g SR At
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS : TAR BN e pan—y
28TH DAY OF MARCH, 2018
SUSAN M. WEISSLEDER
Notary Public

My Commission Expires November 30, 2022

O ™ o
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'BIDDER. CERTIFICATION

Having earefully reviewéd the Information and Requirements for Bidders; Supplementai Specifications and
other Contract Documents for the Contract including having also received, read.and takeh into accourit
any/ Adderida. arid. likewise: having inspetted the site and the conditions affecting and governing the
Contract, the uhdetsigned heareby propbses ta furiish all materials dnd to parform all labbr, as specified
ang described in the said:Spedificafions for all work necessary to complete the Cantract in dccordance
with the Contract Documents regardless of whether expressly provided for in such Specifications.

Before cqmpletlng the Bl Form,the undersigned représents that it has carefully reviewed the Notice to
Bidders, Information and Requiremients for Bidders; Supplamental Spedfications, Prevaifing ‘Wage Rates (if
applicable), Bid Guafarity. and Contract Bond, this Bidder Certificatioi, Bid Form and-all othier Contract
Documents, The unit prices shown i in the Bid Form; togethef‘ with guantities shown shall detérmine the
total amount of the bid; Jf there is an error made, unit prices shown shall govern. The City reserves the
right to waive ahy irregularities of thé bidding prodess, and-to'make any mathematical-¢orrections ds
required. T there is an inconsistency ar conflict in the bid ameunt, the lowest amount shall-control,
whether expressed tn numbers:or words.. Failure to comp!y with provisians af‘the Contract Documents
may be cause for disqualification of the bid.

If the undersigned is.notified of bid acceptance,.it agrees to_'furnish'requ"lred bonds as Indicated inthe
Information and Réquirérents for Bidders and agrées to exécute'the Owner-Contracter Agreement and
to furnish-all-equipment, labor.and materials to complete.the said work as required by the Contract

Documents. If the undersigned shall fail to fumish required bonds as indicated'in the Infofmation and

Requirefrients for Bidders, thén the Owner, in itd sole discretion, may déterrmine that thie undersigned had
abandoned the Cantract-and thereupon its bid shall be nuil and void and the bend accompanying its bid
shall be forféited to-and become the property-of the Owner, otherivise the bond acchmpanying its bid
§Hall be returned tixthe undersigried on demarid:

The bidder hereby acknowledges. that the follpwing representations in this bid are material and nat mere

ra¢italss

{a) The bidder-acknow|edges that this is a public Contract involving public funds and that the Owner
expects and requires that each successful bidder adhere to the highest ethical ahd performance
standards. The bidder by submitfing a bid pledges and agrees that (a) it will act at afl times with absalite
integiity and truthfiilngss inits dealings with-the Owner, by it will use its Best.efforts to coope.frata with
the Ownerand at all times will act with proféssionialismand dignity in its.dealings with the Owniy, (c) it
will-assign only competent supervisors and warkers to the Contract, each of whom is fully gualified fo
perform the tasks that-are assigned to him or her, and {d) it has read, understands and will comply with
thie terms of the Confract Docuraents.

{b) The bidder'represehts that it has had a competent person carefully and diligently review each part of
the Confract Dacuments, including the-divisions of the Supplemearital Spetificatiofis that aranot dir’etﬂy
applicable ta:the work on which the bidder. fs submitting its bid. By submitting. its bid, the bidder

représents and agrees, based upon Its careful and diligent review of the Contract Bocuments, that itis not

awafe of eny conflicts, inconsistencies, errors or omissions in the Cohtract Documents-for which it has.not:
notified the Qwner in writing at least five {5) business days prior to the bid opening. ifthere are ary such
conflicts, inconsistencies, errors or omissibns in the Contract Documents, the bidder (3) will provide the

labor, €4uipment-or materials of the better quality or greater quantity of work:and/or (b) will comply with
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the more siringent requirements. The bidder will not be entitled to any additional compensation for any
tonflicts, incorisistencies, errors or omissions that would have 'beein discovered by.such careful and
diligent review, Linless it has given prior writfen notice-to'the Qwneér.

{c} The bidder refiresents that'is has had 2 competent person caréful!y and ditigently inspect and examine
the enitire site for the Contract and the strfduhding; drea, including sl parts of the site applicable to the.
work for which ft.is submiitting its-bid, including location, rendition-and layout of:the site, and carefully
correlate the results of the inspection with the-requirements of the Contract Documents. The bidder
agrees that'its bid shall include. all costs.attributable to site.and surrounding area conditions that wotild.
have been discovered by such careful and diligent inspection and examination.of the site-and the
surroundingy aréa, and the bidder shall not be entitled to any change order, additional compensation or
additional time on-account of such conditicris that could not have been discovered by such an
investigation,

(d) The biddet reéprésents that the bid contains the riame of every person interested therein and'is based
upon the standards specified by the Contract Documents.

{e} The bidder and each person signing on behalf of the-bidder certifiés, andin'the case-of a bid by joint’
venture, each member thereof certifies as te-such member's entity, under penalty of pegjury, that to the
best of the undersigned's knowladge and belief: (a) the base-bid, any unit prices, lump sum items and any
aiternate bids in-the bid have been arrived. at indefiendently withaut collusidn, cohsultatioh,

‘commpnication or-agreetent, gr for the purpose of restricting competition as.to any matterrelating to

such base bid, ahy unit firices, Fump sum iteinis or afterhate bids with any ether bidder; (by unlass
othefwise required by law, the base bid, any unit'prices, ltmp sum itemns or alterriate Bids in the bid have
not been knowingly disclosed by 'khe.biddgr*and will not kniowingly be disdlosed by the bidder prior to the
bid ‘apening, direttly or indirectly, to any other bidder who wbuld have any interest in the base-bid, any
unif prites, [ump sum ftemns of alternate bids; {¢} no-attémpt has baén made orwill be madé by the bidder

to.induce any other persan to submit or not fo submita bid for the purpose, of restiieting competition;.

and (d) the statements made-in this Bidder Certification are true and correct.

{f} The hidder will execyte-the form af Owner-Contractor Agreement, if the Contract is awarded on the

basis of this bid, and i the bidder does not executerthe Contract form for any reason, other than as

authorized iy faw, the hidder and the bidder's Sufety are lisble to the Qwner,

{g) The bidder certifies that upon the award of the Contract, the Contractor will énsure that alf of the
Contractar's'employess, while working‘on the Contract site, will nét purchase, transfar, use or posséss

illegal drugs or alcahol or apuse prescription drugs-in anyway.

(h) The bidder agrees to furnish any itifofmation requested by the Oiimer ar thé Owner's authorized
representative to evaluate that the bidder is the best bidder and-that the bid is responsive tothe
specifications;

() The-bidder cerfifies that it has no unresolved findings for recovery issued by the Auditor of State.

()) The'bidder certifies that it s aware of ahd'in cornpliante with the requirements of Ohio Revised Codé
Section 3517.13 regarding carapaign cantributions.
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR SIGNING. The person sigring for-a sele propriétarship must be the sole proprietor
or his orhae authorized représentative. The name of the sole proprietor must be shown below, The
persoh signing for a partnership. must bé a parther or his or heratthorized répreséntative: The persont
signing for:a corporation must be the president, vice president or other authotized representative; of he
or she must show authority, by affidavit, to bind the corporation. The person signing for some other Eegai
entity must stiow his. st her- -authority; by affidavit, to'bind the legal entity:

ABM Industry Groups, LLC
Legal Name-of Biddér

Bidder is {check ene): [ sole proprietor [T partnership, B corporation [ other legal entity

Brian Planicka, Senior Branch Manager
Name-arid Titlé of Persor Legally Authorized to Birid Bidder to & Cohtract

1817 O'Brien Road, Columbus, OH 43228

Address
(614) 756-1524 (866) 220-5492 95-2495556
Telephone Number . Fax Number Federal TaxID: Number-
- /
/S / 5 -G
Signatuire Date

When ‘the Bidder is a'pa'rtner'ship of a joinfventuie, state narme and ‘address of each partrierin the
partnership or participarit in the joint ventire beélow:

Name,and Address,

Name and Address

Narhe and Address’

Name and Address
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BID FORM

Include the cost-af all labor and material for the bid itenis listed below. Bidder is fofill i all blanks-related
fo the bid iterns for which a bid is:being submitted. Hthere is a difference between the total bid-amount
and the total of the individual amounts for labor and materials stated under a bid item, the total of the
individual amounts. shall bie the amountdéemed to bé inserted in the blank for the totat labor dhd
materials for:each bid jtem. ¥-there is an jnconsistency or conflict in the bid amourit, the lowest-amount
shall-contrgl, whether expressed in numbers of words.

For items the City designates as alternate,.enter a negative value if it is to be deducted from the Base Bid.
Otherwise the itern(s) will be included as an-addition to.the' basé.bid. If epting-out of bidding an.alternate
item, insert the words “"Na Bid"..

REF# ITTEM# DESCRIPTION  QIY UNIT UNIT PRICE BID PRICE
1 1 City Hail 12 Months § 3,465.20 $ 41,582.40
2 2 Palice Station 12 Months. $ 1,273.46 ¢15,281.52
3 3 Serior-Center: 12 Months § 454.81 $ 5.457.72
4 4 ?:r':‘;:“c": :‘;ex 22 Menths ¢ 160.70 § 1,928.40
5 5 Fleet Garage 12 Morths § _142.93 £1,715.16

BID TOTAL (SUM OF LINES 1-5): $ 65,965.20
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